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Key Figures

USD ’000  2007 2006 Change
	 	 	
Balance Sheet Data   
Total	Assets	 	 454,046	 352,008	 29%
Gross	Loan	Portfolio	 389,181	 298,807	 30%
	 	 Business	Loan	Portfolio	 357,169	 274,582	 30%
	 	 	 USD	<	10,000	 129,120	 118,315	 9%		
	 	 	 USD	>	10,000	<	50,000	 102,472	 80,148	 28%
	 	 	 USD	>	50,000	<	150,000	 73,872	 47,906	 54%		
	 	 	 USD	>	150,000	 51,705	 28,213	 83%
	 	 Agricultural	Loan	Portfolio	 4,143	 2,823	 47%
	 	 Housing	Improvement	Loan	Portfolio	 17,809	 15,448	 15%
	 	 Other	 10,060	 5,954	 69%
Allowance	for	Impairment	on	Loans																																																								 9,870	 8,015	 23%
Net	Loan	Portfolio	 379,311	 290,792	 30%
Liabilities	to	Customers	 220,587	 155,671	 42%
Liabilities	to	Banks	and	Financial	Institutions	 	84,439	 64,392	 31%
Liabilities	to	ProCredit	Holding	AG	 51,171	 26,478	 93%
Shareholders’	Equity																																																																																	 39,373	 40,318	 -2%	 

Income Statement      
Operating	Income	 42,622	 31,869	 34%
Operating	Expenses	 37,864	 25,268	 50%
Operating	Profit	Before	Tax	 4,758	 6,601	 -28%
Net	Profit	 	 3,041	 4,609	 -34%
 
Key Ratios      
Cost/Income	Ratio	 82%	 70%	
ROE*	 	 	 7.63%	 15.07%	
Capital	Ratio		 16.9%	 16.2%	 	

Operational Statistics      
Number	of	Loans	Outstanding	 52,894	 49,270	 7%
Number	of	Loans	Disbursed	within	the	Year	 40,658	 47,802	 -15%
Number	of	Business	and	Agricultural	Loans	Outstanding	 43,406	 41,304	 5%
Number	of	Deposit	Accounts	 100,682	 81,985	 23%
Number	of	Staff	 1,804	 1,495	 21%
Number	of	Branches	and	Outlets	 64	 52	 23%

*	 The	ROE	figure	for	2006	differs	from	that	shown	in	last		
	 year’s	annual	report	because	the	method	of	calculating		
	 this	indicator	has	been	modified.
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Mission StatementMission Statement

ProCredit Bank Ukraine is a development-oriented full-service bank. We offer excellent 

customer service and a wide range of banking products. In our credit operations, we  

focus on lending to very small, small and medium-sized enterprises, as we are convinced 

that these businesses create the largest number of jobs and make a vital contribution to 

the economies in which they operate.

Unlike other banks, our bank does not promote consumer loans. Instead we focus on 

responsible banking, by building a savings culture and long-term partnerships with our 

customers.

Our shareholders expect a sustainable return on investment, but are not primarily inter- 

ested in short-term profit maximisation. We invest extensively in the training of our staff 

in order to create an enjoyable and efficient working atmosphere, and to provide the 

friendliest and most competent service possible for our customers.
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Mission StatementMission Statement

In 2007 ProCredit Bank celebrated its seventh anniversary, marking the completion of seven years of 
successful development in Ukraine. The year brought many achievements as well as challenges for the 
bank. 

Political uncertainty remained strong, posing challenges for the development of the country’s economy 
and that of its banking sector in particular. The banking sector continued to experience dynamic growth, 
with many banks aggressively marketing loans and sometimes ignoring their responsibility as financial 
institutions to promote the development of transparent and smoothly functioning financial markets. As 
shown by the year-end statistics, the risks associated with over-indebtedness on the part of borrowers, 
and the risks resulting from the mismatch of assets and liabilities, were not adequately addressed by 
many of our competitors. While ProCredit Bank aimed to achieve strong growth, it consistently adhered 
to its principles of ensuring the availability of sufficient and diversified funding sources and of analysing 
borrowers thoroughly to keep the risk in the loan portfolio at a low level. We believe that ProCredit Bank’s 
role as a transparent and responsible financial institution was even more important in 2007 than in previ-
ous years. The bank successfully fulfilled its mission by providing small and very small businesses with 
access to a reliable source of financing and households with a safe repository for their savings.

The solid foundation that had been built in preceding years and the consistent application of a sound 
development strategy allowed ProCredit Bank to expand smoothly in 2007. It opened 12 branches and 
by the end of the year was operating in 27 cities through a total of 64 branches. We recognise that staff 
development is the key factor for successful branch network expansion, and we took great care to ensure 
that our personnel recruitment and training activities were well designed and carefully implemented.

The loan portfolio grew by more than 30%, and the client base in our lending business comprised more 
than 44,000 borrowers at the end of the year. Customer funds grew by 42%, and we were serving 100,000 
savers at year-end. In view of the substantial political and economic uncertainty that characterised our 
operating environment in 2007, this demonstrates an impressive level of trust in the bank on the part of 
the target groups we seek to serve.

ProCredit Bank’s successful development – as evidenced by the strong growth of our customer base and 
by the many social initiatives and educational events that we carried out – provides clear evidence that, 
as a business strategy, responsible neighbourhood banking is every bit as a meaningful and effective in 
Ukraine as it is in the 21 other countries in which the ProCredit group operates. Needless to say, we would 
not have been able to accomplish so much in our first seven years without the dedicated efforts of our 
highly professional staff. I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude and appreciation to 
all of the employees of ProCredit Bank Ukraine for their hard work in 2007, which made it possible for us 
to enjoy another very successful year.

 Anja Lepp
 Chairperson of the Supervisory Board

Letter from the Supervisory Board

Members of the  
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The Bank and its Shareholders

ProCredit Holding	 is	 the	
parent	 company	 of	 a	 global	

group	of	22	ProCredit	banks.		ProCredit	Holding	
was	 founded	 as	 Internationale	 Micro	 Investi-
tionen	AG	(IMI)	in	1998	by	the	pioneering	devel-
opment	finance	consultancy	company	IPC.	

ProCredit	 Holding	 is	 committed	 to	 expanding		
access	 to	 financial	services	 in	developing	coun-
tries	 and	 transition	 economies	 by	 building	 a	
group	of	banks	that	are	the	leading	providers	of	
fair,	transparent	financial	services	for	very	small,	
small	 and	 medium-sized	 businesses	 as	 well	 as	
the	general	population	in	their	countries	of	opera-
tion.	In	addition	to	meeting	the	equity	needs	of	its	
subsidiaries,	ProCredit	Holding	guides	the	devel-	
opment	 of	 the	 ProCredit	 banks,	 provides	 their	
senior	 management,	 and	 supports	 the	 banks	 in	
all	key	areas	of	activity,	including	banking	opera-
tions,	human	resources	and	risk	management.	It	
ensures	 that	 ProCredit	 corporate	 values,	 best-	

practice	banking	operations	and	Basle	II	risk	man-
agement	principles	are	implemented	group-wide.	

IPC	 is	 the	 leading	 shareholder	 and	 strategic		
investor	 in	 ProCredit	 Holding.	 IPC	 has	 been	
the	 driving	 entrepreneurial	 force	 behind	 the		
ProCredit	 group	 since	 the	 foundation	 of	 the	
banks.	Historically,	IPC	provided	the	senior	man-
agers	of	the	ProCredit	banks.	At	the	end	of	2007,	
IPC	staff	were	integrated	into	ProCredit	Holding,	
significantly	strengthening	the	company’s	ability	
to	support	the	ProCredit	group.

ProCredit	 Holding	 is	 a	 public-private	 partner-
ship.	 In	 addition	 to	 IPC	 and	 IPC	 Invest	 (the	
investment	 vehicle	 of	 the	 staff	 of	 IPC	 and		
ProCredit),	 the	 other	 private	 shareholders	 of	
ProCredit	 Holding	 include	 the	 Dutch	 DOEN	
Foundation,	 the	 US	 pension	 fund	 TIAA-CREF,	
the	 US	 Omidyar-Tufts	 Microfinance	 Fund,	 the	
Swiss	 investment	 fund	 responsAbility	 and	

ProCredit	 Bank	 Ukraine	 is	 part	 of	 the	 ProCredit	
group,	which	is	led	by	its	Frankfurt-based	parent	
company,	 ProCredit	 Holding.	 ProCredit	 Holding	
is	 the	 majority	 shareholder	 in	 ProCredit	 Bank	
Ukraine,	and	 in	2007	agreed	with	 the	European	
Bank	for	Reconstruction	and	Development	(EBRD)	
to	acquire	its	shares	in	the	bank.	Once	this	trans-
action	 is	 registered,	 ProCredit	 Holding	 will	 hold	
80%	 of	 the	 shares.	 This	 proposed	 acquisition	
is	 subject	 to	 approval	 by	 the	 National	 Bank	 of	
Ukraine.	The	shareholder	structure	shown	below	
was	current	as	of	the	end	of	December	2007.

ProCredit	 Bank	 Ukraine	 was	 founded	 in	 January	
2001	 as	 “Microfinance	 Bank”	 (MFB)	 by	 an	 alli-
ance	 of	 international	 development-oriented	 in-
vestors.	Their	goal	was	to	establish	a	new	kind	of	
financial	institution	that	would	serve	the	demand	
of	small	and	very	small	businesses	 in	a	socially	
responsible	way.	The	primary	aim	was	not	short-
term	 profit	 maximisation	 but	 rather	 to	 deepen	

the	 financial	 sector	 and	 contribute	 to	 long-term	
economic	 development	 while	 also	 achieving	 a	
sustainable	return	on	the	investment.	

The	 founding	 shareholders	 of	 ProCredit	 Bank	
Ukraine	 were	 the	 EBRD,	 International	 Finance	
Corporation	 (IFC),	 Kreditanstalt	 für	 Wieder-
aufbau	 (KfW),	 Western	 NIS	 Enterprise	 Fund	
(WNISEF),	 and	 ProCredit	 Holding,	 each	 owning	
20%	of	the	shares.	The	management	of	the	bank	
was	 provided	 by	 Internationale	 Projekt	 Consult	
(IPC).	Over	the	years,	ProCredit	Holding,	working	
closely	with	IPC,	has	consolidated	the	ownership	
and	 management	 structure	 of	 all	 the	 ProCredit	
banks	and	financial	institutions	to	create	a	truly	
global	 group	 with	 a	 clear	 shareholder	 structure	
and	to	bring	to	each	ProCredit	institution	all	the	
synergies	and	benefits	that	this	implies.	Today’s	
shareholder	structure	of	ProCredit	Bank	Ukraine	
is	outlined	below.	Its	current	share	capital	is	USD	
29.7	million.

Sector

Investment
Banking
Investment

Shareholder
(as of Dec. 31, 2007) 
ProCredit	Holding	
EBRD
WNISEF

Total Capital

Headquarters

Germany
UK
USA

Share

60.0%
20.0%
20.0%

100%

Paid-in Capital 
(in USD million)

17.82
5.94
5.94

29.7
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The Bank and its Shareholders

the	Salvadoran	company	Fundasal.	The	public	
shareholders	of	ProCredit	Holding	include	KfW	
(the	AAA-rated	German	promotional	bank),	IFC	
(the	AAA-rated	private	sector	arm	of	the	World	
Bank),	FMO	(the	Dutch	development	bank)	and	
BIO	(the	Belgian	development	fund).	

ProCredit	Holding	has	an	investment	grade	rat-
ing	(BBB-)	from	Fitch	Ratings	Agency.	As	of	the	
end	of	2007,	 the	equity	base	of	 the	ProCredit	
group	is	EUR	333.2	million.	The	total	assets	of	
the	ProCredit	group	are	EUR	4.1	billion.

The	 European Bank for Recon-
struction and Development 

(EBRD)	was	established	in	1991.	It	aims	to	foster	
the	 transition	 towards	 open,	 market-oriented	
economies	 and	 to	 promote	 private	 and	 entre-
preneurial	 initiative	 in	 countries	 from	 Central	
Europe	 to	 Central	 Asia	 that	 are	 committed	 to		
democracy,	pluralism	and	market	economics.	The	
EBRD	 seeks	 to	 help	 its	 countries	 of	 operations	
to	 implement	 structural	 and	 sectoral	 economic		

reforms,	 promoting	 competition,	 privatisation	
and	 entrepreneurship.	 In	 fulfilling	 its	 role	 as	 a	
catalyst	 of	 change,	 the	 Bank	 encourages	 cofi-
nancing	 and	 foreign	 direct	 investment	 from	 the	
private	 and	 public	 sectors,	 helps	 to	 mobilise		
domestic	 capital,	 and	 provides	 technical	 coop-
eration	in	relevant	areas.	

Western NIS Enterprise Fund (WNISEF) 
is	 a	 $150	 million	 regional	 private		

equity	 fund,	 a	 pioneer	 in	 Ukraine	 and	 Moldova	
with	more	than	a	decade	of	successful	experience	
investing	in	small	and	medium-sized	companies.	
Since	its	inception,	WNISEF	has	invested	approxi-
mately	 $138	 million	 in	 33	 companies	 in	 the	 re-
gion	in	a	range	of	industries	with	a	concentration	
on	 fast	 moving	 consumer	 goods,	 construction		
materials,	 packaging,	 retail,	 and	 financial	 ser-
vices.	 WNISEF	 is	 currently	 managed	 by	 Horizon	
Capital	Associates.	 	WNISEF	was	established	by	
the	U.S.	Congress	and	funded	by	the	U.S.	govern-
ment	via	U.S.	Agency	 for	 International	Develop-
ment	(USAID).	www.wnisef.org	

Th e 	 B a n k 	 a n d 	 i t s 	 S h a r e h o l d e r sTh e 	 B a n k 	 a n d 	 i t s 	 S h a r e h o l d e r s �



The ProCredit Group – Neighbourhood Banks for Ordinary PeopleThe ProCredit Group – Neighbourhood Banks for Ordinary People

The	ProCredit	group	currently	comprises	22	tar-
get	 group-oriented	 banks	 operating	 in	 as	 many	
countries.	We	focus	on	developing	countries	and	
transition	economies	in	three	regions:	Eastern	Eu-
rope,	Latin	America	and	Africa.	The	group	has	622	
branches	staffed	by	16,800	employees.	Current-
ly,	 ProCredit	 banks	 disburse	 more	 than	 75,000	
loans	totalling	more	than	EUR	236	million	every	
month.	By	the	end	of	2007,	the	number	of	loans	
outstanding	 had	 grown	 to	 926,000	 (amounting	
to	 EUR	 2.8	 billion,	 an	 increase	 of	 34%	 over	 the	
year).	 The	 average	 loan	 amount	 outstanding	 is		
EUR	3,045,	and	the	loan	portfolio	quality	remains	
excellent,	with	a	ratio	of	loans	in	arrears	(>30	days)	
to	 total	 loan	 portfolio	 of	 only	 1.4%.	 Over	 2007,	
the	group’s	deposit	base	increased	from	EUR	1.8	
billion	to	EUR	2.5	billion,	an	increase	of	37%.	The	
number	of	accounts	increased	by	900,000.

But	 what	 do	 these	 facts	 and	 figures	 mean	 and	
what	is	ProCredit	trying	to	achieve?	ProCredit	 is	
building	a	global	group	of	neighbourhood	banks.	
But	what	is	a	neighbourhood	bank?	Wherever	we	
are,	we	aim	to	be	the	accessible,	trusted,	socially	
responsible	bank	for	local	small	businesses	and	
“ordinary”	people	who	live	and	work	in	the	area.	
In	our	lending	business,	we	focus	on	very	small,	
small	and	medium-sized	enterprises.	At	the	same	
time	 ProCredit	 provides	 retail	 banking	 services	
to	 ordinary	 people,	 with	 a	 focus	 on	 low-income	
families.	 In	this	way	we	aim	to	be	the	long-term	
banking	 partner	 for	 target	 groups	 which	 most	
conventional	commercial	banks	neglect.	By	pro-
viding	 socially	 responsible	 products,	 we	 aim	 to	
contribute	 to	 the	 economic	 development	 of	 the	
countries	in	which	we	work.

In	the	developing	countries	and	transition	econ-
omies	 in	 which	 the	 ProCredit	 group	 operates,	
conventional	 commercial	 banks	 tend	 to	 neglect	
small	 and	 very	 small	 businesses	 because	 they	
are	 thought	 to	 keep	 inadequate	 records,	 have	
insufficient	collateral	and	generate	high	admin-
istrative	 costs.	 However,	 these	 businesses	 are	
the	main	engine	of	economic	growth	and	job	cre-
ation.	 Over	 the	 years,	 the	 ProCredit	 group	 and	
IPC,	 which	 developed	 the	 lending	 methodology	
used	by	the	ProCredit	group,	have	gained	a	pro-
found	understanding	of	both	the	problems	faced	
by	small	businesses	and	the	opportunities	avail-
able	to	them,	and	have	tailored	the	credit	technol-
ogy	to	reflect	the	realities	of	their	operating	envi-

ronment.	Thanks	to	this	credit	technology,	which	
combines	careful	analysis	of	all	credit	risks	with	
a	high	degree	of	standardisation	and	efficiency,	
ProCredit	 institutions	 are	 able	 to	 reach	 a	 large	
number	of	small	borrowers.

In	contrast	to	ProCredit,	other	commercial	banks	
give	priority	in	their	lending	operations	to	corpo-
rate	 finance	 and	 consumer	 lending,	 especially	
the	latter.	Consumer	finance	is	attractive	to	those	
banks	because	it	usually	does	not	require	skilled	
staff	 or	 much	 financial	 analysis	 of	 the	 client,		
allowing	banks	focussed	on	market	share	to	grow	
quickly.	However,	this	quest	for	market	share	can	
lead	to	irresponsible	lending	and	over-indebted-
ness	on	the	part	of	the	client.	ProCredit	never	for-
gets	that	a	loan	is	also	a	debt.	The	recent	events	
around	 the	 US	 subprime	 mortgage	 crisis	 are	 an	
important	 reminder	 of	 the	 social	 and	 economic	
consequences	 of	 inappropriate	 lending	 behav-
iour.	In	contrast,	we	place	great	emphasis	on	the	
careful	evaluation	of	a	borrower’s	debt	capacity	
and	on	building	lasting	relationships.	In	this	way,	
ProCredit	is	characterised	by	a	responsible,	long-
term	attitude	towards	business	development	and	
client	relationships.

Furthermore,	ProCredit	institutions	strive	to	fos-
ter	a	savings	culture.	We	aim	to	build	public	con-
fidence	in	banks	by	setting	new	standards	in	cus-
tomer	service,	transparency	and	business	ethics.	
ProCredit	deposit	facilities	are	appropriate	for	a	
broad	range	of	customers,	especially	low-income	
groups.	We	offer	simple	savings	products	with	no	
minimum	deposit	requirement.	Eighty	percent	of	
all	deposit	accounts	have	a	balance	of	less	than	
EUR	100.	This	illustrates	our	target-group	orien-
tation	 and	 highlights	 the	 challenge	 of	 serving	
this	target	group	of	small	savers	who	account	for	
only	1%	of	our	total	deposit	volume.	In	the	spirit	
of	a	neighbourhood	bank,	ProCredit	banks	place	
great	 emphasis	 on	 children’s	 savings	 products	
and	education	campaigns	as	well	as	on	sponsor-
ing	 local	 community	 events.	 In	 addition	 to	 de-
posit	facilities,	clients	are	offered	a	full	range	of	
standard	non-credit	banking	services.

The	shareholders	of	 the	group	aim	to	strike	 the	
right	 balance	 between	 their	 prime	 developmen-
tal	goals:	reaching	as	many	small	enterprises	and	
small	savers	as	possible,	and	achieving	commer-
cial	 success.	 For	 2007,	 the	 return	 on	 equity	 for	
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ProCredit Bank Serbia

ProCredit Bank 
Bosnia and Herzegovina

ProCredit Bank Kosovo

ProCredit Bank Albania

ProCredit Bank Macedonia

ProCredit Bank 
Sierra Leone

ProCredit 
Savings and Loans Ghana

ProCredit Bank 
Democratic Republic of Congo

Banco ProCredit Mozambique

ProCredit Bank Ukraine

ProCredit Moldova 

ProCredit Bank Romania

ProCredit Bank Kyrgyzstan
(planned)

ProCredit Bank Georgia

ProCredit Bank Armenia

ProCredit Bank Bulgaria

ProCredit 
Mexico

Banco ProCredit 
Honduras

Banco ProCredit 
El Salvador

Banco ProCredit
Nicaragua

ProCredit Services 
Colombia

Banco ProCredit 
Ecuador

Banco Los Andes
ProCredit Bolivia

The ProCredit Group – Neighbourhood Banks for Ordinary PeopleThe ProCredit Group – Neighbourhood Banks for Ordinary People

the	group	as	a	whole,	expressed	in	hard	currency	
after	deduction	of	profit	taxes,	is	12.6%.

And	 who	 are	 the	 shareholders	 behind	 the		
ProCredit	group?	The	ProCredit	group	is	led	by	the	
Frankfurt-based	ProCredit	Holding	AG,	founded	by	
the	consulting	firm	IPC	in	1998.	In	Eastern	Europe,	
EBRD	 and	 Commerzbank,	 and	 in	 Latin	 America,	
the	 IDB,	also	participate	as	minority	sharehold-
ers.	ProCredit	Holding	is	a	public-private	partner-
ship,	led	by	IPC	and	by	IPC	Invest,	the	investment		
vehicle	of	the	staff	of	IPC	and	ProCredit.	The	other	
private	shareholders	of	ProCredit	Holding	include	
the	Dutch	DOEN	Foundation,	the	US	pension	fund	
TIAA-CREF,	 the	 US	 Omidyar-Tufts	 Microfinance	
Fund	 and	 the	 Swiss	 investment	 fund	 respons-	
Ability.	The	public	shareholders	include	KfW,	IFC,	
FMO	and	BIO.

ProCredit	Holding	not	only	provides	equity	to	its	
subsidiaries,	but	also	guides	the	development	of	
the	ProCredit	banks,	provides	 their	senior	man-
agement,	and	supports	the	banks	in	all	key	areas	
of	 activity.	 Historically,	 IPC	 staff	 managed	 the	
ProCredit	institutions,	building	them	to	what	they	
are	today.	At	the	end	of	2007,	IPC	staff	were	inte-	
grated	 into	 ProCredit	 Holding,	 greatly	 strength-
ening	its	ability	to	support	the	group.	The	holding	
company	 ensures	 that	 ProCredit	 corporate	 val-
ues,	best-practice	banking	operations	and	Basle	
II	 risk	 management	 principles	 are	 implemented	
group-wide.	 Plans	 are	 underway	 to	 bring	 the		
ProCredit	 group	 under	 the	 supervision	 of	 the	
German	 federal	 banking	 supervisory	 authority		
(BaFin)	in	2008.

The international group

of ProCredit institutions;

see also

www.procredit-holding.com
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ProCredit	 Holding	 is	 deeply	 involved	 in	 human	
resource	management.	The	neighbourhood	bank	
concept	 is	 not	 limited	 to	 our	 target	 customers	
and	how	we	reach	them,	it	is	also	about	our	staff:	
how	we	work	with	one	another	and	how	we	work	
with	 our	 customers.	 The	 neighbourhood	 bank		
approach	requires	a	high	degree	of	decentralised	
decision-making	 and	 therefore	 judgement	 and	
creativity	 from	 all	 staff,	 especially	 our	 branch	
managers.	 Our	 corporate	 values	 embed	 prin-
ciples	such	as	honest	communication,	transpar-
ency	 and	 professionalism	 into	 our	 day-to-day	
business.	Key	to	our	success	is	therefore	the	right	
selection	and	training	of	staff.	We	maintain	a	cor-
porate	culture	that	harnesses	the	creativity	and	
entrepreneurial	spirit	of	our	staff,	while	fostering	
their	deep	sense	of	personal	and	social	respon-
sibility.	This	entails	not	only	intensive	training	in	
technical	and	management	skills,	but	also	a	con-
tinuous	exchange	of	personnel	among	our	mem-
ber	 institutions	 in	 order	 to	 take	 full	 advantage	
of	 the	 opportunities	 for	 staff	 development	 that	
are	created	by	their	participation	in	a	truly	inter-	
national	group.

A	central	plank	in	our	approach	to	training	is	the	
group’s	ProCredit	Academy	in	Germany,	which	pro-
vides	a	three-year,	part-time	“ProCredit	Banker”	
training	programme	for	high-potential	personnel	
from	each	of	the	ProCredit	institutions.	The	pro-
gramme	includes	intensive	technical	training	and	
also	exposes	participants	to	a	very	multicultural	
learning	 environment	 and	 to	 subjects	 such	 as		
anthropology	and	the	humanities.	The	programme	
provides	an	opportunity	for	our	future	leaders	to	
develop	their	views	of	the	world,	as	well	as	their	
communication	and	staff	management	skills.	The	
professional	development	of	local	middle	manag-
ers	is	further	supported	by	three	regional	acade-
mies	in	Latin	America,	Africa	and	Eastern	Europe,	
which	provide	similar	off-site	training	for	a	larger	
number	of	people.

The	group’s	strategy	is	to	continue	its	very	rapid	
growth	in	order	to	meet	the	large	unmet	demand	
for	financial	services	from	its	target	groups.	The	
continued	 success	 of	 ProCredit	 relies	 on	 a	 self-
confident	 team	 of	 people	 who	 share	 a	 personal	
commitment	 to	 the	 target	 group,	 to	 fast	 growth	
and	to	the	neighbourhood	way	of	doing	things.
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ProCredit in Eastern Europe

ProCredit	operates	in	11	countries	across	Eastern	
Europe.	With	more	than	535,000	loans	outstand-
ing,	it	is	the	region’s	leading	provider	of	banking	
services	 to	 very	 small,	 small	 and	 medium-sized	
businesses.	 In	 2007,	 ProCredit	 decided	 to	 ex-
pand	its	regional	presence	into	Armenia	and	Kyr-
gyzstan.	A	provisional	banking	licence	has	been	
obtained	in	Armenia,	and	the	bank	will	be	opera-
tional	 in	 February	 2008.	 We	 plan	 for	 ProCredit	
Bank	Kyrgyzstan	to	be	operational	in	2008.

The	 region	 is	 currently	 enjoying	 relative	 politi-
cal	 stability	 and	 strong	 GDP	 growth	 of	 around	
5%	in	2007.	Financial	sectors	and	private	sector	
lending	are	also	rapidly	expanding.	In	all	Eastern		
European	 markets	 in	 which	 ProCredit	 operates,	
total	 banking	 assets	 in	 2007	 grew	 by	 well	 over	
20%,	and	in	several	markets	by	over	50%.	Much	
of	this	growth	is	driven	by	heavy	investment	in	the	
form	of	foreign	capital	and	the	activities	of	west-
ern	banks.	In	this	context	the	market	opportuni-
ties	are	clear,	but	sometimes	we	are	asked:	can	
ProCredit	claim	to	be	different	and	to	be	making	a	
difference	in	the	region?	Our	answer	is	a	resound-
ing	“yes”.	We	stand	out	as	banks	deeply	commit-
ted	to	small	business	lending	over	the	long	term,	
to	 building	 a	 responsible	 savings	 culture	 rather	
than	blindly	fuelling	consumer	spending,	and	to	
setting	 new	 standards	 of	 transparency	 and	 ser-
vice	for	our	customers.

Across	the	region,	the	focus	of	most	other	banks	
continues	to	be	corporate	finance	and	consumer	
lending.	They	neglect	lending	to	small	entrepre-
neurs	 and	 small	 family	 businesses.	 Yet	 these	
businesses	are	the	driving	force	behind	economic	
growth	and	 job	creation	across	Eastern	Europe,	
and	 have	 been	 since	 the	 collapse	 of	 Soviet	 in-
fluence	 and	 the	 large	 state-owned	 enterprises	
related	 to	 it.	For	most	banks,	 it	 is	simply	easier	
to	make	money	with	consumer	lending	and	loans	
to	 large	 corporate	 clients,	 since	 small	 business	
lending	 requires	 decentralised	 decision-making	
and	highly	qualified	staff	who	are	able	to	assess	
risk	quickly	and	reliably	and	maintain	durable	cli-
ent	relationships.	

The	 loan	portfolio	volume	of	ProCredit	banks	 in	
Eastern	Europe	grew	by	more	than	34%	in	2007,	
which	is	at	least	as	fast	as	the	consumer-driven	
market	as	a	whole,	emphasising	the	importance	
of	our	focus	on	small	business	loans.	The	impor-

tance	of	ProCredit	in	transition	economies	should	
be	 no	 surprise:	 even	 in	 well-developed	 western	
markets,	 only	 a	 few	 banks	 are	 dedicated	 to	 the	
long-term	support	of	small	business	customers.

It	 is	 also	 no	 surprise	 that	 consumer	 lending,	
which	is	being	so	aggressively	pursued	by	other	
banks	 in	 Eastern	 Europe,	 is	 not	 a	 business	 in	
which	 ProCredit	 actively	 engages.	 We	 believe	
that	it	tends	to	drive	imports	rather	than	domes-
tic	 production.	 If	 pushed	 irresponsibly	 in	 the	
context	of	a	market-share	gain	game	–	with	very	
little	analysis	of	a	customer’s	repayment	capac-
ity	–	 it	quickly	 leads	 to	over-indebtedness.	This	
creates	suffering	for	the	individuals	and	families	
affected,	 and	 can	 undermine	 wider	 social	 and		
financial	stability.	The	growing	incidence	of	rising	
default	rates	underpins	this	view.	The	sub-prime	
mortgage	crisis	in	the	US	is	a	timely	reminder	of	
the	consequences	of	inappropriate	lending	prac-
tices.	Our	approach	is	to	provide	loans	primarily	
to	 businesses	 and	 to	 do	 so	 based	 on	 a	 careful,	
efficient	analysis	of	a	client’s	ability	to	repay.	We	
aim	 to	 build	 lasting	 relationships,	 and	 we	 nev-
er	 forget	 that	 a	 loan	 is	 also	 a	 debt.	 In	 this	 way,		
ProCredit	is	characterised	by	a	responsible,	long-
term	attitude	towards	business	development.

Across	the	region,	we	provide	agricultural	loans,	
supporting	 a	 sector	 that	 has	 been	 particularly	
neglected	by	other	banks	and	that	is	vital	for	em-
ployment	 and	 social	 cohesion	 outside	 the	 main	
urban	 areas.	 We	 also	 provide	 housing	 improve-
ment	 loans	 to	 help	 low-income	 families	 reno-
vate	their	homes	and	improve	energy	efficiency.		
ProCredit	banks	offer	their	business	clients	loans	
and	 other	 services,	 including	 plastic	 cards	 and	
fast,	 low-cost	 money	 transfers	 (“ProPay”),	 pro-
viding	 a	 truly	 integrated	 service	 for	 entrepre-
neurs	who	are	active	across	the	region.

In	the	face	of	rapid	expansion	in	consumer	lend-
ing,	 we	 make	 it	 a	 priority	 to	 create	 a	 “savings”	
culture,	not	just	a	“spending”	culture	–	because	
savings	are	an	important	buffer	against	the	vaga-
ries	of	life.	The	level	of	deposits	to	GDP	in	Eastern	
European	 countries,	 typically	 around	 50%,	 re-
mains	 well	 below	 Western	 European	 levels.	
Through	promotional	events	and	direct,	personal	
communication,	we	encourage	people	–	particu-
larly	 those	 who	 do	 not	 yet	 have	 a	 banking	 rela-
tionship	–	 to	use	banking	services	and	 to	 regu-
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larly	 set	 aside	 a	 portion	 of	 their	 earnings.	 This	
outreach	is	combined	with	the	offer	of	simple	and	
reliable	 banking	 products,	 especially	 savings	
and	deposit	accounts.

In	 keeping	 with	 our	 mission	 to	 be	 accessible	 to	
clients	 wherever	 they	 are,	 the	 ProCredit	 group	
continues	 to	 expand	 to	 provide	 comprehensive	
coverage	across	 the	 region:	 in	2007	we	opened	
100	 branches	 and	 employed	 2,400	 more	 staff	
to	 bring	 the	 total	 to	 more	 than	 440	 branches	
and	11,000	staff.	Our	clients	can	now	drive	from		
Tirana	 in	 Albania	 to	 Yerevan	 in	 Armenia	 and		
enjoy	 the	 same	 friendly	 service	 and	 open,	 wel-
coming	 branches	 all	 along	 the	 way.	 We	 place	 a	
strong	emphasis	on	transparency	in	all	ProCredit	
banks.	We	run	information	campaigns	to	ensure	
that	all	customers	understand	the	pricing	of	our	
products	 as	 well	 as	 those	 of	 our	 competitors,	
since	we	find	that	aggressively	growing	markets	
create	 a	 lot	 of	 scope	 for	 misleading	 customers	
about	the	true	price	of	banking	services.

Our	staff	are	the	key	element	in	our	approach	to	
being	a	stable,	down-to-earth	banking	partner	to	
clients	across	the	region.	The	group	has	a	strong	
commitment	to	staff	training,	professional	devel-
opment	and	cultivating	an	open,	honest	commu-
nication	 culture.	 Staff	 exchanges,	 cross-border	
training	 programmes	 and	 regional	 workshops	
are	 an	 important	 part	 of	 our	 approach.	 In	 2007	
we	 founded	 the	 ProCredit	 Regional	 Academy	 in		
Skopje,	Macedonia	for	the	training	of	local	middle	
managers.	Already	90	managers	have	graduated	
from	the	six-week	intensive	course.	In	the	highly	
competitive	 Eastern	 European	 banking	 sectors,	
well-trained,	 highly	 motivated	 ProCredit	 staff,	
who	 have	 built	 strong,	 long-term	 relationships	
with	 clients,	 are	 in	 high	 demand	 from	 compet-	
itor	banks.	However,	the	ProCredit	work	environ-
ment,	 the	 investment	we	make	 in	our	staff,	and	
the	 international	 opportunities	 that	 they	 enjoy	
enable	us	 to	be	very	successful	 in	 retaining	our	
best	people,	providing	a	firm	base	for	our	ongo-
ing	growth	in	the	region.
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Name

ProCredit Bank
Albania

ProCredit Bank
Armenia

ProCredit Bank
Bosnia and Herzegovina

ProCredit Bank
Bulgaria

ProCredit Bank 
Georgia

ProCredit Bank
Kosovo

ProCredit Bank
Macedonia

ProCredit
Moldova

ProCredit Bank
Moldova

ProCredit Bank
Romania

ProCredit Bank
Serbia

ProCredit Bank
Ukraine

Highlights*

Founded	in	October	1998
26	branches
32,581	loans	/	EUR	117.5	million	in	loans
198,668	deposit	accounts	/	EUR	213.8	million
711	employees

Founded	in	December	2007
Operational	in	February	2008
1	branch
118	employees

Founded	in	October	1997
39	branches
68,752	loans	/	EUR	162.1	million	in	loans
84,126	deposit	accounts	/	EUR	143.1	million
831	employees

Founded	in	October	2001
72	branches
63,125	loans	/	EUR	447.4	million	in	loans
194,530	deposit	accounts	/	EUR	311.4	million
1,566	employees

Founded	in	May	1999
42	branches
64,283	loans	/	EUR	164.2	million	in	loans
407,756	deposit	accounts	/	EUR	118.2	million
1,476	employees

Founded	in	January	2000
47	branches	
69,601	loans	/	EUR	343.2	million	in	loans
296,825	deposit	accounts	/	EUR	492.1	million
914	employees

Founded	in	July	2003
34	branches	
28,642	loans	/	EUR	105.3	million	in	loans
117,247	deposit	accounts	/	EUR	105.9	million
737	employees

Founded	in	December	1999
22	branches	
15,267	loans	/	EUR	25.0	million	in	loans
323	employees

Founded	in	December	2007
Operational	in	February	2008
1	branch
41	employees

Founded	in	May	2002
36	branches	
39,687	loans	/	EUR	213.9	million	in	loans
106,804	deposit	accounts	/	EUR	160.8	million	
899	employees

Founded	in	April	2001	
60	branches	
101,999	loans	/	EUR	415.3	million	in	loans
434,183	deposit	accounts	/	EUR	393.4	million	
1,625	employees

Founded	in	January	2001
61	branches
52,885	 loans	 /	 EUR	 264.9	 million	 in	 loans	
100,682	deposit	accounts	/	EUR	150.1	million
1,803	employees

Contact

Rruga	Sami	Frasheri
Tirana
Tel./Fax:	+355	4	271	272	/	276
info@procreditbank.com.al
www.procreditbank.com.al

31,	Moskovvan	St.
Building	99
Yerevan	0002
Tel./Fax:	+	374	10	514	860	/	853
info@procreditbank.am
www.procreditbank.am	

Emerika	Bluma	8
71000	Sarajevo
Tel./Fax:	+387	33	250	950	/	250	971
info@procreditbank.ba	
www.procreditbank.ba

131,	Hristo	Botev	Blvd.	
Sofia	1233
Tel./Fax:	+359	2	813	51	00	/	51	10
contact@procreditbank.bg
www.procreditbank.bg

154	D.	Agmashenebeli	Ave.	
0112	Tbilisi
Tel./Fax:	+995	32	20	2222	/	2266
info@procreditbank.ge
www.procreditbank.ge

“Mother	Tereze”	Boulevard	No.	16	
10	000	Prishtina
Tel./Fax:	+381	38	555	777	/	776
info@procreditbank-kos.com
www.procreditbank-kos.com

Bul.	Jane	Sandanski	109a	
1000	Skopje
Tel./Fax:	+389	2	321	99	00	/	01
info@procreditbank.com.mk
www.procreditbank.com.mk

65,	Stefan	cel	Mare	Ave.
Off.	900;	Chisinau
Tel./Fax:	+373	22	27	0707	/	3488
office@procredit.md
www.procredit.md

35,	Eminescu	St.
Chisinau
Tel./Fax:	+373	22	271707	/	204496
office@procreditbank.md
www.procreditbank.md

Calea	Buzesti,	No.	62-64,	Sector	1
011017	Bucharest
Tel./Fax:	+40	21	2016000	/	305	5663
headoffice@procreditbank.ro
www.procreditbank.ro

Bulevar	despota	Stefana	68c
Belgrade
Tel./Fax:	+381	11	20	77	906/	905	
info@procreditbank.co.rs
www.procreditbank.co.rs

107a	Peremogy	Ave.
Kyiv	03115
Tel./Fax:	+380	44	590	10	41	/	01
info@procreditbank.com.ua
www.procreditbank.com.ua

*	 The	figures	in	this	section	have	been	compiled	on	the	basis	of	the	financial	and	operational	reporting	performed	in	accordance	with	group-	
	 wide	standards;	they	may	differ	from	the	figures	reported	in	the	bank’s	local	GAAP	statements.
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Highlights in 2007

•	 ProCredit	Bank	Ukraine	achieved	another	year		
	 of	 strong	 growth.	 It	 disbursed	 more	 than		
	 40,000	 loans	 totalling	USD	362	million.	The		
	 total	loan	portfolio	grew	by	30%	to	USD	390		
	 million.	

•	 The	total	number	of	active	customer	accounts		
	 exceeded	 100,000,	 and	 the	 deposit	 volume		
	 increased	by	42%	to	USD	220	million,	which		
	 was	equivalent	 to	more	than	half	of	 the	out-	
	 standing	loan	portfolio.	

•	 The	bank	continued	to	expand	its	branch	net-	
	 work,	 opening	 four	 branches	 in	 Kyiv	 and	 an		
	 additional	 branch	 in	 each	 of	 the	 following		
	 cities:	Odesa,	Dnipropetrovsk,	Lviv,	Kharkiv,		
	 Poltava	 and	 Mariupol.	 We	 established	 our		
	 first	 branches	 in	 Melitopol	 and	 Vinnytza.	 At		
	 year-end,	 ProCredit	 Bank	 had	 more	 than		
	 1,800	 staff	 working	 at	 64	 branches	 and	 the		
	 head	office.

•	 In	spring	2007,	the	bank	launched	“ProCredit		
	 Art”,	 a	 project	 to	 promote	 local	 artists	 in		
	 Ukraine.	 Twenty	 exhibitions	 were	 held	 at		
	 branches	in	Kyiv,	Yalta,	Uzhgorod,	Bila	Tserkva,		
	 Donetsk	and	Lviv.

•	 Based	on	the	bank’s	solid	earnings	in	2006,	
	 it	 paid	 out	 dividends	 for	 the	 first	 time.	 The		
	 total	amount	distributed	equalled	USD	4	mil-	
	 lion.

•	 Fitch	Ratings	confirmed	ProCredit	Bank’s	BB-	
	 long-term	 issuer	 default	 rating	 with	 a	 posi-	
	 tive	outlook	and	 its	AAA	 (ukr)	national	 long-	
	 term	 rating	 with	 a	 stable	 outlook.	 ProCredit	
	 Bank’s	 international	 ratings,	 which	 are	 limi-	
	 ted	by	the	country	ceiling	(BB–),	continue	to		
	 be	the	high-est	awarded	in	Ukraine.
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•	 On	 October	 31,	 ProCredit	 Bank	 celebrated		
	 World	Savings	Day	by	launching	a	two-month		
	 informational	campaign	in	co-operation	with		
	 local	 educational	 institutions.	 More	 than		
	 7,550	 students	 from	 over	 100	 schools	 and		
	 universities	attended	ProCredit	financial	edu-	
	 cation	 seminars.	 ProCredit	 employees	 gave		
	 presentations	 on	 the	 banking	 system,	 ex-	
	 plaining	the	role	of	commercial	banks	and	the		
	 importance	of	saving.		

•	 In	December,	ProCredit	Bank	and	KfW	signed		
	 a	USD	20	million	credit	line	agreement	to	fund		
	 an	 energy	 efficiency	 project	 that	 provides		
	 financing	 to	 private	 businesses	 and	 house-	
	 holds	 that	 invest	 in	 energy	 conservation.	 In		
	 2008,	 IFC	 plans	 to	 contribute	 financing	 to		
	 this	initiative	on	similar	terms.
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Management Business Review

Management Board

from left to right:

Susanne Decker

Member of the Management Board

Dirk Haböck

Chairman of the Management Board

Viktor Ponomarenko

Member of the Management Board
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Management Business Review

Political and Economic Environment 

2007	was	a	politically	eventful	year	for	Ukraine.	
On	April	2,	the	country’s	president,	Viktor	Yush-
chenko,	announced	his	decision	to	dissolve	par-
liament,	and	thus	the	coalition	government	led	by	
Prime	Minister	Viktor	Yanukovytch.	This	marked	
the	 beginning	 of	 a	 prolonged	 confrontation	 be-
tween	the	president	and	the	prime	minister,	who	
risked	losing	power	under	the	president’s	ruling.	
After	an	extended	dispute	over	the	constitution-
ality	of	the	dissolution	of	parliament	and	efforts	
by	the	prime	minister	and	his	government	to	over-
ride	 this	decision,	 the	 two	sides	 finally	 reached	
a	 compromise.	 They	 agreed	 to	 hold	 early	 par-
liamentary	 elections,	 scheduling	 them	 for	 Sep-
tember	30.	By	mid-June,	more	than	a	third	of	the	
opposition	 party	 in	 parliament	 had	 voluntarily	
resigned,	making	new	elections	inevitable.

The	political	struggles	during	the	period	prior	to	
the	elections	involved	many	government	officials	
and	 institutions,	 leading	 to	 stagnation	 in	 the	
government.	 Populist	 politics	 encouraged	 state	
expenditures	for	social	services,	contributing	to	
a	rise	in	inflation,	which	stood	at	16.6%	at	year-
end.

In	 October,	 parliamentary	 elections	 failed	 to	
produce	a	strong	majority	on	either	side.	A	coali-	
tion	 between	 the	 Yulia	 Tymoshenko	 bloc	 and	
“Our	 Ukraine–People’s	 Self-Defence”,	 the	 party	
led	by	Viktor	Yushchenko,	won	control	of	the	gov-
ernment.	 They	 face	 strong	 opposition	 from	 for-
mer	Prime	Minister	Viktor	Yanukovytch’s	Party	of		
Regions.	 This	 narrow	 margin	 will	 restrict	 the	
room	for	manoeuvre	of	the	ruling	coalition,	but	it	
ends	the	stand-off	between	the	chief	of	state	and	
parliament.

Ms.	Tymoshenko’s	return	to	power	after	serving	as	
prime	minister	in	2005	gives	her	the	opportunity	
to	 fulfil	 old	 and	 new	 promises.	 Social	 spending	
will	 likely	 increase,	 hindering	 the	 government’s	
anti-inflation	policy.	The	2008	State	Budget	pro-
poses	a	budget	deficit	increase	of	2%	of	GDP.	In	
addition,	her	coalition	expects	to	move	Ukraine’s	
foreign	policy	in	a	pro-European	direction,	seek-
ing	membership	of	the	World	Trade	Organization	
and,	eventually,	the	European	Free	Trade	Area.

A	 high	 level	 of	 public	 disaffection	 with	 politics	
kept	Ukraine’s	economy	from	being	damaged	by	
the	political	 turbulence.	The	general	population	
ignored	the	political	drama,	focusing	instead	on	
the	 rapidly	 growing	 economy,	 where	 real	 GDP	
increased	 by	 7.3%.	 As	 the	 main	 growth	 driver	
for	 the	 second	 consecutive	 year,	 the	 trade	 sec-
tor	grew	by	17%	in	 total	volume.	 Increased	dis-
posable	incomes	(30%	higher	than	2006)	and	a	
43%	rise	in	trade	investment	contributed	to	this	
high	growth.	Infrastructure	development	fuelled	
growth	in	manufacturing,	construction,	transpor-
tation,	and	communications.

The	 Ukrainian	 economy’s	 growth	 momentum	
was	also	reflected	in	developments	on	local	and	
international	stock	markets.	The	Ukrainian	PFTS	
index,	 a	 formal	 indicator	 for	 over-the-counter	
trading,	 was	 up	 by	 135%	 —	 the	 highest	 growth	
rate	 in	 world	 markets	 after	 China.	 Ferrexpo	
was	 the	 first	Ukrainian	company	 to	be	 listed	on	
the	 London	 Stock	 Exchange.	 Several	 compa-
nies	 made	 their	 initial	 public	 offerings	 on	 other	
Western	 stock	 markets,	 and	 more	 companies	
anticipate	 this	 move	 in	 the	 coming	 years.	 The	
successful	 Ukrainian	 bid	 to	 co-host	 the	 2012		
European	 Football	 Championship	 is	 expected	
to	 attract	 up	 to	 USD	 8	 billion	 of	 foreign	 direct		
investment	into	infrastructure.

Financial Sector Developments

The	 financial	 sector	 benefited	 from	 strong	 eco-
nomic	 growth.	 The	 banking	 system’s	 aggregate	
loan	 portfolio	 increased	 by	 75%,	 following	 the	
trend	of	recent	years.	Time	deposits	rose	by	51%,	
a	 significantly	 lower	 growth	 rate.	 The	 gap	 be-
tween	total	deposits	and	the	total	loan	portfolio	
increased	to	over	USD	30	billion.	Foreign	invest-
ments	and	borrowings	covered	the	gap,	but	 the	
imbalance	led	to	increased	currency	risks	and	a	
higher	level	of	dollarisation.	

Banks	 passed	 these	 risks	 on	 to	 their	 borrow-
ers	 by	 lending	 to	 individuals	 in	 foreign	 curren-
cies.	Based	on	figures	from	the	National	Bank	of	
Ukraine	 (NBU),	 at	 least	 65%	 of	 the	 outstanding	
volume	of	loans	consisted	of	consumer	loans	and	
mortgages	denominated	in	dollars	and	other	for-
eign	currencies.
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Aggregate	 loans	 to	 private	 borrowers	 grew	 by	
more	than	97%.	Increased	consumer	credit	sup-
ported	 trade,	 but	 without	 transparent	 policies,	
the	banking	sector	and	its	clients	assumed	high	
risks.	 To	 improve	 transparency,	 the	 NBU	 intro-
duced	 a	 regulation	 requiring	 mandatory	 dis-
closure	 of	 effective	 interest	 rates	 on	 consumer	
loans.	 As	 an	 advocate	 of	 transparent	 banking,	
ProCredit	 Bank	 welcomed	 this	 initiative.	 Unfor-
tunately,	many	banks	have	not	yet	fully	complied	
with	this	regulation;	various	legal	loopholes	and	
ineffective	monitoring	by	the	NBU	have	rendered	
it	largely	ineffective.	Many	banks	misrepresented	
the	 true	 costs	 of	 their	 products,	 earning	 abnor-
mally	high	profits	at	the	expense	of	their	clients.	

These	 profits	 attracted	 foreign	 capital.	 For	 the	
third	consecutive	year,	foreign	banks	entered	the	
retail	 banking	 market	 by	 taking	 over	 Ukrainian	
banks.	 The	 purchase	 price	 for	 local	 banks	 was	
among	 the	 highest	 in	 the	 world,	 averaging	 four	
to	 five	 times	 book	 value.	 According	 to	 Dragon	
Capital,	 a	 Kyiv-based	 investment	 bank,	 the	 ac-
quisition	of	20	Ukrainian	banks	led	to	an	inflow	
of	USD	6.8	billion	of	foreign	investment	over	the	
last	three	years.	With	each	purchase	came	large	
capital	 increases	 and	 high	 expectations.	 New	
bank	managers	faced	ambitious	growth	targets.	
These	 incentives	 promoted	 irresponsible	 bank-
ing	practices.	In	this	environment,	the	NBU	faces	
enormous	challenges.	It	must	improve	regulatory	
measures	in	order	to	ensure	that,	in	a	few	years’				
time,	 Ukrainian	 consumers	 will	 be	 able	 to	 look	

back	favourably	at	the	entry	of	foreign	investors	
into	the	Ukrainian	banking	system.

Lending Performance

ProCredit	Bank’s	loan	portfolio	continued	to	de-
velop	 strongly	 despite	 intense	 market	 competi-
tion.	 Our	 year-end	 outstanding	 loan	 portfolio	
grew	 by	 30%	 to	 USD	 390	 million.	 The	 portfo-
lio	 consisted	 of	 nearly	 53,000	 loans	 to	 almost	
45,000	clients,	the	majority	of	whom	were	entre-
preneurs.

The	 bank’s	 portfolio	 structure	 underscored	 its	
commitment	 to	 serving	 very	 small	 businesses	
and	 small	 enterprises.	 Two	 thirds	 of	 the	 total	
outstanding	loan	volume	and	97.8%	of	the	total	
number	of	loans	were	for	amounts	in	the	range	up	
to	USD	50,000.

The	 Express	 Loan	 remained	 the	 bank’s	 most	
popular	product.	Very	small	business	clients	can		
apply	for	loans	of	up	to	USD	10,000	which	require	
no	collateral.	Loan	officers	analyse	and	process	
the	 loans	 and	 prepare	 them	 for	 disbursement	
within	24	hours	of	application.	

ProCredit	 achieved	 healthy	 growth	 in	 the	 small	
and	 medium	 enterprise	 (SME)	 segment	 (loans	
greater	 than	 EUR	 50,000)	 despite	 strong	 mar-
ket	 competition	 from	 Western	 banks	 that	 had		
entered	 the	 local	 market.	 SME	 loans	 finance	
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Business Loan Portfolio – Breakdown by Maturity

< 12 months            12 – 24 months           > 24 months

in %

 100
 90
 80
 70
 60
 50
 40
 30
 20
 10 
 0 

 Jun        Dec        Jun       Dec        Jun        Dec      Jun        Dec
 04                        05                        06                      07   

Loan Portfolio Quality (arrears >30 days)

in % of loan portfolio

 5.0
 4.5
 4.0
 3.5
 3.0
 2.5
 2.0  
 1.5 
 1.0  
 0.5  
 0 

Jun        Dec         Jun         Dec        Jun         Dec         Jun         Dec
04                         05                          06                          07

Net write-offs: in 2004: USD 139,149   
in 2005: USD 578,561   

in 2006: USD 720,638
in 2007: USD 1,362,363

working	capital	and	investments	in	fixed	assets,	
with	maturities	of	up	to	15	years.	Our	SME	client	
base	consists	mainly	of	customers	who	began	as	
very	small	businesses,	expanded	with	our	financ-
ing	support,	and	now	require	 larger	amounts	 to	
continue	growth.	We	also	issue	SME	loans	to	new	
clients	 looking	 for	a	 reliable	 long-term	financial	
partner.	 For	 larger	 companies	 seeking	 flexible	
funding,	 we	 offer	 overdrafts	 and	 credit	 lines;	
these	products	help	clients	to	maintain	sufficient	
liquidity	levels	and	to	finance	working	capital.	

ProCredit	aims	 to	become	 the	“house	bank”	 for	
small	 and	 medium	 enterprises.	 In	 addition	 to	
credit,	 we	 provide	 a	 full	 range	 of	 banking	 ser-
vices	 and	 products	 for	 business	 development,	
including	 money	 transfers,	 foreign	 exchange,	
documentary	 services,	 and	 payroll	 services.	 By	
investing	heavily	in	staff	training,	we	ensure	that	
our	clients	receive	clear	product	information	and	
sound	financial	advice.	These	efforts	have	been	
amply	rewarded,	as	we	have	been	able	to	develop	
many	long-standing	customer	relationships.	

As	a	development-oriented	neighbourhood	bank,	
we	offer	the	ProRepair	loan,	providing	home	im-
provement	financing	for	private	individuals.	The	
outstanding	 ProRepair	 loan	 portfolio	 totalled	
USD	12.5	million,	 representing	nearly	7,000	cli-
ents.	 In	 2008,	 we	 will	 launch	 a	 complementary	
loan	 –	 ProRepair	 Eco.	 This	 product	 encourages	
investments	 in	 energy	 conservation,	 thus	 help-
ing	 to	 combat	 	 environmental	 degradation.	 Its	

introduction	emphasises	the	importance	of	ener-
gy-saving	measures	in	Ukraine,	currently	one	of	
the	world’s	least	energy	efficient	countries.	The	
ProRepair	Eco	programme	was	developed	 in	co-
operation	with	KfW	and	IFC.

ProCredit	 Bank	 Ukraine	 offers	 fair	 and	 trans-
parent	 products	 and	 services.	 Our	 method	 of	
thoroughly	 analysing	 each	 client’s	 ability	 and	
willingness	 to	 repay	 their	 debt	 sets	 us	 apart	
from	 other	 financial	 institutions.	 This	 strategy		
enables	us	to	achieve	high	loan	portfolio	quality:	
our	portfolio	at	risk	 (PAR,	 i.e.	 loan	 in	arrears	by	
more	 than	 30	 days)	 was	 0.98%	 as	 of	 December	
31.	Only	0.4%	of	 the	outstanding	 loan	portfolio	
was	rescheduled,	and	the	bank’s	total	write-offs	
amounted	to	only	0.7%	at	year-end.

The	 rapid	 growth	 and	 high	 quality	 of	 our	 loan	
portfolio	 would	 not	 have	 been	 possible	 without	
the	commitment	and	professionalism	of	our	em-
ployees.	 We	 invest	 heavily	 in	 professional	 de-
velopment	 measures	 for	 our	 existing	 staff	 and	
comprehensive	 training	 programmes	 for	 new	
employees.	 In-house	 trainers	 run	 three	 on-go-
ing	 courses	 for	 all	 levels	 of	 loan	 officers,	 credit	
risk	managers,	and	back	office	staff.	These	pro-
grammes	 strengthen	 staff	 motivation	 and	 com-
mitment	 and	 help	 us	 to	 achieve	 our	 business	
targets.
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Other Banking Services

ProCredit	Bank	aims	to	increase	the	share	of	cus-
tomer	deposits	in	its	funding	base	and	to	foster	a	
“savings	culture”	among	Ukrainian	households.	
Our	 retail	 banking	 strategy	 relies	 on	 simple,	
straightforward	products	and	excellent	customer	
service.	Our	client	advisers	proactively	approach	
clients	 by	 visiting	 their	 neighbourhoods	 and	
personally	 meeting	 prospective	 clients.	 Direct	
communication	 encourages	 people,	 particularly	
those	 who	 may	 not	 have	 previously	 dealt	 with	
a	 financial	 institution,	 to	 have	 confidence	 in		
ProCredit	Bank	and	helps	to	build	confidence	in	
the	banking	system	in	general.

In	2007,	customer	deposits	grew	by	42%	to	more	
than	USD	220	million	(including	accrued	interest).	
The	number	of	account	holders	increased	by	23%	
to	 over	 100,000.	 Eighty	 percent	 of	 our	 clients’	
accounts	held	balances	of	less	than	USD	1,000.	
These	figures	indicate	that	our	target	group	con-
tinues	to	gain	trust	in	ProCredit	Bank.	They	also	
reflect	a	steady	rise	in	income	and	in	the	level	of	
formalisation	in	the	Ukrainian	economy.

Introduced	in	2005,	our	Savings	Programme	con-
tinued	to	be	popular	with	retail	clients.	The	bank	
increased	 its	 number	 of	 savings	 accounts	 by	
139%	to	13,700.	The	volume	 in	accounts	nearly	
doubled,	 rising	 to	 USD	 30	 million	 by	 year-end.	
The	 Savings	 Programme	 offers	 high	 flexibil-
ity	 (additional	deposits	and	withdrawals	can	be	

made	 at	 any	 time)	 and	 requires	 a	 low	 minimum	
balance	 (USD	 10).	 By	 offering	 these	 features	
with	a	competitive	interest	rate,	this	product	suc-
cessfully	 mobilises	 deposits	 and	 diversifies	 the	
bank’s	funding	base.	

We	offer	a	wide	range	of	other	retail	banking	ser-
vices	and	continuously	develop	new	products	to	
meet	our	clients’	requirements.	As	we	have	aimed	
for	higher	efficiency,	payment	cards	and	electron-
ic	banking	services	have	become	more	important.	
ProCredit	 Bank	 operated	 70	 ATMs	 at	 year-end.	
The	 30,000	 clients	 currently	 holding	 ProCredit	
cards	 can	 access	 basic	 services	 (i.e.	 money	
withdrawal,	 checking	 account	 balances,	 mobile	
phone	and	insurance	payments)	24	hours	a	day.	
Internet	 banking	 allows	 clients	 to	 access	 their		
accounts	 online	 from	 all	 over	 the	 world.	 By	 the	
end	of	the	year,	the	number	of	e-banking	clients	
had	 risen	 to	 1,760,	 and	 the	 electronic	 banking	
system	had	processed	about	700,000	payments.	
Total	volume	amounted	to	USD	1.3	billion,	repre-
senting	growth	of	53%	compared	with	the	previ-
ous	year.	We	expect	the	use	of	electronic	banking	
services	to	continue	to	grow	rapidly	as	the	Inter-
net	becomes	more	accessible	across	the	country.

ProCredit	Bank	Ukraine	executed	USD	1.4	billion	
in	 domestic	 payment	 transactions,	 represent-
ing	growth	of	22%	compared	with	 	the	previous	
year.	International	payment	transactions	totalled	
25,000	 and	 amounted	 to	 USD	 172.6	 million.	
The	 total	 volume	 of	 money	 transfers	 grew,	 with	
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domestic	 transfers	 reaching	 close	 to	 USD	 3	 bil-
lion	 and	 international	 transfers	 totalling	 almost		
USD	300	million.

As	part	of	our	commitment	to	customer	service,	
we	improved	the	contact	centre’s	ability	to	meet	
client	 requests.	 Free	 of	 charge,	 the	 centre	 is		
accessible	 from	 all	 over	 the	 country	 to	 locate		
ProCredit	 branches	 and	 obtain	 information	
on	 available	 banking	 services.	 It	 serves	 as	 an		
effective	 tool	 for	 gathering	 client	 feedback	 and	
directly	 addressing	 complaints.	 By	 centralis-
ing	 these	 functions	 in	 the	 contact	 centre,	 we	
improved	 the	 efficiency	 of	 the	 branches’	 front	
office	 operations.	 Three	 structural	 units	 within	
the	centre	ensure	well-organised	processes,	and	
all	 employees	 undergo	 extensive	 professional	
training.	Based	on	our	clients’	positive	response	
to	the	contact	centre,	we	will	 further	expand	its	
services	in	2008.	We	wish	to	develop	this	tool	as	
a	reliable	means	of	communication	between	the	
bank	and	its	current	and	potential	customers.	

The	 success	 of	 our	 retail	 business	 proves	 that	
customers	 value	 our	 straightforward	 and	 trans-
parent	approach	and	our	high	 level	of	customer	
service.	 We	 will	 continue	 to	 develop	 efficient	
business	 processes	 in	 2008	 by	 implementing	
new	banking	software.	This	system	will	comple-
ment	 our	 simplified	 processes	 and	 reorganised	
branch	 structure.	 Although	 the	 system	 offers	
vital	support,	 the	most	 important	component	of	
customer	care	is	our	staff.	We	are	convinced	that	
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our	training	efforts	to	maintain	high	quality	staff	
are	a	worthwhile	investment	in	the	future	of	our	
institution.

Financial Results

In	 2007,	 ProCredit	 Bank	 Ukraine	 maintained	 its	
strong	financial	position	and	its	role	as	a	key	in-
stitution	in	the	market.	Total	assets	grew	by	29%,	
reaching	USD	454	million.	The	loan	portfolio	con-
stituted	84%	of	total	assets.	It	increased	by	30%	

from	USD	299	million	to	USD	390	million.	These	
growth	 rates	 reflect	 ProCredit	 Bank’s	 business	
development	 strategy,	 which	 combines	 rapid		
expansion	with	a	firm	commitment	to	responsible	
growth	 and	 prudent	 risk	 management.	 Charac-
terised	 by	 aggressive	 lending	 and	 irresponsible	
credit	 policies,	 the	 Ukrainian	 banking	 system	
reported	 considerably	 higher	 growth	 rates.	 But	
ProCredit	Bank	Ukraine	strove	for,	and	achieved,	
substantial	growth	in	its	loan	portfolio	and	high	
asset	quality.
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ProCredit	 Bank	 ended	 2007	 with	 a	 net	 profit	 of	
more	than	USD	3	million.	The	bank’s	profitability	
indicators,	 including	 net	 profit	 (2006:	 4.6	 mil-
lion)	and	return	on	equity	(2006:	15.07%;	2007:	
7.63%),	 declined	 from	 2006.	 These	 declines	 re-
sulted	 from	 our	 substantial	 regional	 expansion	
and	staff	development	activities,	which	required	
greater	expenditures	this	year	compared	to	pre-
vious	 years.	 Major	 cost	 factors	 included	 staff	
salaries,	construction	and	renovation	costs,	and	
increased	 rent	 payments.	 In	 addition,	 ProCredit	
Bank	 Ukraine	 continued	 to	 give	 a	 high	 priority	
to	training	and	professional	development	for	 its	
employees,	investing	more	than	USD	1	million	in	
training	during	the	year.

Strong	growth	in	customer	deposits	(+42%)	kept	
the	share	of	our	total	funds	provided	by	interna-
tional	financial	institutions	(IFIs)	low	(30%).	With	
the	savings	of	private	individuals	accounting	for	
the	 largest	 proportion	 of	 the	 bank’s	 liabilities,	
we	retained	a	diversified	funding	base.	ProCredit	
Bank	Ukraine	regards	borrowings	from	IFIs	as	an	
important	source	of	funding;	provided	under	fair	
terms	 and	 favourable	 conditions,	 they	 simplify	
the	 task	 of	 matching	 the	 currency	 and	 maturity	
structures	of	the	bank’s	assets	and	liabilities.	In	
2007,	 ProCredit	 Bank	 Ukraine	 obtained	 USD	 27	
million	under	a	syndicated	loan	agreement	with	
the	EBRD.	As	part	of	a	new	energy	efficiency	proj-
ect,	KfW	extended	a	credit	line	for	USD	20	million.	
In	 2008,	 the	 IFC	 will	 also	 support	 this	 initiative	
by	providing	financing	on	terms	similar	to	those	
agreed	for	the	credit	line	from	KfW.

In	September,	Fitch	Ratings	confirmed	ProCredit	
Bank’s	 BB–	 long-term	 issuer	 default	 rating	
with	a	positive	outlook,	as	well	as	 its	AAA	(ukr)		
national	 long-term	 rating	 with	 a	 stable	 outlook.	
The	bank’s	 international	ratings,	though	limited	
by	the	country	ceiling	(BB-),	continued	to	be	the	
highest	awarded	in	Ukraine.

After	achieving	a	solid	profit	 in	2006,	ProCredit	
Bank	Ukraine	paid	out	dividends	to	its	sharehold-
ers	 for	 the	 first	 time.	 The	 total	 dividend	 payout	
equalled	 USD	 4	 million	 and	 reflects	 the	 bank’s	
stability	and	financial	soundness.	Due	to	a	con-
siderable	increase	in	share	capital	during	2006,	
capital	adequacy	ratios	remained	well	above	the	
minimum	 levels	 required	 by	 local	 and	 interna-
tional	regulations.

We	 should	 note	 an	 important	 change	 in	 the	
bank’s	shareholder	structure,	which	we	expect	to	
finalise	in	2008.	ProCredit	Holding	exercised	its	
call	option	in	2007	to	purchase	the	EBRD’s	20%	
share	in	the	bank.	We	are	currently	awaiting	for-
mal	approval	from	the	National	Bank	of	Ukraine.

Outlook 

With	a	presidential	election	approaching	in	2009,	
we	 expect	 an	 ongoing	 power	 struggle	 between	
political	parties	and	leaders.	This	political	infight-
ing	will	hinder	urgently	reforms:	to	strengthen	the	
judicial	system,	curb	widespread	corruption	and	
remove	bureaucratic	impediments	to	growth.

Breakthroughs	in	WTO	negotiations	and	the	cur-
rent	 government’s	 western	 orientation	 will	 pro-
mote	 integration	 into	 the	 global	 economy	 and	
increase	 Ukraine’s	 appeal	 to	 foreign	 investors.	
As	one	of	the	world’s	largest	producers	of	steel,	
Ukraine’s	 economic	 performance	 will	 benefit	
from	 current	 high	 world	 market	 prices.	 We	 ex-
pect	 the	 scale	 and	 aggressiveness	 of	 competi-
tion	 in	 the	 financial	 sector	 to	 persist	 as	 foreign	
banks	 try	 to	 capture	 market	 share.	 ProCredit	
Bank	Ukraine	will	continue	to	set	 itself	apart	by	
providing	 small	 enterprises	 and	 private	 house-
holds	 with	 a	 responsible	 banking	 alternative.	

ProCredit	 Bank	 Ukraine	 will	 proceed	 with	 its	
steady	 expansion	 plans.	 We	 are	 convinced	 that	
ProCredit’s	responsible	approach	to	banking	will	
increase	 confidence	 in	 our	 institution.	 To	 meet	
our	clients’	requirements,	we	will	continue	to	add	
branches	 to	 our	 network	 and	 to	 focus	 on	 staff	
training	and	development.	Top	management	and	
department	heads	will	support	middle	managers	
as	they	motivate	and	develop	our	young,	enthu-
siastic	staff.	We	will	enhance	professional	devel-
opment	programmes	for	existing	credit	and	retail	
staff,	allowing	our	employees	to	build	strong	and	
stable	careers	in	the	bank.	

Finally,	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 neighbourhood	
bank	concept,	we	will	encourage	our	employees	
to	continue	carrying	out	community	improvement	
projects	 and	 educational	 events.	 We	 are	 confi-
dent	that	in	addition	to	directly	helping	members	
of	the	community,	these	projects	raise	the	level	
of	social	awareness	among	our	employees.
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The	 banking	 boom	 in	 Ukraine	 has	 attracted	 a	
great	 deal	 of	 attention.	 International	 banking	
groups	have	paid	record-high	price-to-book	mul-
tiples	 for	 several	 Ukrainian	 banks	 and	 injected	
considerable	equity	into	the	newly	acquired	insti-	
tutions.	 Market	 participants	 are	 under	 strong	
pressure	 to	achieve	rapid	asset	growth.	Ukrain-	
ian	 banks	 whose	 shareholders	 are	 eager	 to	 sell	
to	foreign	investors	are	also	compelled	to	boost	
their	 performance.	 In	 this	 environment,	 banks	
pursue	short-term	profit	maximisation	with	little	
consideration	for	the	sustainability	or	social	im-
pacts	of	their	lending	practices.

As	 banks	 have	 aggressively	 pushed	 their	 prod-
ucts	 to	 gain	 market	 share,	 clients	 have	 taken	
on	 substantial	 amounts	 of	 debt	 without	 under-
standing	 the	 real	 cost	 of	 their	 loans.	 Providers	
of	 consumer	 loans	 often	 target	 lower-income	
people	 who	 have	 little	 experience	 with	 banking	
services.	Very	often	banks	or	retail	shops	adver-
tise	 0%	 interest	 rates	 for	 loans	 whose	 effective	

rates	exceed	60%	per	annum	(taking	into	account	
monthly	 commissions	 on	 initial	 loan	 amounts	
and	 other	 hidden	 fees).	 Such	 misleading	 adver-
tising	is	clearly	aimed	at	luring	uninformed	peo-
ple	into	debt.	Recent	experience	in	some	Western	
markets	 has	 shown	 that	 banks	 consider	 less-	
informed,	lower-income	groups	an	especially	at-
tractive	market:	once	such	clients	have	become	
over-indebted,	they	have	no	choice	but	to	accept	
high	commissions	and	interest	rates	on	resched-
uled	loans.	These	practices	can	lead	to	rising	de-
fault	rates,	undermining	the	financial	sector	and	
social	stability.

Since	 its	 inception,	 ProCredit	 Bank	 Ukraine	 has	
adhered	 to	 the	 principles	 of	 fair	 lending,	 which	
obligate	it	to	ensure	that	the	terms	and	conditions	
for	loan	disbursement	and	repayment	are	trans-
parent;	that	loan	pricing	is	straightforward,	with	
no	hidden	commissions;	and	 that	 loan	amounts	
do	not	exceed	clients’	debt	capacity.	In	Ukraine,	
many	 banks	 no	 longer	 require	 documentation	
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certifying	applicants’	incomes	or	ability	to	repay	
their	loans.	“Credit	analysis”	is	typically	based	on	
standardised	scoring	and	screening	procedures,	
which	do	not	adequately	assess	prospective	bor-
rowers’	repayment	capacity.	ProCredit	Bank	uses	
a	personal,	case-by-case	approach	that	is	highly	
personnel-intensive.	It	rarely	leads	to	situations	
in	 which	 borrowers	 cannot	 repay	 their	 loans.	 In	
2007,	 the	 portfolio	 at	 risk	 comprised	 0.98%	 of	
the	 total	 loan	 portfolio.	 This	 high	 loan	 portfo-
lio	 quality	 demonstrates	 that,	 even	 the	 difficult		
environment	of	Ukraine,	it	is	possible	to	achieve	
high	and	sustainable	loan	portfolio	growth	while	
taking	a	responsible	approach	to	lending.

In	 August	 2007,	 ProCredit	 Bank	 Ukraine	 re-
launched	its	“Fair	Loans	for	Private	Businesses”	
campaign	 to	 promote	 greater	 transparency	 in	
the	banking	sector.	We	organised	various	finan-
cial	 education	 activities	 throughout	 the	 year,	
including	 open	 branch	 days	 for	 students	 from	
local	 schools	 and	 universities	 and	 seminars	 for	
private	 entrepreneurs.	 These	 events	 were	 de-
signed	to	inform	people	about	the	role	of	banks	
in	the	economy,	standard	banking	products	and	
services,	and	the	benefits	of	saving.	During	the	
year,	our	educational	activities	attracted	almost	
7,000	 students	 from	 roughly	 100	 local	 schools	
and	universities.	

Promoting	 financial	 sector	 development	 in	 a		
responsible	 way	 takes	 time	 and	 a	 great	 deal	 of	
hard	work.	 It	 requires	stable	 institutions	whose	
owners	have	a	long	time	horizon	and	whose	staff	
are	 well	 trained	 and	 can	 win	 customers’	 trust.	
This	is	precisely	the	focus	of	our	efforts	in	an	in-
creasingly	difficult	environment.
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Risk Management

ProCredit	 Bank’s	 commitment	 to	 running	 a	 low-
risk	financial	institution	is	an	important	aspect	of	
its	 pledge	 to	 be	 a	 reliable	 neighbour	 and	 bank-
ing	partner	for	its	customers.	In	Ukraine’s	turbu-
lent	political	and	business	environment,	prudent	
and	 consistent	 management	 of	 banking	 risks	 is		
essential.	

ProCredit	Bank	implements	effective	risk	manage-
ment	processes	and	procedures,	and	it	cultivates	
a	culture	of	risk	awareness	among	its	managers	
and	employees.	The	bank’s	clear	procedures	en-
sure	 timely	 identification,	 sound	 assessment,	
reliable	control,	and	effective	mitigation	of	risks	
for	 each	 banking	 transaction.	 Responsibility	 for	
managing	risks	lies	with	the	bank’s	management.	

Credit Risk

The	risk	associated	with	the	bank’s	core	business	
activity	–	credit	risk	–	is	addressed	through	the	
ProCredit	group’s	highly	developed	lending	meth-
odology.	Its	rigorous,	formalised	procedures	for	
counterparty	 analysis	 and	 monitoring	 involve	
scrutiny	of	each	exposure	by	a	competent	Credit	
Committee	at	the	appropriate	level.	Even	for	the	
smallest	loans,	each	borrower	receives	the	indi-
vidual	attention	of	a	bank	specialist.	As	a	matter	
of	principle,	the	bank	does	not	take	“automated”	
credit	decisions	based	on	scoring	systems	or	oth-
er	overly	simplified	evaluation	strategies.	

The	 bank’s	 overall	 business	 strategy	 is	 a	 key	
factor	 in	 ensuring	 its	 low	 risk	 profile.	 Through	
the	 ProCredit	 group’s	 “neighbourhood	 bank”	
concept,	the	institution	sees	itself	as	an	integral	
part	of	the	communities	it	serves	and	maintains	
close	relationships	with	its	customers.	ProCredit	
Bank’s	branches	know	their	borrowers	well.	This	
high	 quality	 information	 enables	 the	 bank	 to	
make	sound	credit	decisions	and	to	operate	more	
efficiently.	Since	ProCredit	bank	focuses	on	pro-
viding	small	loans	to	a	large	number	of	small	and	
very	small	enterprises,	its	loan	portfolio	is	highly	
diversified,	minimising	the	risk	that	a	default	by	a	
single	borrower	or	group	of	borrowers	will	have	a	
substantial	adverse	impact	on	portfolio	quality.

At	the	portfolio	level,	credit	risk	is	regularly	mon-
itored	by	the	Risk	Management	Department	and	
controlled	 by	 the	 General	 Risk	 Committee.	 This	

ensures	that	 the	bank	 is	not	exposed	to	signifi-
cant	 credit	 risk	 concentrations.	 The	 bank	 main-
tained	 high	 loan	 portfolio	 quality	 in	 2007;	 the	
portfolio	at	 risk	 (arrears	over	30	days)	was	 less	
than	1%	as	of	the	end	of	the	year.

Market Risk

Market	 risks	 are	 managed	 by	 the	 Assets	 and		
Liabilities	Committee.	The	members	of	the	bank’s	
management	board	sit	on	this	body,	which	meets	
weekly	 to	 monitor	 ProCredit’s	 open	 currency		
positions,	 interest-rate	 mismatch	 and	 duration	
gap.	The	bank’s	policy	is	to	close	open	positions	
wherever	 possible.	 ProCredit	 Bank’s	 exposure	
to	market	risk	is	low	because	it	does	not	engage	
in	any	speculative	lines	of	business.	Foreign	ex-
change	and	money	market	operations	are	carried	
out	only	to	close,	or	to	limit,	open	positions.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity	 risk	 is	 also	 closely	 monitored	 by	 the		
Assets	 and	 Liabilities	 Committee.	 The	 bank’s	
cash	 flows	 are	 assessed,	 planned	 and	 forecast	
on	a	day-to-day	basis,	taking	into	consideration	
normal	 and	 stress	 scenarios	 in	 all	 currencies.	
This	approach	enables	the	bank	to	meet	its	pay-
ment	obligations	in	full	and	on	time.	It	provides	
sufficient	funding	for	growth	even	when	there	is	
a	shortage	of	liquidity	in	the	market.	The	advan-	
tages	of	this	system	were	underscored	by	events	
in	 late	 2007,	 when	 ProCredit	 Bank	 was	 able	 to	
continue	 issuing	 foreign	 currency	 loans	 when	
many	other	banks	in	Ukraine	were	forced	to	sus-
pend	lending	of	this	type	because	the	sub-prime	
debt	crisis	had	made	it	difficult	to	obtain	onlend-
ing	funds	in	foreign	currencies.

Operational Risk

ProCredit	 Bank	 recognises	 the	 operational	 risk	
that	arises	 from	rapid	growth	and	pays	particu-
larly	close	attention	to	this	area	of	risk	manage-
ment.	 Straightforward	 procedures,	 continuous	
staff	training,	compliance	by	all	employees	with	
the	Code	of	Conduct,	and	a	policy	of	internal	and	
external	 transparency	 are	 essential	 factors	 for	
mitigating	operational	risks	within	the	bank.	
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Risk Management

The	 bank’s	 business	 procedures	 conform	 to	
recognised	 best	 practices	 in	 the	 area	 of	 opera-
tional	 risk	 control,	 and	 they	 are	 clearly	 defined	
and	documented.	Proper	segregation	of	duties	is	
strictly	maintained,	as	is	adherence	to	the	“four-
eyes	principle”.	All	business	processes	are	sub-
ject	to	independent	monitoring	and	review	by	the	
bank’s	 Internal	 Audit	 Department.	 Specialised	
operational	 risk	 managers	 continuously	 track	
and	 analyse	 the	 bank’s	 operational	 risk	 expo-
sure	–	both	actual	and	potential	–	and	implement	
risk-mitigating	measures	in	cooperation	with	the	
relevant	units	within	the	 institution.	The	Opera-
tional	 Risk	 Committee	 includes	 members	 of	 the	
bank’s	management	board	and	can	act	quickly	to	
address	potential	risks.

In	2007	the	ProCredit	group	developed	a	group-
wide	 risk	 policy	 and	 risk	 manuals.	 Within	 the	
Basel	 II	 framework,	 these	 tools	 provide	 for	
the	 implementation	 of	 international	 best	 prac-
tices	 for	 risk	 management	 in	 ProCredit	 banks	
while	 strengthening	 support	 at	 the	 group	 level.		
The	 risk	 management	 team	 at	 ProCredit	 Bank	
Ukraine	 was	 one	 of	 three	 experienced	 teams	
within	 the	 ProCredit	 group	 that	 took	 part	 in	 the	
development	and	implementation	of	the	risk	man-
agement	framework.	The	team	held	workshops	in	
Eastern	Europe,	Africa	and	Latin	America.
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Branch NetworkBranch Network

ProCredit	Bank	continued	to	enlarge	its	network	
in	2007	by	adding	12	branches	across	the	coun-
try.	The	bank	has	doubled	the	size	of	its	branch	
network	over	 the	 last	 two	years,	and	 it	 finished	
2007	with	64	branches	operating	in	27	cities.

We	 opened	 branches	 across	 the	 country	 but		
focused	on	strengthening	our	presence	in	cities	
where	 ProCredit	 has	 operated	 for	 some	 time.	
The	bank	opened	four	more	branches	in	Kyiv.	As	
the	largest	banking	market	in	Ukraine,	Kyiv	is	of	
particular	 importance	 in	 terms	 of	 deposit	 mobi-	
lisation.	 We	 expanded	 our	 presence	 in	 Kharkiv,	
Odessa,	Dnipropetrovsk,	Lviv,	Poltava	and	Mari-
upol,	adding	a	branch	in	each	of	these	cities.	To	
further	extend	its	outreach,	the	bank	entered	new	
markets	 by	 opening	 branches	 in	 Melitopol	 and	
Vinnitsa.	 We	 have	 also	 purchased	 premises	 in	
Mykolaev	and	will	begin	operations	there	at	the	
beginning	of	2008.	All	branches	conform	to	 the	

ProCredit	 group’s	 corporate	 design	 standards,	
which	seek	to	create	an	open	and	friendly	atmo-
sphere	 and	 to	 communicate	 our	 commitment	 to	
transparency.

As	part	of	their	consumer	lending	campaigns,	for-
eign	banks	in	Ukraine	have	attempted	to	quickly	
set	up	as	many	small	sales	outlets	as	possible.	
In	contrast,	ProCredit	Bank	Ukraine	has	preferred	
steady	and	stable	growth	of	its	branch	network,	
focusing	on	quality,	not	quantity.	We	plan	to	open	
one	branch	per	month	in	2008.	

This	 ambitious	 strategy	 requires	 organisational	
structures	at	the	regional	level	to	support	branch	
management	 and	 specific	 operational	 depart-
ments	 (credit,	 SME	 development,	 credit	 back	
office,	and	retail	banking).	The	bank	is	currently	
setting	 up	 regional	 centres	 headed	 by	 teams	 of	
three	 to	 five	 regional	 managers	 who	 are	 select-
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ed	 from	 among	 our	 best	 branch	 managers.	 Two		
regional	management	groups	have	already	been	
set	 up	 in	 Kyiv	 and	 in	 western	 Ukraine	 (Lviv).		
Regional	 management	 teams	 will	 significantly	
improve	 the	 ability	 of	 the	 head	 office	 to	 guide	
and	supervise	branch	operations,	while	retaining	
fast,	decentralised	decision-making	procedures.	
With	these	new	organisational	structures,	it	will	
be	feasible	for	the	bank	to	expand	its	branch	net-
work	to	more	than	100	branches.
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ProCredit	 Bank	 Ukraine	 aims	 to	 provide	 profes-
sional	customer	service	and	transparent	products	
that	have	a	positive	impact	on	our	communities.	
We	seek	to	ensure	that	all	our	staff	take	personal	
responsibility	 for	 the	quality	of	our	services.	To	
maintain	our	identity	as	we	grow,	we	must	care-
fully	select	employees	and	managers	who	share	
our	values.	

ProCredit	 Bank	 actively	 recruits	 and	 hires	 stu-
dents,	 university	 graduates	 and	 young	 profes-
sionals	 who	 want	 to	 work	 in	 an	 environment	
characterised	 by	 open	 communication	 and	 who	
are	eager	to	gain	professional	skills.	In	2007	we	
hired	771	employees	to	support	the	bank’s	rapid	
branch	network	expansion	programme.	The	bank	
selected	branch	managers	from	its	highly	expe-
rienced	staff	and	delegated	significant	responsi-
bility	to	them	to	recruit	and	train	employees.	

As	 a	 growing	 institution,	 ProCredit	 Bank	 has		
always	attached	great	importance	to	staff	devel-
opment.	In	2006,	we	set	up	a	local	training	cen-
tre	where	we	offer	basic	training	for	all	standard	
positions	 and	 “refresher”	 courses	 for	 advanced	
specialists	and	managers.	The	 integration	of	an	

employee	into	the	ProCredit	team	begins	on	his	or	
her	first	day,	when	supervisors	present	the	bank’s	
Code	of	Conduct	and	corporate	values.	Each	em-
ployee	 participates	 in	 an	 introductory	 seminar,	
a	 two-day	 interactive	 course	 devoted	 to	 topics	
such	as	the	history	and	mission	of	the	ProCredit	
group,	 financing	 for	 very	 small	 businesses,		
ProCredit’s	values,	and	the	neighbourhood	bank	
concept.	New	employees	meet	the	members	of	the	
bank’s	executive	management,	who	give	them	an	
overview	of	the	functions	and	responsibilities	of	
each	head	office	department.	This	orientation	is	
followed	by	classroom	instruction	and	intensive	
on-the-job	training	that	enables	staff	to	gain	the	
technical	skills	required	for	their	jobs.

In	 2007,	 we	 established	 an	 in-house	 manage-
ment	training	programme,	in	which	middle	man-
agers	 take	 courses	 on	 topics	 such	 as	 communi-	
cation	skills	and	staff	and	business	management.	
Our	highest-potential	middle	and	senior	manag-
ers	receive	intensive	training	at	the	the	ProCredit	
Academy	 in	 Germany,	 which	 was	 founded	 by		
ProCredit	Holding	in	2006.	Eight	of	the	bank’s	man-
agers	 attended	 the	 ProCredit	 Academy	 in	 2007.	
In	 early	 2007,	 the	 group	 opened	 the	 ProCredit	

Organisation, Staff and Staff Development

A n n u a l 	 R e p o r t 	 2 0 0 7�0



Organisation, Staff and Staff Development

Regional	Academy	for	Eastern	Europe	in	Skopje,	
Macedonia.	 Ten	 of	 our	 bank’s	 middle	 managers	
attended	the	Regional	Academy	during	the	year.	
The	ProCredit	Language	Centre	began	operations	
in	 Germany	 in	 mid-2007,	 providing	 English	 lan-
guage	 training	 to	 middle	 managers	 from	 across	
the	group.	These	language	courses	complement-
ed	 the	 in-house	 English	 classes	 that	 ProCredit	
Bank	Ukraine	offers	to	employees	at	all	levels.	

Our	staff	also	had	the	opportunity	to	participate	
in	international	exchange	programmes	with	other	
ProCredit	institutions.	Through	these	initiatives,	
24	 employees	 exchanged	 knowledge	 and	 expe-
riences	with	colleagues	from	other	national	and	
cultural	backgrounds.	

Many	of	our	branch	and	head	office	staff	become	
involved	 in	 their	 local	 communities	 by	 organis-
ing	projects	that	improve	the	quality	of	life	in	the		
areas	we	serve.	These	initiatives	are	highly	effec-
tive	as	a	means	of	building	team	spirit,	motivat-
ing	our	employees,	and	strengthening	the	social	
competence	and	leadership	skills	of	our	staff.
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Part	of	the	overall	mission	of	the	ProCredit	group	
is	 to	 set	 standards	 in	 the	 financial	 sectors	 in	
which	we	operate.	We	want	to	make	a	difference	
not	 only	 in	 terms	 of	 the	 target	 groups	 we	 serve	
and	the	quality	of	the	financial	services	we	pro-
vide,	but	also	with	regard	to	business	ethics.	Our	
strong	 corporate values	 play	 a	 key	 role	 in	 this	
respect.	We	have	established	six	essential	prin-
ciples	 which	 guide	 the	 operations	 of	 ProCredit	
institutions:

•	 Transparency:	 We	 adhere	 to	 the	 principle	 of		
	 providing	transparent	information	both	to	our		
	 customers	and	the	general	public	and	to	our		
	 employees,	 and	 our	 conduct	 is	 straightfor-	
	 ward	and	open;
•	 A culture of open communication:	We	are	open,	
	 fair	 and	 constructive	 in	 our	 communication		
	 with	 each	 other,	 and	 deal	 with	 conflicts	 at		
	 work	 in	 a	 professional	 manner,	 working		
	 together	to	find	solutions;
•	 Social responsibility and tolerance:	We	give		
	 our	clients	sound	advice;	their	economic	and		
	 financial	 situation,	 their	 potential	 and	 their		
	 capacities	are	assessed	so	that	they	can	bene-	
	 fit	from	appropriate	“products”;	promoting	a		
	 culture	of	savings	is	important	to	us;	we	are		
	 committed	to	treating	all	customers	and	em-	
	 ployees	respectfully	and	fairly,	regardless	of		
	 their	origin,	colour,	language,	gender	or	reli-	
	 gious	or	political	beliefs;
•	 Service orientation:	Every	client	 is	served	in		
	 a	friendly,	competent	and	courteous	manner.		
	 Our	 employees	 are	 committed	 to	 providing		
	 excellent	service	to	all	customers,	regardless		
	 of	their	background	or	the	size	of	their	busi-	
	 ness;
•	 High professional standards:	Every	employee		
	 takes	responsibility	for	the	quality	of	his/her		
	 work	and	strives	to	do	his/her	job	even	better;	
•	 A high degree of personal commitment:	This		
	 goes	 hand-in-hand	 with	 personal	 integrity		
	 and	honesty	–	traits	which	are	required	of	all		
	 employees	in	all	ProCredit	institutions.

These	 ProCredit	 values	 represent	 the	 backbone	
of	 our	 corporate	 culture	 and	 are	 discussed	 and	
actively	 applied	 in	 our	 day-to-day	 operations.	
Moreover,	they	are	reflected	in	the	Code	of	Con-
duct,	 which	 transforms	 the	 ProCredit	 group’s	
ethical	principles	into	practical	guidelines	for	all	
ProCredit	staff.	To	make	sure	that	new	staff	fully	

understand	 all	 of	 the	 principles	 that	 have	 been	
defined,	the	induction	training	for	new	employees	
includes	dedicated	sessions	dealing	exclusively	
with	 the	 Code	 of	 Conduct	 and	 its	 significance	
for	all	members	of	our	team.	And	to	ensure	that	
employees	remain	committed	to	our	high	ethical	
standards	and	are	made	aware	of	new	issues	and	
developments	 which	 have	 an	 ethical	 dimension	
for	 our	 institution,	 refresher	 training	 sessions	
–	at	which	case	studies	are	presented	and	grey	
areas	 discussed	 –	 are	 regularly	 conducted	 for		
existing	staff.

Another	 aspect	 of	 ensuring	 that	 our	 institution	
adheres	 to	 the	 highest	 ethical	 standards	 is	 our	
consistent	 application	 of	 international	 best-	
practice	methods	and	procedures	to	protect	our-
selves	 from	 being	 used	 as	 a	 vehicle	 for	 money	
laundering	or	other	illegal	activities	such	as	the	
financing	 of	 terrorist	 activities.	 The	 important		
focus	 here	 is	 to	 “know	 your	 customer”,	 and,	 in	
line	with	this	principle,	to	carry	out	sound	report-
ing	and	comply	with	the	applicable	regulations.

We	 also	 set	 standards	 regarding	 the	 impact	
of	 our	 lending	 operations	 on	 the	 environment.		
ProCredit	Bank	Ukraine	has	implemented	an	en-
vironmental	 management	 system	
based	on	continuous	assessment	of	
the	loan	portfolio	according	to	en-
vironmental	 criteria,	 an	 in-depth	
analysis	 of	 all	 economic	 acti-	
vities	 which	 potentially	 involve	
environmental	 risks,	 and	 the	 re-
jection	of	loan	applications	from	
enterprises	 engaged	 in	 activi-
ties	which	are	deemed	environ-
mentally	hazardous	and	appear	
on	 our	 institution’s	 exclusion	
list.	 By	 incorporating	 environ-
mental	 issues	 into	 the	 loan	
approval	 process,	 ProCredit	
Bank	 Ukraine	 is	 also	 able	 to	
raise	 its	 clients’	 overall	 level	 of	
environmental	awareness.	We	ensure	that	when	
loan	applications	are	evaluated,	compliance	with	
ethical	business	practices	is	a	key	consideration.	
No	 loans	 are	 issued	 to	 enterprises	 or	 individu-
als	if	it	is	suspected	that	they	are	making	use	of		
unsafe	or	morally	objectionable	forms	of	labour,	
in	particular	child	labour.

Business Ethics and Environmental Standards
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Our Clients

After	seeing	a	television	commercial	in	2001	ad-
vertising	ProCredit	Bank’s	small	business	loans,	
Sergey	 Afanasenkov	 rushed	 to	 a	 brand-new	
ProCredit	 branch.	 This	 toy-maker	 became	 one	
of	 the	 branch’s	 first	 clients,	 applying	 for	 a	 loan	
to	 expand	 his	 small	 business.	 With	 ProCredit	
Bank’s	 support,	 the	 enterprise	 has	 continued	
growing	 strongly.	 The	 Afanasenkov	 family	 has	
three	accounts	at	ProCredit	Bank	Ukraine,	includ-
ing	 a	 deposit	 account	 opened	 last	 year	 by	 the	
youngest	family	member,	Daniil.

When	 the	 Afanasenkov	 family	 established	 their	
company,	“ANNA”,	 in	1992,	safe	 toys	were	hard	
to	find	in	Ukraine.	Most	toys	on	the	market	came	
from	 foreign	 manufacturers,	 and	 although	 they	
cost	 less	 than	 Ukrainian	 products,	 they	 were	
poorly	made	and	often	defective.	Mr.	Afanasen-
kov	 and	 his	 family	 saw	 a	 business	 opportunity	
here.

Today,	Ukrainian	 families	 recognise	 the	“ANNA”	
brand	as	one	 that	provides	good	value	 for	 their	
money.	 The	 materials	 for	 the	 toys	 come	 from	
abroad,	 and	 the	 finished	 products	 carry	 Ukrai-
nian	quality	and	health	certifications.

Every	family	member	
is	involved	in	the	busi-	
ness,	 including	 the	
Afanasenkovas’	 el-
dest	daughter	Anna,	
after	 whom	 the	 company	 was	 named,	 and	 their	
younger	 son,	 Daniil.	 As	 the	 toy	 expert,	 all	 toys	
require	 his	 “professional”	 approval	 before	 they	
go	 into	 production.	 Although	 he	 is	 only	 9	 years	
old,	Daniil	has	a	clear	view	of	what	he	wants	to	do	
when	he	grows	up.	

“I will work for my parents, because that is what 
most interests me” ,

he	says.	By	being	involved	in	his	family’s	business,	
Daniil	has	an	opportunity	to	learn	how	to	manage	
money.	Following	his	father’s	advice,	he	opened	
a	 children’s	 savings	 account	 at	 ProCredit	 Bank.	

“Of course, my father recommended that 
I open the account, but I made the final decision 

myself, and now almost every week I go to the 
bank and add some money to my deposit”, 

says	Daniil.	He	is	typical	of	many	in	the	new	gener-	
ation	 of	 Ukrainians	 who,	 from	 an	 early	 age,	 set	
clear	goals	for	themselves	and	work	hard	towards	
achieving	them.

Sergey Afanasenkov, 
Toy Manufacturer, and 
Daniil Afanasenkov, 
Children’s Savings Account Holder
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The	 name	 of	 Raisa	 Boiko’s	 company,	 “Experi-
ment”,	 describes	 more	 than	 her	 business	 –	 it	
defines	 her	 philosophy	 of	 life.	 After	 graduating	
from	the	Alma-Ata	Institute	of	Light	Industry,	Ms.	
Boiko	spent	20	years	working	as	a	garment	de-
signer	 in	 Kazakhstan	 in	 an	 enterprise	 with	 over	
5,000	employees.	For	 the	 last	17	years	she	has	
lived	and	worked	in	the	small	Ukrainian	town	of	
Bila	 Tserkva,	 where	 she	 runs	 her	 own	 clothing	
factory.

“At first, it was simply an experimental garment 
design studio occupying one room in a 

clothing factory. We were determined to learn as 
much as we could about the kind of business 

we wanted to start and visited Estonia and 
Moscow to get ideas”,

says	 Ms.	 Boiko	 about	 the	 start-up	 phase	 of	 her	
business.	Today,	it	has	80	employees,	including	
four	garment	designers.	The	company	has	a	spe-
cial	shop	in	the	factory	which	it	uses	to	test-mar-
ket	 new	 designs.	 Every	 season,	 around	 40	 new	
designs	are	created,	with	no	more	than	30	being	
mass	produced.	“Experiment”	uses	high	quality	
raw	materials	to	produce	its	innovative	designs,	
which	are	very	popular	in	Ukraine.

Three	years	ago,	Ms.	Boiko	applied	to	ProCredit	
Bank	 for	 a	 loan	 to	 purchase	 an	 entire	 floor	 in	 a	
five-storey	 building.	 It	 now	 houses	 her	 factory.	
Last	year,	a	ProCredit	loan	helped	her	to	buy	Japa-
nese-made	equipment,	allowing	her	to	speed	up	
operations	and	improve	quality.	

Today,	 her	 company	 faces	 strong	 competition	
from	 inexpensive	 imported	 goods,	 mainly	 from	
Asian	countries.	Many	Ukrainian	consumers	buy	
these	 imports	 instead	 of	 the	 more	 expensive,	
but	higher-quality	garments	which	are	produced		
locally.

“The only solution for companies wishing 
to grow and develop, rather than just survive, is 

to make competitively priced garments for 
the large home market. And this means you have 

to develop and promote your own brand, 
which we have been able to do”, 

says	Ms.	Boiko.

This	 dynamic	 entrepreneur	 is	 an	 avid	 skier	 and	
devoted	 grandmother.	 But	 she	 spends	 most	 of	
her	 time	 at	 the	 “Experiment”	 garment	 factory,	
whose	success	she	regards	as	one	of	her	greatest	
achievements	in	life.

Raisa Boiko, 
Ladies’ Wear 
Manufacturer
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Dmitry	Litvinov	has	dedicated	most	of	his	work-
ing	life	to	the	art	of	printing.	For	14	years	he	has	
run	 a	 printing	 company	 that	 produces	 books,	
newspapers,	magazines	and	brochures.	In	2005,	
after	 carefully	 considering	 his	 options,	 Mr.	 Lit-
vinov	 chose	 ProCredit	 Bank	 as	 his	 financing	
partner.	 With	 the	 help	 of	 loans	 from	 ProCredit,	
he	modernised	his	equipment	and	expanded	his	
business.

Although	the	Internet	and	other	electronic	media	
are	 growing	 in	 importance,	 many	 readers	 still	
prefer	 conventional	 print.	 Thus,	 it	 comes	 as	 no	
surprise	that	book	sales	rise	annually	in	Ukraine	
by	an	estimated	10-15%.	However	despite	overall	
industry	growth,	many	small	printing	companies	
have	closed	due	to	intensifying	competition.

“Fourteen years of professional 
experience, process optimisation, and a highly 

skilled, dedicated staff – this is what enables us 

to fill orders promptly and to produce 
quality products. Our primary emphasis, though, 

is on our attitude toward our customers”, 
Mr.	Litvinov	says.

This	 entrepreneur	 involves	 himself	 in	 every		
aspect	 of	 the	 production	 process	 and	 has	 a	 de-
tailed	knowledge	of	printing.	His	wife	Tatiana	 is	
the	company’s	chief	accountant	and	has	been	in-
dispensable	to	its	growth.

“We started from scratch, and now we employ 
around 20 people. Commitment to the business 

has been a key factor in our success”, 
he	comments.	The	Litvinovs’	line	of	work	clearly	
influenced	the	career	choice	of	their	eldest	son,	
Alexei,	 a	 designer	 and	 photographer	 who	 fre-
quently	works	for	well-known	publications.	

“Now we can’t afford to hire our own son”, 
jokes	Ms.	Litvinov.	Their	youngest	son,	Nazar,	has	
not	yet	decided	about	his	future,	but	although	he	
is	only	13	years	old,	he	already	knows	a	lot	about	
printing.

Dmitry Litvinov, 
Printing Company Owner
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A	high	degree	of	professionalism	and	a	 respon-
sive,	 caring	 attitude	 towards	 patients	 are	 the		
attributes	 that	 best	 characterise	 Mikhail	 and	
Olga	 Turyanitsa,	 doctors	 and	 founders	 of	 the	
“MEDINTEL	Diagnostic	and	Treatment	Centre”	in	
Uzhgorod.

The	 Turyanitsas	 met	 as	 students	 at	 the	 Tumen	
State	 Medical	 Institute.	 After	 graduation,	 Mrs.	
Turyanitsa	decided	to	specialise	in	dermatology	
and	 venereology	 and	 Mr.	 Turyanitsa	 became	 a	
gynaecologist.

In	1996,	the	couple	faced	a	difficult	employment	
situation	as	doctors.	They	began	 looking	 for	al-
ternatives	to	the	conventional	options	for	physi-
cians.	 At	 the	 time,	 Ukraine	 had	 begun	 licensing	
private	medical	practices	and	the	Turyanitsas	de-
cided	to	open	MEDINTEL.	The	centre	specialises	

in	 the	 treatment	 of	 sterility	 as	 well	 as	 skin	 and	
venereal	diseases.

To	successfully	operate	a	private	medical	practice	
in	 Ukraine,	 doctors	 must	 understand	 complex	
business	and	legal	requirements	and	must	have	
access	to	a	steady	flow	of	working	capital.

“High standards of medical care require 
expensive equipment, which is impossible to 

purchase without additional financing”,
explains	Mr.	Turyanitsa.

In	the	beginning,	the	couple	counted	on	their	rel-
atives	and	friends	for	help,	but	today	they	make	
use	 of	 bank	 financing.	 Having	 compared	 the	
terms	and	conditions	offered	by	various	 institu-
tions,	they	opted	for	ProCredit	Bank.

MEDINTEL	 has	 a	 well-deserved	 reputation	 as	 a	
clinic	 where	 patients	 receive	 high-quality	 treat-
ment	provided	in	a	friendly,	professional	manner.	
They	serve	a	large	number	of	regular	clients,	and	
the	list	of	patients	grows	each	year.

Mikhail and 
Olga Turyanitsa, 
Doctors and Operators 
of a Diagnostic and 
Treatment Centre
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The	Notes	on	pages	44	–	69	are	an	integral	part	of	these	financial	statements.

Balance Sheet
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2007
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  Notes 2007 2006 
 In thousands of US Dollars (as presentation currency, Note 3)  
	 Interest	income	 20	 68,400	 49,772
	 Interest	expense	 20	 (30,072)	 (19,723)
 Net interest income  38,328 30,049

	 Provision	for	impairment	of	loans	to	customers	and	amounts	due	from	other	banks	 8,	9	 (3,373)	 (3,915)
 Net interest income after provision for loan impairment   34,955 26,134
	 	 	
	 Fee	and	commission	income	 21	 7,246	 5,682
	 Fee	and	commission	expense	 21	 (979)	 (690)
	 Gains	less	losses	from	trading	in	foreign	currencies	 	 1,134	 773
	 Foreign	exchange	translation	gains	less	losses	 	 52	 (119)
	 Reversal	of	provision/(provision)	for	credit	related	commitments	 	 72	 (46)
	 Other	operating	income	 	 142	 135
	 Administrative	and	other	operating	expenses		 22	 (37,864)	 (25,268)
 Profit before tax  4,758 6,601

	 Income	tax	expense	 23	 (1,717)	 (1,992)
 Profit for the year  3,041 4,609

The	Notes	on	pages	44	–	69	are	an	integral	part	of	these	financial	statements.

Income Statement
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2007
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2007

   Note Share Share Retained Total
 In thousands of US Dollars (as presentation currency, Note 3)  capital premium earnings equity
 Balance at 1 January 2006  14,851 154 5,854 20,859
	
	 Profit	for	the	year	 	 –	 –	 4,609	 4,609
	 Total	recognised	income	for	2006	 	 –	 –	 4,609	 4,609
	 Share	issue	 	 14,851	 –	 –	 14,851
 Balance at 31 December 2006  29,702 154 10,463 40,319
	
	 Profit	for	the	year	 	 –	 –	 3,041	 3,041
	 Total	recognised	income	for	2007	 	 –	 –	 3,041	 3,041
	 Dividends	declared	 24	 –	 –	 (3,987)	 (3,987)
 Balance at 31 December 2007  29,702 154 9,517 39,373
	 	 	 	 	

The	Notes	on	pages	44	–	69	are	an	integral	part	of	these	financial	statements.

A n n u a l 	 R e p o r t 	 2 0 0 7��



Statement of Cash Flows
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2007

  Notes 2007 2006 
 In thousands of US Dollars (as presentation currency, Note 3)  
 Cash flows from operating activities   
	 Interest	received		 	 68,230	 50,022
	 Interest	paid		 	 (29,102)	 (17,393)
	 Fees	and	commissions	received	 	 7,246	 5,682
	 Fees	and	commissions	paid	 	 (979)	 (690)
	 Income	received	from	trading	in	foreign	currencies	 	 1,134	 773
	 Other	operating	income	received	 	 195	 135
	 Staff	costs	paid	 	 (17,979)	 (10,897)
	 Administrative	and	other	operating	expenses	paid	 	 (15,869)	 (11,106)
	 Income	tax	paid	 	 (1,991)	 (2,938)
 Cash flows from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities  10,885 13,588
	 	 	
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities   
	 Net	(increase)/decrease	in	mandatory	reserve	balances	 	 (2,949)	 1,430
	 Net	decrease/(increase)	in	due	from	other	banks	 	 6,962	 (4,496)
	 Net	increase	in	loans	and	advances	to	customers	 	 (91,435)	 (126,932)
	 Net	decrease/(increase)	in	other	assets	 	 30	 (959)
	 Net	increase/(decrease)	in	due	to	other	banks	 	 11,894	 (7,851)
	 Net	increase	in	customer	accounts	 	 61,612	 72,707
	 Net	increase	in	other	liabilities	 	 181	 142
 Net cash used in operating activities  (2,820) (52,371)
	 	 	
 Cash flows from investing activities   
	 Acquisition	of	investment	securities	available	for	sale	 	 –	 (50)
	 Acquisition	of	investment	securities	held	to	maturity	 	 (5,940)	 –
	 Acquisition	of	premises	and	equipment	 11	 (10,369)	 (5,818)
	 Proceeds	from	disposal	of	premises	and	equipment	 	 39	 2
	 Acquisition	of	intangible	assets	 11	 (925)	 (529)
 Net cash used in investing activities  (17,195) (6,395)
	 	 	
 Cash flows from financing activities   
	 Proceeds	from	debt	securities	in	issue	 	 –	 34,508
	 Repayment	of	debt	securities	in	issue	 	 (6,931)	 –
	 Proceeds	from	other	borrowed	funds	 	 52,000	 21,360
	 Repayment	of	other	borrowed	funds	 	 (19,694)	 (6,389)
	 Proceeds	from	subordinated	debt	 	 –	 2,800
	 Issue	of	ordinary	shares	 19	 –	 14,851
	 Dividends	paid	 24	 (3,987)	 –
 Net cash from financing activities  21,388 67,130
	 	 	
	 Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  1,044 495
   
 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  2,417 8,859
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	the	beginning	of	the	year	 	 25,415	 16,556
	 	 	
 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 27,832 25,415
	 	 	

	

The	Notes	on	pages	44	–	69	are	an	integral	part	of	these	financial	statements.
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1 Introduction

These	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	
International	 Financial	 Reporting	 Standards	 for	 the	 year	 ended		
31	December	2007	for	ProCredit	Bank	(the	“Bank”).
The	Bank	was	incorporated	and	is	domiciled	in	Ukraine.	The	Bank	
is	a	closed	joint	stock	company	limited	by	shares	and	was	set	up	
in	accordance	with	Ukrainian	regulations.	The	Bank	was	 founded	
on	21	December	2000	as	a	Closed	Joint	Stock	Company	under	the	
laws	of	Ukraine.	The	Bank	was	registered	by	the	National	Bank	of	
Ukraine	(the	“NBU”)	on	28	December	2000.	On	30	September	2003	
the	Bank	changed	its	name	from	Micro	Finance	Bank	to	ProCredit	
Bank.	The	Bank’s	immediate	parent	and	ultimate	controlling	party	
is	ProCredit	Holding	AG	(2006:	ProCredit	Holding	AG).

Principal activity
The	Bank’s	principal	business	activity	is	the	provision	of	banking	
services	to	private	entrepreneurs	and	small	and	micro	businesses	
within	Ukraine.	The	Bank	has	operated	under	a	full	banking	license	
issued	by	the	National	Bank	of	Ukraine	since	29	January	2001.		
The	Bank	has	64	(2006:52)	branches	within	Ukraine.

Registered address and place of business
The	Bank’s	registered	address	and	place	of	business	is:
107-A,	Peremohy	Avenue,	
Kyiv,	03115,
Ukraine

Presentation currency
These	 financial	statements	are	presented	 in	 thousands	of	United	
States	dollars	(„USD	thousands“).

2 Operating Environment of the Bank

Ukraine	displays	certain	characteristics	of	an	emerging	market,	in-
cluding	relatively	high	inflation	and	strong	economic	growth.	The	
banking	 sector	 in	 Ukraine	 is	 sensitive	 to	 adverse	 fluctuations	 in	
confidence	and	economic	conditions	and	may	occasionally	experi-
ence	reductions	in	liquidity.	Therefore,	it	is	difficult	for	the	manage-
ment	 to	predict	all	developments	which	could	have	an	 impact	on	
the	banking	sector	and	consequently	what	effect,	if	any,	they	could	
have	on	the	financial	position	of	the	Bank.
The	tax,	currency	and	customs	legislation	within	Ukraine	is	subject	
to	varying	interpretations	and	frequent	changes.	Furthermore,	the	
need	for	further	developments	in	the	bankruptcy	laws,	formalised	
procedures	for	the	registration	and	enforcement	of	collateral,	and	
other	 legal	 and	 fiscal	 impediments	 contribute	 to	 the	 challenges	
faced	by	banks	currently	operating	in	Ukraine.	The	future	economic	
direction	 of	 Ukraine	 is	 largely	 dependent	 upon	 the	 effectiveness	
of	economic,	financial	and	monetary	measures	undertaken	by	the	
Government,	together	with	tax,	legal,	regulatory,	and	political	de-
velopments.

Recent volatility in global financial markets
Since	the	second	half	of	2007	there	has	been	a	sharp	rise	in	fore-
closures	 in	 the	 US	 subprime	 mortgage	 market.	 The	 effects	 have	
spread	 beyond	 the	 US	 housing	 market	 as	 global	 investors	 have	
re-evaluated	their	exposure	to	risks,	resulting	in	increased	volatil-
ity	and	lower	 liquidity	 in	the	fixed	 income,	equity,	and	derivative	
markets.	 The	 volume	 of	 Eurobond	 issues	 and	 similar	 wholesale	

financing	 by	 Ukrainian	 banks	 has	 significantly	 reduced	 since		
August	2007.	Such	circumstances	may	affect	the	ability	of	the	Bank	
to	obtain	new	borrowings	and	refinance	its	existing	borrowings	at	
terms	and	conditions	that	applied	to	similar	transactions	in	recent	
periods.	Debtors	or	borrowers	of	the	Bank	may	also	be	affected	by	
the	lower	liquidity	situation	which	could	in	turn	impact	their	abil-
ity	to	repay	their	amounts	owed.	Management	is	unable	to	reliably	
estimate	the	effects	on	the	Bank‘s	financial	position	of	any	further	
possible	deterioration	in	the	liquidity	of	the	financial	markets	and	
their	increased	volatility.

3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation
These	financial	statements	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	
International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(“IFRS”)	under	the	his-
torical	cost	convention.	The	principal	accounting	policies	applied	
in	the	preparation	of	these	financial	statements	are	set	out	below.	
These	 policies	 have	 been	 consistently	 applied	 to	 all	 the	 periods	
presented,	unless	otherwise	stated	(refer	to	Note	5).	

Key measurement terms
Depending	on	their	classification	financial	instruments	are	carried	
at	fair	value,	cost	or	amortised	cost	as	described	below.
Fair value	 is	 the	 amount	 for	 which	 an	 asset	 could	 be	 exchanged,	
or	 a	 liability	 settled,	 between	 knowledgeable,	 willing	 parties	 in	
an	arm’s	length	transaction.	Fair	value	is	the	current	bid	price	for	
financial	 assets	 and	 current	 asking	 price	 for	 financial	 liabilities	
which	are	quoted	in	an	active	market.	For	assets	and	liabilities	with	
offsetting	market	risks,	the	Bank	may	use	mid-market	prices	as	a	
basis	 for	establishing	 fair	values	 for	 the	offsetting	 risk	positions	
and	apply	 the	bid	or	asking	price	 to	 the	net	open	position	as	ap-
propriate.	A	financial	instrument	is	regarded	as	quoted	in	an	active	
market	if	quoted	prices	are	readily	and	regularly	available	from	an	
exchange	or	other	institution	and	those	prices	represent	actual	and	
regularly	occurring	market	transactions	on	an	arm’s	length	basis.	
Valuation	 techniques	 such	 as	 discounted	 cash	 flows	 models	 or	
models	based	on	recent	arms	length	transactions	or	consideration	
of	 financial	 data	 of	 the	 investees	 are	 used	 to	 fair	 value	 certain		
financial	instruments	for	which	external	market	pricing	information	
is	not	available.	Valuation	techniques	may	require	assumptions	not	
supported	 by	 observable	 market	 data.	 Disclosures	 are	 made	 in	
these	financial	statements	if	changing	any	such	assumptions	to	a	
reasonably	possible	alternative	would	result	in	significantly	differ-
ent	profit,	income,	total	assets	or	total	liabilities.
Cost	is	the	amount	of	cash	or	cash	equivalents	paid	or	the	fair	value	
of	the	other	consideration	given	to	acquire	an	asset	at	the	time	of	
its	 acquisition	 and	 includes	 transaction	 costs.	 Measurement	 at	
cost	 is	 only	 applicable	 to	 investments	 in	 equity	 instruments	 that	
do	not	have	a	quoted	market	price	and	whose	fair	value	cannot	be	
reliably	measured.	
Transaction costs	are	 incremental	costs	 that	are	directly	attribut-
able	to	the	acquisition,	issue	or	disposal	of	a	financial	instrument.	
An	incremental	cost	is	one	that	would	not	have	been	incurred	if	the	
transaction	 had	 not	 taken	 place.	 Transaction	 costs	 include	 fees	
and	 commissions	 paid	 to	 agents	 (including	 employees	 acting	 as	
selling	 agents),	 advisors,	 brokers	 and	 dealers,	 levies	 by	 regula-
tory	agencies	and	securities	exchanges,	and	transfer	taxes	and	du-
ties.	Transaction	costs	do	not	include	debt	premiums	or	discounts,		
financing	costs	or	internal	administrative	or	holding	costs.	
Amortised cost	is	the	amount	at	which	the	financial	instrument	was	
recognised	 at	 initial	 recognition	 less	 any	 principal	 repayments,	
plus	accrued	interest,	and	for	financial	assets	less	any	write-down	
for	incurred	impairment	losses.	Accrued	interest	includes	amorti-
sation	of	transaction	costs	deferred	at	initial	recognition	and	of	any	
premium	or	discount	to	maturity	amount	using	the	effective	inter-

Notes to the Financial Statements
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2007
All amounts in thousands of US Dollars (as presentation currency, 
Note 3) unless otherwise stated.

A n n u a l 	 R e p o r t 	 2 0 0 7��



est	method.	Accrued	interest	income	and	accrued	interest	expense,	
including	both	accrued	coupon	and	amortised	discount	or	premium	
(including	 fees	 deferred	 at	 origination,	 if	 any),	 are	 not	 presented	
separately	and	are	 included	in	the	carrying	values	of	related	bal-
ance	sheet	items.
The effective interest method	is	a	method	of	allocating	interest	in-
come	or	interest	expense	over	the	relevant	period	so	as	to	achieve	
a	constant	periodic	rate	of	interest	(effective	interest	rate)	on	the	
carrying	amount.	The	effective	interest	rate	is	the	rate	that	exactly	
discounts	 estimated	 future	 cash	 payments	 or	 receipts	 (exclud-
ing	future	credit	losses)	through	the	expected	life	of	the	financial	
instrument	or	a	shorter	period,	if	appropriate,	to	the	net	carrying	
amount	of	the	financial	instrument.	The	effective	interest	rate	dis-
counts	cash	flows	of	variable	interest	instruments	to	the	next	inter-
est	repricing	date	except	for	the	premium	or	discount	which	reflects	
the	credit	spread	over	the	floating	rate	specified	in	the	instrument,	
or	other	variables	that	are	not	reset	to	market	rates.	Such	premi-
ums	or	discounts	are	amortised	over	the	whole	expected	life	of	the	
instrument.	The	present	value	calculation	includes	all	fees	paid	or	
received	between	parties	to	the	contract	that	are	an	integral	part	of	
the	effective	interest	rate	(refer	to	income	and	expense	recognition	
policy).	

Initial recognition of financial instruments
Derivatives	are	initially	recorded	at	fair	value.	All	other	financial	in-
struments	are	initially	recorded	at	fair	value	plus	transaction	costs.	
Fair	value	at	initial	recognition	is	best	evidenced	by	the	transaction	
price.	A	gain	or	loss	on	initial	recognition	is	only	recorded	if	there	is	
a	difference	between	fair	value	and	transaction	price	which	can	be	
evidenced	by	other	observable	current	market	transactions	in	the	
same	instrument	or	by	a	valuation	technique	whose	inputs	include	
only	data	from	observable	markets.
All	 purchases	 and	 sales	 of	 financial	 assets	 that	 require	 delivery	
within	the	time	frame	established	by	regulation	or	market	conven-
tion	 (“regular	 way”	 purchases	 and	 sales)	 are	 recorded	 at	 trade	
date,	which	is	the	date	that	the	Bank	commits	to	deliver	a	financial	
asset.	All	other	purchases	and	sales	are	recognised	on	the	settle-
ment	date	with	the	change	in	value	between	the	commitment	date	
and	 settlement	 date	 not	 recognised	 for	 assets	 carried	 at	 cost	 or	
amortised	cost;	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	for	trading	securities,	
derivatives	and	other	 financial	assets	at	 fair	value	through	profit	
or	loss;	and	recognised	in	equity	for	assets	classified	as	available	
for	sale.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	are	items	which	are	readily	convertible	
to	 known	 amounts	 of	 cash	 and	 which	 are	 subject	 to	 an	 insignifi-
cant	risk	of	changes	in	value.	All	short	term	interbank	placements,		
beyond	 overnight	 placements,	 are	 included	 in	 due	 from	 other	
banks.	Amounts,	which	relate	to	funds	that	are	of	a	restricted	na-
ture,	are	excluded	from	cash	and	cash	equivalents.	Cash	and	cash	
equivalents	are	carried	at	amortised	cost.

Mandatory cash balances with the NBU
Mandatory	 cash	 balances	 with	 the	 NBU	 are	 carried	 at	 amortised	
cost	and	represent	non-interest	bearing	mandatory	reserve	depos-
its	which	are	not	available	to	finance	the	Bank’s	day	to	day	opera-
tions	and	hence	are	not	considered	as	part	of	cash	and	cash	equiva-
lents	for	the	purposes	of	the	consolidated	cash	flow	statement.

Due from other banks
Amounts	 due	 from	 other	 banks	 are	 recorded	 when	 the	 Bank	 ad-
vances	money	to	counterparty	banks	with	no	 intention	of	 trading	
the	 resulting	 unquoted	 non-derivative	 receivable	 due	 on	 fixed	 or	
determinable	dates.	Amounts	due	from	other	banks	are	carried	at	
amortised	cost.	

Loans and advances to customers
Loans	and	advances	to	customers	are	recorded	when	the	Bank	ad-
vances	money	to	purchase	or	originate	an	unquoted	non-derivative	
receivable	from	a	customer	due	on	fixed	or	determinable	dates	and	
has	no	intention	of	trading	the	receivable.	Loans	and	advances	to	
customers	are	carried	at	amortised	cost.

Impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost
Impairment	 losses	are	 recognised	 in	profit	or	 loss	when	 incurred	
as	 a	 result	 of	 one	 or	 more	 events	 (“loss	 events”)	 that	 occurred		
after	the	initial	recognition	of	the	financial	asset	and	which	have	an	
impact	on	the	amount	or	timing	of	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	
of	the	financial	asset	or	group	of	financial	assets	that	can	be	reli-
ably	estimated.	If	the	Bank	determines	that	no	objective	evidence	
exists	 that	 impairment	was	 incurred	 for	an	 individually	assessed	
financial	asset,	whether	significant	or	not,	it	includes	the	asset	in	
a	group	of	financial	assets	with	similar	credit	risk	characteristics	
and	collectively	assesses	them	for	impairment.	The	primary	factors	
that	the	Bank	considers	whether	a	financial	asset	is	impaired	is	its	
overdue	status	and	realisability	of	related	collateral,	if	any.	The	fol-
lowing	other	principal	criteria	are	also	used	to	determine	that	there	
is	objective	evidence	that	an	impairment	loss	has	occurred:
•	 any	 instalment	 is	 overdue	 and	 the	 late	 payment	 cannot	 be		
	 attributed	to	a	delay	caused	by	the	settlement	systems;
•	 the	 borrower	 experiences	 a	 significant	 financial	 difficulty	 as		
	 evidenced	 by	 borrower’s	 financial	 information	 that	 the	 bank		
	 obtains;
•	 the	borrower	considers	bankruptcy	or	a	 financial	 reorganisa-	
	 tion;
•	 there	is	adverse	change	in	the	payment	status	of	the	borrower		
	 as	a	result	of	changes	in	the	national	or	local	economic	condi-	
	 tions	that	impact	the	borrower;	
•	 the	 value	 of	 collateral	 significantly	 decreases	 as	 a	 result	 of		
	 deteriorating	market	conditions;

For	the	purposes	of	a	collective	evaluation	of	impairment,	financial	
assets	are	banked	on	the	basis	of	similar	credit	risk	characteristics.	
Those	characteristics	are	relevant	to	the	estimation	of	future	cash	
flows	for	banks	of	such	assets	by	being	indicative	of	the	debtors’	
ability	to	pay	all	amounts	due	according	to	the	contractual	terms	of	
the	assets	being	evaluated.
Future	cash	flows	in	a	group	of	financial	assets	that	are	collectively	
evaluated	for	impairment	are	estimated	on	the	basis	of	the	contrac-
tual	cash	 flows	of	 the	assets	and	 the	experience	of	Management	
in	respect	of	the	extent	to	which	amounts	will	become	overdue	as	
a	result	of	past	loss	events	and	the	success	of	recovery	of	overdue	
amounts.	Past	experience	 is	adjusted	on	the	basis	of	current	ob-
servable	data	 to	 reflect	 the	effects	of	current	conditions	 that	did	
not	affect	past	periods	and	to	remove	the	effects	of	past	conditions	
that	do	not	exist	currently.	
If	the	terms	of	a	financial	asset	held	at	amortised	cost	are	renego-
tiated	 or	 otherwise	 modified	 because	 of	 financial	 difficulties	 of	
the	borrower	or	issuer,	impairment	is	measured	using	the	original		
effective	interest	rate	before	the	modification	of	terms.
Impairment	 losses	 are	 always	 recognised	 through	 an	 allowance	
account	to	write	down	the	asset’s	carrying	amount	to	the	present	
value	 of	 expected	 cash	 flows	 (which	 exclude	 future	 credit	 losses	
that	 have	 not	 been	 incurred)	 discounted	 at	 the	 original	 effective	
interest	 rate	 of	 the	 asset.	 The	 calculation	 of	 the	 present	 value	 of	
the	estimated	future	cash	flows	of	a	collateralised	financial	asset	
reflects	the	cash	flows	that	may	result	from	foreclosure	less	costs	
for	obtaining	and	selling	the	collateral,	whether	or	not	foreclosure	
is	probable.
If,	in	a	subsequent	period,	the	amount	of	the	impairment	loss	de-
creases	 and	 the	 decrease	 can	 be	 related	 objectively	 to	 an	 event	
occurring	 after	 the	 impairment	 was	 recognised	 (such	 as	 an	 im-
provement	in	the	debtor’s	credit	rating),	the	previously	recognised	
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impairment	 loss	 is	 reversed	 by	 adjusting	 the	 allowance	 account	
through	profit	or	loss.
Uncollectible	assets	are	written	off	against	the	related	impairment	
loss	 provision	 after	 all	 the	 necessary	 procedures	 to	 recover	 the	
asset	have	been	completed	and	the	amount	of	 the	 loss	has	been	
determined.

Credit related commitments
The	Bank	enters	into	credit	related	commitments,	including	letters	
of	credit	and	financial	guarantees.	Financial	guarantees	represent	
irrevocable	assurances	to	make	payments	in	the	event	that	a	cus-
tomer	 cannot	 meet	 its	 obligations	 to	 third	 parties	 and	 carry	 the	
same	credit	risk	as	loans.	Financial	guarantees	and	commitments	
to	provide	a	loan	are	initially	recognised	at	their	fair	value,	which	is	
normally	evidenced	by	the	amount	of	fees	received.	This	amount	is	
amortised	on	a	straight	line	basis	over	the	life	of	the	commitment,	
except	for	commitments	to	originate	loans	if	it	is	probable	that	the	
Bank	will	enter	 into	a	specific	 lending	arrangement	and	does	not	
expect	to	sell	the	resulting	loan	shortly	after	origination;	such	loan	
commitment	 fees	are	deferred	and	 included	 in	 the	carrying	value	
of	the	loan	on	initial	recognition.	At	each	balance	sheet	date,	the	
commitments	are	measured	at	the	higher	of	 (i)	 the	remaining	un-
amortised	balance	of	the	amount	at	initial	recognition	and	(ii)	the	
best	estimate	of	expenditure	required	to	settle	the	commitment	at	
the	balance	sheet	date.

Investment securities available for sale
This	classification	includes	investment	securities	which	the	Bank	
intends	to	hold	for	an	indefinite	period	of	time	and	which	may	be	
sold	in	response	to	needs	for	liquidity	or	changes	in	interest	rates,	
exchange	rates	or	equity	prices.	The	Bank	classifies	 investments	
as	available	for	sale	at	the	time	of	purchase.
Investment	 securities	 available	 for	 sale	 are	 carried	 at	 fair	 value.	
Interest	income	on	available	for	sale	debt	securities	is	calculated	
using	the	effective	interest	method	and	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.	
Dividends	on	available-for-sale	equity	instruments	are	recognised	
in	profit	or	loss	when	the	Bank’s	right	to	receive	payment	is	estab-
lished	 and	 it	 is	 probable	 that	 the	 dividends	 will	 be	 collected.	 All	
other	elements	of	changes	in	the	fair	value	are	deferred	in	equity	
until	the	investment	is	derecognised	or	impaired,	at	which	time	the	
cumulative	gain	or	loss	is	removed	from	equity	to	profit	or	loss.	

Investment securities held to maturity
This	classification	includes	quoted	non-derivative	financial	assets	
with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	and	fixed	maturities	that	the	
Bank	has	both	the	intention	and	ability	to	hold	to	maturity.	Manage-
ment	determines	the	classification	of	investment	securities	held	to	
maturity	at	their	initial	recognition	and	reassesses	the	appropriate-
ness	of	that	classification	at	each	balance	sheet	date.	Investment	
securities	held	to	maturity	are	carried	at	amortised	cost.	

Derecognition of financial assets
The	 Bank	 derecognises	 financial	 assets	 when	 (a)	 the	 assets	 are	
redeemed	 or	 the	 rights	 to	 cash	 flows	 from	 the	 assets	 otherwise	
expired	or	(b)	the	Bank	has	transferred	the	rights	to	the	cash	flows	
from	the	financial	assets	or	entered	into	a	qualifying	pass-through	
arrangement	while	 (i)	also	 transferring	substantially	all	 the	 risks	
and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	assets	or	(ii)	neither	transferring	
nor	retaining	substantially	all	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	but	
not	retaining	control.	Control	 is	retained	if	the	counterparty	does	
not	have	the	practical	ability	to	sell	the	asset	in	its	entirety	to	an	
unrelated	third	party	without	needing	to	impose	additional	restric-
tions	on	the	sale.

Premises, leasehold improvements and equipment
Premises,	 leasehold	 improvements	 and	 equipment	 are	 stated	 at	
cost,	less	accumulated	depreciation	and	provision	for	impairment,	
where	required.

Construction	 in	progress	 is	carried	at	cost,	 less	provision	 for	 im-
pairment	where	required.	Upon	completion,	assets	are	transferred	
to	premises	and	leasehold	improvements	at	their	carrying	amount.	
Construction	in	progress	is	not	depreciated	until	the	asset	is	avail-
able	for	use.	
Costs	 of	 minor	 repairs	 and	 maintenance	 are	 expensed	 when	 in-
curred.	Cost	of	 replacing	major	parts	or	components	of	premises	
and	 equipment	 items	 are	 capitalised	 and	 the	 replaced	 part	 is	 re-
tired.		
If	impaired,	premises,	leasehold	improvements	and	equipment	are	
written	down	to	the	higher	of	their	value	in	use	and	fair	value	less	
costs	to	sell.	The	decrease	in	carrying	amount	is	charged	to	profit	
or	loss.	An	impairment	loss	recognised	for	an	asset	in	prior	years	is	
reversed	if	there	has	been	a	change	in	the	estimates	used	to	deter-
mine	the	asset’s	value	in	use	or	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell.
Gains	and	losses	on	disposals	determined	by	comparing	proceeds	
with	carrying	amount	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.		

Depreciation
Depreciation	of	premises,	leasehold	improvements	and	equipment	
is	calculated	using	the	straight-line	method	to	allocate	their	cost	to	
their	residual	values	over	their	estimated	useful	lives	on	the	follow-
ing	basis	(in	years):	

	 Premises		 20
	 Computers	and	equipment		 3-5
	 Furniture	and	fittings														 5-7
	 Leasehold	improvements		 over	the	term	of	the	
	 	 underlying	lease

The	 residual	 value	 of	 an	 asset	 is	 the	 estimated	 amount	 that	 the	
Bank	 would	 currently	 obtain	 from	 disposal	 of	 the	 asset	 less	 the		
estimated	costs	of	disposal,	if	the	asset	were	already	of	the	age	and	
in	the	condition	expected	at	the	end	of	its	useful	life.	The	residual		
value	of	an	asset	is	nil	if	the	Bank	expects	to	use	the	asset	until	the	end	
of	its	physical	life.	The	assets’	residual	values	and	useful	lives	are	
reviewed,	and	adjusted	if	appropriate,	at	each	balance	sheet	date.	
	

Intangible assets
All	of	the	Bank’s	intangible	assets	have	definite	useful	life	and	pri-
marily	include	capitalised	computer	software.
Acquired	computer	software	licenses	are	capitalised	on	the	basis	
of	the	costs	incurred	to	acquire	and	bring	to	use	the	specific	soft-
ware.	Development	costs	that	are	directly	associated	with	identi-	
fiable	and	unique	software	controlled	by	the	Bank	are	recorded	as	
intangible	 assets	 if	 the	 inflow	 of	 incremental	 economic	 benefits	
exceeding	costs	is	probable.	Capitalised	costs	include	staff	costs	
of	 the	 software	 development	 team	 and	 an	 appropriate	 portion	 of	
relevant	overheads.	All	other	costs	associated	with	computer	soft-
ware,	eg	its	maintenance,	are	expensed	when	incurred.	Capitalised	
computer	 software	 is	 amortised	 on	 a	 straight	 line	 basis	 over	 ex-
pected	useful	lives	of	5	years.

Operating leases
Where	the	Bank	is	a	lessee	in	a	lease	which	does	not	transfer	sub-
stantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	incidental	to	ownership	from	the	
lessor	to	the	Bank,	the	total	lease	payments	are	charged	to	profit	or	
loss	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	period	of	the	lease.

Due to other banks
Amounts	 due	 to	 other	 banks	 are	 recorded	 when	 money	 or	 other		
assets	 are	 advanced	 to	 the	 Bank	 by	 counterparty	 banks.	 The	
non-derivative	 liability	 is	 carried	 at	 amortised	 cost.	 	 If	 the	 Bank	
purchases	its	own	debt,	it	is	removed	from	the	balance	sheet	and	
the	 difference	 between	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 the	 liability	 and	
the	consideration	paid	is	 included	in	gains	or	 losses	arising	from		
retirement	of	debt.
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Customer accounts
Customer	 accounts	 are	 non-derivative	 liabilities	 to	 individuals,	
state	or	corporate	customers	and	are	carried	at	amortised	cost.		

Debt securities in issue
Debt	 securities	 in	 issue	 include	 bonds	 issued	 by	 the	 Bank.	 Debt		
securities	are	stated	at	amortised	cost.	 If	 the	Bank	purchases	 its	
own	 debt	 securities	 in	 issue,	 they	 are	 removed	 from	 the	 balance	
sheet	 and	 the	 difference	 between	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 the		
liability	and	the	consideration	paid	is	included	in	gains	arising	from	
retirement	of	debt.

Other borrowed funds
Other	borrowed	funds	include	borrowings	from	International	Finan-
cial	Institutions.	Other	borrowed	funds	are	stated	at	amortised	cost.	

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative	financial	 instruments,	including	foreign	exchange	con-
tracts	are	carried	at	their	fair	value.	
All	 derivative	 instruments	 are	 carried	 as	 assets	 when	 fair	 value	
is	positive	and	as	 liabilities	when	fair	value	is	negative.	Changes	
in	the	fair	value	of	derivative	instruments	are	included	in	profit	or	
loss.	The	Bank	does	not	apply	hedge	accounting.

Income taxes
Income	taxes	have	been	provided	for	in	the	financial	statements	in	
accordance	with	Ukrainian	legislation	enacted	or	substantively	en-
acted	by	the	balance	sheet	date.	The	income	tax	charge	comprises	
current	tax	and	deferred	tax	and	is	recognised	in	the	income	state-
ment	except	if	it	is	recognised	directly	in	equity	because	it	relates	
to	transactions	that	are	also	recognised,	in	the	same	or	a	different	
period,	directly	in	equity.	
Current	tax	is	the	amount	expected	to	be	paid	to	or	recovered	from	
the	taxation	authorities	in	respect	of	taxable	profits	or	losses	for	
the	current	and	prior	periods.	Taxable	profits	or	losses	are	based	
on	estimates	 if	 financial	statements	are	authorised	prior	 to	 filing	
relevant	 tax	 returns.	 Taxes,	 other	 than	 on	 income,	 are	 recorded	
within	administrative	and	other	operating	expenses.
Deferred	 income	tax	 is	provided	using	 the	balance	sheet	 liability	
method	for	tax	loss	carry	forwards	and	temporary	differences	aris-
ing	between	the	tax	bases	of	assets	and	liabilities	and	their	carry-
ing	amounts	 for	 financial	 reporting	purposes.	 In	accordance	with	
the	initial	recognition	exemption,	deferred	taxes	are	not	recorded	
for	temporary	differences	on	initial	recognition	of	an	asset	or	a	li-
ability	 in	 a	 transaction	 other	 than	 a	 business	 combination	 if	 the	
transaction,	 when	 initially	 recorded,	 affects	 neither	 accounting	
nor	taxable	profit.	Deferred	tax	balances	are	measured	at	tax	rates	
enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	the	balance	sheet	date	which	
are	expected	to	apply	to	the	period	when	the	temporary	differences	
will	reverse	or	the	tax	loss	carry	forwards	will	be	utilised.	Deferred	
tax	assets	for	deductible	temporary	differences	and	tax	loss	carry	
forwards	are	recorded	only	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	fu-
ture	taxable	profit	will	be	available	against	which	the	deductions	
can	be	utilised.	

Uncertain tax positions
The	Bank‘s	uncertain	tax	positions	are	reassessed	by	Management	
at	every	balance	sheet	date.	Liabilities	are	recorded	for	income	tax	
positions	that	are	determined	by	Management	as	more	likely	than	
not	to	result	in	additional	taxes	being	levied	if	the	positions	were	to	
be	challenged	by	the	tax	authorities.	The	assessment	is	based	on	
the	interpretation	of	tax	laws	that	have	been	enacted	or	substan-
tively	enacted	by	the	balance	sheet	date	and	any	known	Court	or	
other	rulings	on	such	issues.	Liabilities	for	penalties,	interest	and	
taxes	other	than	on	income	are	recognised	based	on	Management’s	
best	estimate	of	the	expenditure	required	to	settle	the	obligations	
at	the	balance	sheet	date.	

Provisions for liabilities and charges
Provisions	for	liabilities	and	charges	are	non-financial	liabilities	of	
uncertain	timing	or	amount.	They	are	accrued	when	the	Bank	has	a	
present	legal	or	constructive	obligation	as	a	result	of	past	events,	
it	 is	 probable	 that	 an	 outflow	 of	 resources	 embodying	 economic	
benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation,	and	a	reliable	es-
timate	of	the	amount	of	the	obligation	can	be	made.

Trade and other payables
Trade	payables	are	accrued	when	the	counterparty	performed	its	
obligations	under	the	contract	and	are	carried	at	amortised	cost.

Subordinated debt
Subordinated	 debt	 represents	 long-term	 borrowing	 agreements	
that,	 in	 case	 of	 the	 Bank’s	 default,	 would	 be	 secondary	 to	 the	
Bank’s	 primary	 debt	 obligations.	 Subordinated	 debt	 is	 carried	 at	
amortised	cost.	

Share premium
When	shares	are	issued,	the	excess	of	contributions	received,	net	
of	transaction	costs,	over	the	nominal	value	of	the	shares	issued	is	
recorded	as	share	premium	in	equity.

Dividends
Dividends	are	recorded	in	equity	in	the	period	in	which	they	are	de-
clared.	Dividends	declared	after	the	balance	sheet	date	and	before	
the	financial	statements	are	authorised	for	issue	are	disclosed	in	
the	 subsequent	 events	 note.	 The	 statutory	 accounting	 reports	 of	
the	Bank	are	the	basis	for	profit	distribution	and	other	appropria-
tions.	Ukrainian	 legislation	 identifies	 the	basis	of	distribution	as	
retained	earnings.	

Income and expense recognition
Interest	income	and	expense	are	recorded	in	the	income	statement	
for	 all	 debt	 instruments	 on	 an	 accrual	 basis	 using	 the	 effective		
interest	method.	This	method	defers,	as	part	of	interest	income	or	
expense,	all	fees	paid	or	received	between	the	parties	to	the	con-
tract	that	are	an	integral	part	of	the	effective	interest	rate,	trans-	
action	costs	and	all	other	premiums	or	discounts.	
Fees	integral	to	the	effective	interest	rate	include	origination	fees	
received	or	paid	by	the	entity	relating	to	the	creation	or	acquisition	
of	a	financial	asset	or	issuance	of	a	financial	liability,	for	example	
fees	 for	 evaluating	 creditworthiness,	 evaluating	 and	 recording	
guarantees	 or	 collateral,	 negotiating	 the	 terms	 of	 the	 instrument	
and	for	processing	transaction	documents.	 	Commitment	fees	re-
ceived	by	the	Bank	to	originate	loans	at	market	interest	rates	are	
integral	to	the	effective	interest	rate	if	it	is	probable	that	the	Bank	
will	enter	into	a	specific	lending	arrangement	and	does	not	expect	
to	sell	the	resulting	loan	shortly	after	origination.	The	Bank	does	
not	designate	loan	commitments	as	financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	
through	profit	or	loss.
When	loans	and	other	debt	instruments	become	doubtful	of	collec-
tion,	 they	are	written	down	to	present	value	of	expected	cash	in-
flows	and	interest	income	is	thereafter	recorded	for	the	unwinding	
of	the	present	value	discount	based	on	the	asset’s	effective	inter-
est	rate	which	was	used	to	measure	the	impairment	loss.
All	other	fees,	commissions	and	other	income	and	expense	items	
are	generally	recorded	on	an	accrual	basis	by	reference	to	comple-
tion	of	the	specific	transaction	assessed	on	the	basis	of	the	actual	
service	 provided	 as	 a	 proportion	 of	 the	 total	 services	 to	 be	 pro-
vided.	 Loan	 syndication	 fees	 are	 recognised	 as	 income	 when	 the	
syndication	has	been	completed	and	the	Bank	retained	no	part	of	
the	loan	package	for	itself	or	retained	a	part	at	the	same	effective	
interest	rate	for	the	other	participants.
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Foreign currency translation
The	Bank’s	functional	currency	is	the	national	currency	of	Ukraine,	
Ukrainian	hryvnias	(“UAH”).	
The	 Bank	 uses	 the	 US	 dollar	 (“USD”)	 as	 a	 currency	 in	 which	 it	
presents	 its	 financial	 statements,	 which	 means	 that	 balance	
sheet	items	are	translated	into	USD	at	the	year	end	exchange	rate	
(31	 December	 2007:	 USD	 1	 =	 	 UAH	 5.0500;	 31	 December	 2006:		
USD	 1	 =	 UAH	 5.0500).	 Income	 statement	 items	 are	 translated	 at	
the	average	exchange	rate	during	the	year.	Equity	items	other	than	
the	net	profit	or	loss	for	the	period	that	is	included	in	the	balance	
of	 retained	earnings	are	 translated	at	 the	closing	rate	existing	at	
the	date	of	each	balance	sheet	presented.	All	exchange	differences	
resulting	from	translation	of	balance	sheet	items	and	income	state-
ment	items	are	recognised	directly	in	equity.
Exchange	 restrictions	 and	 controls	 exist	 relating	 to	 converting	
Ukrainian	hryvnias	into	other	currencies.	At	present,	the	Ukrainian	
hryvnia	is	not	a	freely	convertible	currency	outside	of	Ukraine.

Offsetting
Financial	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 are	 offset	 and	 the	 net	 amount	 re-
ported	in	the	balance	sheet	only	when	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	
right	 to	offset	 the	 recognised	amounts,	and	 there	 is	an	 intention	
to	either	settle	on	a	net	basis,	or	to	realise	the	asset	and	settle	the	
liability	simultaneously.

Staff costs and related contributions
Wages,	salaries,	contributions	to	Ukraine	state	pension	and	social	
insurance	 funds,	 paid	 annual	 leave	 and	 sick	 leave,	 bonuses,	 and	
non-monetary	benefits	are	accrued	in	the	year	in	which	the	associ-
ated	services	are	rendered	by	the	employees	of	the	Bank.	

Segment reporting
A	segment	is	a	distinguishable	component	of	the	Bank	that	is	en-
gaged	either	in	providing	products	or	services	(business	segment)	
or	 in	providing	products	or	services	within	a	particular	economic	
environment	(geographical	segment),	which	is	subject	to	risks	and	
rewards	that	are	different	from	those	of	other	segments.	Segments	
with	a	majority	of	revenue	earned	from	sales	to	external	custom-
ers	 and	 whose	 revenue,	 result	 or	 assets	 are	 ten	 percent	 or	 more	
of	 all	 the	 segments	 are	 to	 be	 reported	 separately.	 Geographical	
segments	of	the	Bank	have	to	be	reported	separately	within	these	
financial	statements	based	on	 the	ultimate	domicile	of	 the	coun-
terparty,	e.g.	based	on	economic	risk	rather	than	legal	risk	of	the	
counterparty.	
Any	changes	to	these	financial	statements	require	approval	of	the	
Bank’s	management	who	authorised	these	financial	statements	for	
issue.

4 Critical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in 
 Applying Accounting Policies

The	Bank	makes	estimates	and	assumptions	that	affect	the	report-
ed	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities	within	the	next	financial	year.	
Estimates	and	judgements	are	continually	evaluated	and	are	based	
on	 Management’s	 experience	 and	 other	 factors,	 including	 expec-
tations	of	 future	events	 that	are	believed	to	be	reasonable	under	
the	circumstances.	Management	also	makes	certain	 judgements,	
apart	from	those	involving	estimations,	in	the	process	of	applying	
the	accounting	policies.	Judgements	that	have	the	most	significant	
effect	on	the	amounts	recognised	in	the	financial	statements	and	
estimates	that	can	cause	a	significant	adjustment	to	the	carrying	
amount	of	assets	and	liabilities	within	the	next	financial	year	include:	
	

Held-to-maturity financial assets
Management	 applies	 judgement	 in	 assessing	 whether	 financial		
assets	can	be	categorised	as	held-to-maturity,	in	particular	its	in-

tention	and	ability	to	hold	the	assets	to	maturity.	If	the	Bank	fails	to	
keep	these	investments	to	maturity	other	than	for	certain	specific	
circumstances	–	for	example,	selling	an	insignificant	amount	close	
to	 maturity	 –	 it	 will	 be	 required	 to	 reclassify	 the	 entire	 class	 as	
available-for-sale.	The	investments	would	therefore	be	measured	
at	fair	value	rather	than	amortised	cost.	If	the	entire	class	of	held-
to-maturity	investments	is	tainted,	there	will	be	no	change	in	the	
carrying	amount.

Impairment losses on loans and advances
The	 Bank	 regularly	 reviews	 its	 loan	 portfolios	 to	 assess	 impair-
ment.	 In	 determining	 whether	 an	 impairment	 loss	 should	 be	 re-
corded	in	the	income	statement,	the	Bank	makes	judgements	as	to	
whether	there	is	any	observable	data	indicating	that	there	is	a	mea-
surable	decrease	in	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	from	a	portfo-
lio	of	loans	before	the	decrease	can	be	identified	with	an	individual	
loan	in	that	portfolio.	This	evidence	may	include	observable	data	
indicating	that	there	has	been	an	adverse	change	in	the	payment	
status	of	borrowers	in	a	group,	or	national	or	local	economic	condi-
tions	that	correlate	with	defaults	on	assets	in	the	group.	Manage-
ment	uses	estimates	based	on	historical	loss	experience	for	assets	
with	 credit	 risk	 characteristics	 and	 objective	 evidence	 of	 impair-
ment	 similar	 to	 those	 in	 the	 portfolio	 when	 scheduling	 its	 future	
cash	 flows.	The	methodology	and	assumptions	used	 for	estimat-
ing	both	the	amount	and	timing	of	future	cash	flows	are	reviewed	
regularly	 to	 reduce	 any	 differences	 between	 loss	 estimates	 and	
actual	loss	experience.	To	the	extent	that	the	assessed	delay	in	re-
payment	of	principal	on	5%	of	the	total	loans	and	advances	to	cus-
tomers	differs	by	one	month,	the	provision	would	be	approximately		
USD	265	thousand	(31	December	2006:	USD	221	thousand)	higher	or		
USD	265	thousand	(31	December	2006:	USD	221	thousand)	lower.

Fair value of derivatives
The	 fair	 values	 of	 financial	 derivatives	 that	 are	 not	 quoted	 in		
active	 markets	 are	 determined	 by	 using	 valuation	 techniques.	 To	
the	extent	practical,	models	use	only	observable	data,	however	ar-
eas	such	as	credit	risk	(both	own	and	counterparty),	volatilities	and	
correlations	 require	 management	 to	 make	 estimates.	 Changes	 in	
assumptions	about	these	factors	could	affect	reported	fair	values.	
Changing	 the	 assumptions	 not	 supported	 by	 observable	 market	
data	to	a	reasonably	possible	alternative	would	not	result	in	a	signi-	
ficantly	different	profit,	income,	total	assets	or	total	liabilities.

Tax legislation
Ukrainian	tax,	currency	and	customs	legislation	is	subject	to	vary-
ing	interpretations.	Refer	to	Note	28.

Deferred income tax asset recognition
The	 recognised	 deferred	 tax	 asset	 represents	 income	 taxes	 re-
coverable	 through	 future	 deductions	 from	 taxable	 profits	 and	 is	
recorded	on	the	balance	sheet.	Deferred	income	tax	assets	are	re-
corded	 to	 the	 extent	 that	 realisation	 of	 the	 related	 tax	 benefit	 is	
probable.	The	future	taxable	profits	and	the	amount	of	tax	benefits	
that	are	probable	in	the	future	are	based	on	medium	term	business	
plan	prepared	by	Management	and	extrapolated	results	thereafter.	
The	business	plan	is	based	on	Management	expectations	that	are	
believed	to	be	reasonable	under	the	circumstances.

Initial recognition of related party transactions
In	the	normal	course	of	business	the	Bank	enters	into	transactions	
with	its	related	parties.	IAS	39	requires	initial	recognition	of	finan-
cial	 instruments	based	on	their	 fair	values.	 Judgement	 is	applied	
in	determining	if	transactions	are	priced	at	market	or	non-market		
interest	 rates,	 where	 there	 is	 no	 active	 market	 for	 such	 transac-
tions.	The	basis	for	judgement	is	pricing	for	similar	types	of	trans-
actions	with	unrelated	parties	and	effective	interest	rate	analysis.
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5 Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations 

Certain	 new	 IFRSs	 became	 effective	 for	 the	 Bank	 from	 1	 January	
2007.	Listed	below	are	those	new	or	amended	standards	or	inter-
pretations	which	are	or	in	the	future	could	be	relevant	to	the	Bank’s	
operations	and	the	nature	of	their	impact	on	the	Bank’s	accounting	
policies.	All	changes	in	accounting	policies	were	applied	retrospec-
tively	with	adjustments	made	to	the	retained	earnings	at	1	January	
2006,	unless	otherwise	described	below.

IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures and a complementary 
Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Capi-
tal Disclosures (effective from 1 January 2007). 
The	 IFRS	 introduced	 new	 disclosures	 to	 improve	 the	 information	
about	financial	instruments,	including	about	quantitative	aspects	
of	 risk	exposures	and	the	methods	of	risk	management.	The	new	
quantitative	 disclosures	 provide	 information	 about	 the	 extent	 of	
exposure	to	risk,	based	on	information	provided	internally	to	the	
entity’s	key	management	personnel.	Qualitative	and	quantitative	
disclosures	cover	exposure	to	credit	risk,	liquidity	risk	and	market	
risk	 including	sensitivity	analysis	 to	market	 risk.	 IFRS	7	replaced	
IAS	30,	Disclosures	in	the	Financial	Statements	of	Banks	and	Simi-
lar	Financial	Institutions,	and	some	of	the	requirements	in	IAS	32,	
Financial	 Instruments:	 Disclosure	 and	 Presentation.	 The	 Amend-
ment	to	IAS	1	introduced	disclosures	about	the	level	of	an	entity’s	
capital	and	how	it	manages	capital.	The	new	disclosures	are	made	
in	these	financial	statements.

Other new standards or interpretations
The	Bank	has	adopted	the	following	other	new	standards	or	inter-
pretations	which	became	effective	from	1	January	2007:	
•	 IFRIC	 7,	 Applying	 the	 Restatement	 Approach	 under	 IAS	 29		
	 (effective	for	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	March	2006);	
•	 IFRIC	8,	Scope	of	IFRS	2	(effective	for	periods	beginning	on	or		
	 after	1	May	2006);
•	 IFRIC	9,	Reassessment	of	Embedded	Derivatives	(effective	for		
	 annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	June	2006);
•	 IFRIC	10,	Interim	Financial	Reporting	and	Impairment	(effective		
	 for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	November	2006).
The	new	IFRIC	interpretations	7	to	10	did	not	significantly	affect	the	
Bank’s	financial	statements.

6 New Accounting Pronouncements

Certain	 new	 standards	 and	 interpretations	 have	 been	 published	
that	are	mandatory	for	the	Bank’s	accounting	periods	beginning	on	
or	after	1	January	2008	or	later	periods	and	which	the	Bank	has	not	
early	adopted:	

IFRS 8, Operating Segments (effective for annual periods begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2009). 
The	Standard	applies	to	entities	whose	debt	or	equity	instruments	
are	traded	in	a	public	market	or	 that	 file,	or	are	 in	the	process	of	
filing,	their	financial	statements	with	a	regulatory	organisation	for	
the	purpose	of	issuing	any	class	of	instruments	in	a	public	market.	
IFRS	8	requires	an	entity	to	report	financial	and	descriptive	infor-
mation	about	its	operating	segments	and	specifies	how	an	entity	
should	report	such	information.	Management	is	currently	assess-
ing	what	impact	the	Standard	will	have	on	segment	disclosures	in	
the	Bank’s	financial	statements.	

IAS 23, Borrowing Costs (revised March 2007; effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). 
The	revised	IAS	23	was	issued	in	March	2007.	The	main	change	to	
IAS	23	is	the	removal	of	the	option	of	immediately	recognising	as	
an	expense	borrowing	costs	that	relate	to	assets	that	take	a	sub-

stantial	 period	 of	 time	 to	 get	 ready	 for	 use	 or	 sale.	 An	 entity	 is,	
therefore,	 required	 to	 capitalise	 such	 borrowing	 costs	 as	 part	 of	
the	cost	of	the	asset.	The	revised	Standard	applies	prospectively	
to	borrowing	costs	relating	to	qualifying	assets	for	which	the	com-
mencement	 date	 for	 capitalisation	 is	 on	 or	 after	 1	 January	 2009.	
Management	does	not	expect	this	amendment	to	affect	the	Bank’s	
financial	statements.

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (revised September 
2007; effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2009). 
The	main	change	in	IAS	1	is	the	replacement	of	the	income	state-
ment	by	a	statement	of	comprehensive	income	which	will	also	in-
clude	all	non-owner	changes	in	equity,	such	as	the	revaluation	of	
available-for-sale	financial	assets.	Alternatively,	entities	will	be	al-
lowed	to	present	two	statements:	a	separate	income	statement	and	
a	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	The	revised	IAS	1	also	intro-	
duces	 a	 requirement	 to	 present	 a	 statement	 of	 financial	 position	
(balance	sheet)	at	the	beginning	of	the	earliest	comparative	period	
whenever	the	entity	restates	comparatives	due	to	reclassifications,	
changes	in	accounting	policies,	or	corrections	of	errors.	The	Bank	
expects	the	revised	IAS	1	to	affect	the	presentation	of	its	financial	
statements	but	to	have	no	impact	on	the	recognition	or	measure-
ment	of	specific	transactions	and	balances.

IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised 
January 2008; effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2009). 
The	revised	IAS	27	will	require	an	entity	to	attribute	total	compre-
hensive	income	to	the	owners	of	the	parent	and	to	the	non-control-
ling	interests	(previously	“minority	interests”)	even	if	this	results	
in	 the	 non-controlling	 interests	 having	 a	 deficit	 balance	 (the	 cur-
rent	standard	requires	the	excess	losses	to	be	allocated	to	the	own-
ers	of	the	parent	in	most	cases).	The	revised	standard	specifies	that	
changes	in	a	parent’s	ownership	interest	in	a	subsidiary	that	do	not	
result	in	the	loss	of	control	must	be	accounted	for	as	equity	trans-
actions.	It	also	specifies	how	an	entity	should	measure	any	gain	or	
loss	arising	on	the	loss	of	control	of	a	subsidiary.	At	the	date	when	
control	is	lost,	any	investment	retained	in	the	former	subsidiary	will	
have	to	be	measured	at	its	fair	value.	Management	does	not	expect	
this	amendment	to	affect	the	Bank’s	financial	statements.

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations – Amendment to IFRS 2, 
Share-based Payment (issued in January 2008; effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008).  
The	 amendment	 clarifies	 that	 only	 service	 conditions	 and	 per-
formance	 conditions	 are	 vesting	 conditions.	 Other	 features	 of	 a	
share-based	payment	are	not	vesting	conditions.	The	amendment	
specifies	that	all	cancellations,	whether	by	the	entity	or	by	other	
parties,	 should	 receive	 the	 same	 accounting	 treatment.	 Manage-
ment	does	not	expect	this	amendment	to	affect	the	Bank’s	financial	
statements.

IFRS 3, Business Combinations (revised January 2008; effective for 
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after 
the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or 
after 1 July 2009).  
The	 revised	 IFRS	 3	 will	 allow	 entities	 to	 choose	 to	 measure	 non-	
controlling	interests	using	the	existing	IFRS	3	method	(proportion-
ate	share	of	the	acquiree’s	identifiable	net	assets)	or	on	the	same	
basis	as	US	GAAP	(at	fair	value).	The	revised	IFRS	3	is	more	detailed	
in	providing	guidance	on	the	application	of	the	purchase	method	to	
business	combinations.	The	requirement	to	measure	at	 fair	value	
every	asset	and	liability	at	each	step	in	a	step	acquisition	for	the	
purposes	of	calculating	a	portion	of	goodwill	has	been	 removed.	
Instead,	 goodwill	 will	 be	 measured	 as	 the	 difference	 at	 acquisi-
tion	date	between	the	fair	value	of	any	investment	in	the	business	
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held	before	the	acquisition,	the	consideration	transferred	and	the	
net	 assets	 acquired.	 	 Acquisition-related	 costs	 will	 be	 accounted	
for	separately	from	the	business	combination	and	therefore	recog-
nised	as	expenses	rather	than	included	in	goodwill.	An	acquirer	will	
have	to	recognise	at	the	acquisition	date	a	liability	for	any	contin-
gent	purchase	consideration.	Changes	in	the	value	of	that	liability	
after	the	acquisition	date	will	be	recognised	in	accordance	with	oth-
er	applicable	IFRSs,	as	appropriate,	rather	than	by	adjusting	good-
will.	The	revised	IFRS	3	brings	into	its	scope	business	combinations	
involving	only	mutual	entities	and	business	combinations	achieved	
by	contract	alone.	Management	does	not	expect	the	amended	stan-
dard	to	affect	the	Bank’s	financial	statements.

Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquida-
tion—IAS 32 and IAS 1 Amendment (effective from 1 January 2009).	
The	amendment	requires	classification	as	equity	of	some	financial	
instruments	 that	 meet	 the	 definition	 of	 a	 financial	 liability.	 The	
Bank	does	not	expect	the	amendment	to	affect	its	financial	state-
ments.

Other new standards or interpretations. 
The	Bank	has	not	early	adopted	the	following	other	new	standards	
or	interpretations:	
•	 IFRIC	 11,	 IFRS	 2	 -	 Group	 and	 Treasury	 Share	 Transactions		
	 (effective	 for	 annual	 periods	 beginning	 on	 or	 after	 1	 March		
	 2007);
•	 IFRIC	 12,	 Service	 Concession	 Arrangements	 (effective	 for		
	 annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2008);
•	 IFRIC	13,	Customer	Loyalty	Programmes	 (effective	 for	annual		
	 periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2008);
•	 IFRIC	14,	IAS	19—The	Limit	on	a	Defined	Benefit	Asset,	Mini-	
	 mum	Funding	Requirements	and	their	Interaction	(effective	for		
	 annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2008).
Unless	 otherwise	 described	 above,	 the	 new	 standards	 and	 inter-
pretations	are	not	expected	to	significantly	affect	the	Bank’s	finan-
cial	statements.
	

7 Cash and Cash Equivalents and Mandatory Reserves
 
  2007 2006
	 Cash	on	hand		 14,238	 9,551
	 Cash	balances	with	the	NBU	
	 (other	than	mandatory	reserve	deposits)	 5,238	 4,079
	 Mandatory	cash	balances	with	NBU	 7,599	 4,650
	 Correspondent	accounts	and	overnight	
	 placements	with	other	banks	 	
	 –	Ukraine	 4,159	 1,336
	 –	Other	countries	 4,197	 10,449
	 Total cash and cash equivalents and 
 mandatory reserves 35,431 30,065
	
As	at	31	December	2007	the	mandatory	reserve	balance	is	calcu-
lated	on	the	basis	of	a	simple	average	over	a	monthly	period	(2006:	
monthly	period)	and	should	be	maintained	at	the	level	of	0.5	to	5	
per	cent	(31	December	2006:	0.5	to	5	per	cent)	of	certain	obliga-
tions	of	the	Bank.	As	such,	the	balance	can	vary	from	day-to-day.	
The	 Bank’s	 mandatory	 reserve	 balance	 for	 December	 2007	 was	
USD	7,599	thousand	(2006:	USD	4,650	thousand).	The	Bank	may	
satisfy	 its	 mandatory	 reserve	 requirement	 with	 the	 balance	 on		
account	 with	 the	 National	 Bank	 of	 Ukraine	 (2006:	 balance	 on	 ac-
count	with	the	National	Bank	of	Ukraine).	Mandatory	reserve	bal-
ance	carries	0%	interest	rate.
As	at	31	December	2007,	in	accordance	with	the	NBU	regulations	
the	Bank	was	required	to	maintain	the	balance	on	account	with	the	
NBU	at	the	level	not	less	than	100%	of	the	mandatory	reserve	bal-
ance	 for	 the	 preceding	 month	 (31	 December	 2006:	 not	 less	 than	
100%	of	the	mandatory	reserve	balance	for	the	preceding	month).	

The	Bank	will	not	be	subject	 to	any	sanctions	 if	 it	 fails	 to	comply	
with	the	requirements	less	than	30	times	within	a	3	month	period.		
As	 the	 respective	 liquid	 assets	 are	 not	 available	 to	 finance	 the	
Bank’s	 day-to-day	 operations,	 for	 the	 purposes	 of	 the	 cash	 flow	
statement	 the	 mandatory	 reserve	 balance	 is	 excluded	 from	 cash	
and	cash	equivalents.	As	at	31	December	2007	the	Bank’s	cash	and	
cash	equivalents	for	the	purposes	of	cash	flow	statement	equalled	
to	 USD	 27,832	 thousand	 (31	 December	 2005:	 USD	 25,415	 thou-
sand).
Interest	rate	analysis	of	cash	and	cash	equivalents	is	disclosed	in	
Note	26.	The	information	on	related	party	balances	is	disclosed	in	
Note	32.

8 Due from Other Banks
 
  2007 2006
	 Short-term	placements	with	other	banks	 7,921	 13,770
	 Less:	Provision	for	impairment	of	due	
	 from	other	banks	 (114)	 (161)
 Total due from other banks 7,807 13,609
	
Amounts	due	from	other	banks	are	not	collateralised.	Analysis	by	
credit	quality	of	amounts	due	from	other	banks	outstanding	at	31	
December	2007	is	as	follows:
 
  Short-term placements  Total
  with other banks
	 Current	and	not	impaired	 	 	
	 –	Largest	20	Ukrainian	banks	 7,921	 7,921
 Total current and not impaired 7,921 7,921
	 Less provision for impairment (114) (114)
 Total due from other banks 7,807 7,807
	 	 	
Analysis	 by	 credit	 quality	 of	 amounts	 due	 from	 other	 banks	 out-
standing	at	31	December	2006	is	as	follows:
 
  Short-term placements  Total
  with other banks
	 Current	and	not	impaired	 	 	
	 –	Largest	20	Ukrainian	banks	 8,641	 8,641
	 –	Other	Ukrainian	banks	 5,129	 5,129
	 Total current and not impaired 13,770 13,770
 Less provision for impairment (161) (161)
 Total due from other banks 13,609 13,609
	
Movements	in	the	provision	for	impairment	of	due	from	other	banks	
are	as	follows:
 
   Placements with other banks
  2007 2006	
 Provision for impairment at 1 January 161 23
	 (Recovery	of)/provision	for	impairment	
	 during	the	year	 (47)	 138
 Provision for impairment at 31 December 114 161
	 	 	 	
The	carrying	value	of	each	class	of	amounts	due	from	other	banks	
approximates	 fair	 value	 at	 31	 December	 2007	 and	 31	 December	
2006.	At	31	December	2007	the	estimated	fair	value	of	due	from	
other	 banks	 was	 USD	 7,807	 thousand	 (2006:	 USD	 13,609	 thou-
sand).	Refer	to	Note	30.
Interest	rate	analysis	of	due	from	other	banks	is	disclosed	in	Note	
26.
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9 Loans and Advances to Customers
 
  2007 2006
	 Loans	to	individuals	–	entrepreneurs	 295,719	 228,805
	 Corporate	loans	 67,778	 53,913
	 Mortgage	loans	 17,708	 11,506
	 Loans	to	individuals	–	consumer	and	
	 other	loans	 7,976	 4,583
	 Less:	Provision	for	loan	impairment	 (9,870)	 (8,015)
 Total loans and advances to customers 379,311 290,792
	
Movements	 in	 the	provision	for	 loan	 impairment	during	2007	are	
as	follows:

Movements	 in	the	provision	for	 loan	 impairment	during	2006	are	
as	follows:

Economic	sector	risk	concentrations	within	the	customer	loan	port-
folio	are	as	follows:

   2007  2006
  Amount % Amount %
	 Trade	 208,690	 54	 160,243	 54
	 Services	 43,562	 11	 35,953	 12
	 Manufacturing	 39,812	 10	 31,272	 10
	 Transport	and	
	 communication	 32,023	 8	 26,615	 9
	 Individuals	 25,684	 7	 16,089	 5
	 Agriculture	and	
	 food	industry	 3,658	 1	 2,670	 1
	 Other	 35,752	 9	 25,965	 9
	 Total loans and advances 
 to customers 
 (before impairment)  389,181 100 298,807 100
	 	 	 	
At	31	December	2007	the	Bank	had	11	borrowers	(2006:	8	borrow-
ers)	with	aggregated	loan	amounts	above	USD	1,000	thousand.	The	
total	aggregate	amount	of	these	loans	was	USD	16,306	thousand	
(2006:	USD	11,620	thousand)	or	4.2%	of	the	gross	loan	portfolio	
(2006:	4%).

  Corporate Loans to Individuals – Mortgage Total
  loans individuals – entrepreneurs loans
   consumer and
   other loans
 Provision for loan impairment at 1 January 2007 1,177 81 6,343 414 8,015
	 Provision	for	impairment	during	the	year		 44	 69	 2,831	 476	 3,420
	 Amounts	written	off	during	the	year	as	uncollectible		 –	 (8)	 (1,685)	 (172)	 (1,865)
	 Recovery	of	loans	and	advances	to	customers
	 previously	written	off	as	uncollectible	 –	 –	 300	 –	 300
 Provision for loan impairment at 31 December 2007 1,221 142 7,789 718 9,870

  Corporate Loans to Individuals – Mortgage Total
  loans individuals – entrepreneurs loans
   consumer and
   other loans
 Provision for loan impairment at 1 January 2006 1,247 36 3,599 89 4,971
	 Provision	for	impairment	during	the	year	 20	 51	 3,381	 325	 3,777
	 Amounts	written	off	during	the	year	as	uncollectible		 (90)	 (6)	 (800)	 –	 (896)
	 Recovery	of	loans	and	advances	to	customers	
	 previously	written	off	as	uncollectible	 –	 –	 163	 –	 163
 Provision for loan impairment at 31 December 2006 1,177 81 6,343 414 8,015
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  Corporate Loans to Individuals – Mortgage Total
  loans individuals – entrepreneurs loans
   consumer and
   other loans
 	 Unsecured	loans	 3,622	 3,329	 115,525	 –	 122,476
	 Loans	collateralised	by:	 	 	 	 	
	 –	residential	real	estate	 15,712	 3,833	 77,923	 16,017	 113,485
	 –	other	real	estate	 34,862	 176	 56,336	 1,327	 92,701
	 –	cash	deposits	 351	 –	 665	 –	 1,016
	 –	other	assets	 13,231	 638	 45,270	 364	 59,503
 Total loans and advances to customers (before impairment) 67,778 7,976 295,719 17,708 389,181

  Corporate Loans to Individuals – Mortgage Total
  loans individuals – entrepreneurs loans
   consumer and
   other loans
 	 Unsecured	loans	 4,993	 2,334	 110,221	 –	 117,548
	 Loans	collateralised	by:		 	 	 	 	
	 –	residential	real	estate	 11,344	 1,792	 48,980	 9,846	 71,962
	 –	other	real	estate	 24,965	 141	 37,524	 1,235	 63,865
	 –	cash	deposits	 461	 –	 876	 –	 1,337
	 –	other	assets	 12,150	 316	 31,204	 425	 44,095
 Total loans and advances to customers (before impairment) 53,913 4,583 228,805 11,506 298,807

  Corporate Loans to Individuals – Mortgage Total
  loans individuals – entrepreneurs loans
   consumer and
   other loans
 	 Current	and	not	impaired	 	 	 	 	
	 –	exposures	up	to	USD	10	thousand	 789	 3,065	 112,428	 11,635	 127,917
	 –	exposures	from	USD	10	thousand	and	
	 				up	to	USD	50	thousand	 11,439	 3,479	 91,079	 1,099	 107,096
	 –	exposures	from	USD	50	thousand	and	
	 				up	to	USD	150	thousand	 23,963	 757	 58,015	 2,251	 84,986
	 –	loans	over	USD	150	thousand	 30,818	 645	 28,982	 2,154	 62,599
	 –	Loans	renegotiated	in	2007	 71	 8	 1,142	 81	 1,302
 Total current and not impaired 67,080 7,954 291,646 17,220 383,900
	 	 	 	 	
	 Past	due	but	not	impaired	 	 	 	 	
	 –	less	than	30	days	overdue	 14	 2	 525	 51	 592
	 –	30	to	60	days	overdue	 21	 –	 345	 36	 402
	 –	61	to	90	days	overdue	 –	 1	 349	 25	 375
 Total past due but not impaired 35 3 1,219 112 1,369
	 	 	 	 	
	 Loans	individually	determined	to	be	impaired	(gross)	 	 	 	 	
	 –	less	than	30	days	overdue	 546	 –	 116	 –	 662
	 –	91	to	180	days	overdue	 41	 –	 814	 117	 972
	 –	over	180	days	overdue	 76	 19	 1,924	 259	 2,278
 Total individually impaired loans (gross) 663 19 2,854 376 3,912
	 	 	 	 	
	 Gross carrying value of loans 67,778 7,976 295,719 17,708 389,181
 Less impairment provisions (1,221) (142) (7,789) (718) (9,870)
 Total loans and advances to customers 66,557 7,834 287,930 16,990 379,311
	 	 	 	 	

Information	about	collateral	at	31	December	2007	is	as	follows:

Information	about	collateral	at	31	December	2006	is	as	follows:

Analysis	 by	 credit	 quality	 of	 loans	 outstanding	 at	 31	 December	
2007	is	as	follows:
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  Corporate Loans to Individuals – Mortgage Total
  loans individuals – entrepreneurs loans
   consumer and
   other loans
 Current	and	not	impaired	 	 	 	 	
	 –	exposures	up	to	USD	10	thousand	 4,366	 2,389	 109,924	 6,363	 123,042
	 –	exposures	from	USD	10	thousand	and	
	 			up	to	USD	50	thousand	 12,320	 1,910	 71,252	 1,620	 87,102
	 –	exposures	from	USD	50	thousand	and	
	 			up	to	USD	150	thousand	 18,450	 270	 32,261	 1,630	 52,611
	 –	loans	over	USD	150	thousand	 17,081	 –	 10,047	 1,612	 28,740
	 –	Loans	renegotiated	in	2006	 140	 10	 1,699	 6	 1,855
 Total current and not impaired 52,357 4,579 225,183 11,231 293,350
	 	 	 	 	
	 Past	due	but	not	impaired	 	 	 	 	
	 –	less	than	30	days	overdue	 40	 –	 914	 102	 1,056
	 –	30	to	60	days	overdue	 92	 –	 168	 85	 345
	 –	61	to	90	days	overdue	 9	 3	 344	 39	 395
 Total past due but not impaired 141 3 1,426 226 1,796
	 	 	 	 	
	 Loans	individually	determined	to	be	impaired	(gross)	 	 	 	 	
	 –	less	than	30	days	overdue	 1,356	 –	 1,741	 –	 3,097
	 –	91	to	180	days	overdue	 –	 1	 318	 43	 362
	 –	over	180	days	overdue	 59	 –	 137	 6	 202
 Total individually impaired loans (gross) 1,415 1 2,196 49 3,661
	 	 	 	 	
	 Gross carrying value of loans  53,913 4,583 228,805 11,506 298,807
 Less impairment provisions (1,177) (81) (6,343) (414) (8,015)
 Total loans and advances to customers 52,736 4,502 222,462 11,092 290,792

  Corporate Loans to Individuals – Mortgage Total
  loans individuals – entrepreneurs loans
   consumer and
   other loans
 Fair	value	of	collateral	-	loans	past	due	but	not	impaired	 	 	 	 	
	 –	residential	real	estate	 123	 –	 823	 120	 1,066
	 –	other	assets	 197	 –	 1,252	 –	 1,449
	 	 	 	 	
	 Fair	value	of	collateral	-	individually	impaired	loans	 	 	 	 	
	 –	residential	real	estate	 331	 –	 588	 –	 919
	 –	other	assets	 1,221	 –	 –	 –	 1,221
	 	 	 	 	
 Total  1,872 – 2,663 120 4,655

Analysis	 by	 credit	 quality	 of	 loans	 outstanding	 at	 31	 December	
2006	is	as	follows:

The	primary	factors	that	the	Bank	considers	whether	a	loan	is	im-
paired	is	its	overdue	status	and	realisability	of	related	collateral,	
if	any.	As	a	result,	the	Bank	presents	above	an	ageing	analysis	of	
loans	that	are	individually	determined	to	be	impaired.
Current	 and	 not	 impaired,	 but	 renegotiated	 loans	 represent	 the	
carrying	amount	of	loans	that	would	otherwise	be	past	due	or	im-
paired	whose	terms	have	been	renegotiated.	Past	due	but	not	im-
paired	loans	represent	collateralised	loans	where	the	fair	value	of	
collateral	 covers	 the	 overdue	 interest	 and	 principal	 repayments.	
The	amount	reported	as	past	due	but	not	impaired	is	the	whole	bal-
ance	of	such	loans,	not	only	the	individual	instalments	that	are	past	
due.	

Fair	value	of	collateral	in	respect	of	loans	past	due	but	not	impaired	
and	in	respect	of	 loans	individually	determined	to	be	impaired	at		
31	December	2007	was	as	follows:
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Fair	value	of	collateral	in	respect	of	loans	past	due	but	not	impaired	
and	in	respect	of	loans	individually	determined	to	be	impaired	at	31	
December	2006	was	as	follows:

The	carrying	value	of	each	class	of	loans	and	advances	to	custom-
ers	approximates	fair	value	at	31	December	2007	and	31	Decem-
ber	2006.	At	31	December	2007	the	estimated	fair	value	of	loans	
and	 advances	 to	 customers	 was	 USD	 377,190	 thousand	 (2006:		
USD	290,769	thousand).	Refer	to	Note	30.	
Interest	 rate	 analysis	 of	 loans	 and	 advances	 to	 customers	 is	 dis-
closed	in	Note	26.	The	information	on	related	party	balances	is	dis-
closed	in	Note	32.

10 Investment Securities Held to Maturity
 
  2007 2006
 Deposit	certificates	issued	by	the	
	 National	Bank	of	Ukraine	 6,003	 –
	 Total investment securities held 
 to maturity 6,003 –
	
The	movement	in	investment	securities	held	to	maturity	is	as	fol-
lows:
 
   2007 2006 
 Gross amount at 1 January  – –
	 Additions	 	 15,856	 –
	 Redemption	 	 (9,901)	 –
	 Interest	income	accrual	 	 120	 –
	 Interest	income	received	 	 (72)	 –
 Gross amount at 31 December  6,003 –
	 	
At	31	December	2007	the	fair	values	of	investment	securities	held	
to	maturity	were	as	follows:
	
   2007  2006
  Fair Carrying Fair Carrying
  value value value value
 Deposit	certificates	
	 issued	by	the	National	
	 Bank	of	Ukraine	 6,003	 6,003	 –	 –
	 Total investment securities 
 held to maturity 6,003 6,003 – – 
	 	 	
As	 at	 31	 December	 2007	 all	 debt	 investment	 securities	 held	 to		
maturity	were	current	and	not	impaired.
Interest	 rate	analysis	of	 investment	securities	held	 to	maturity	 is	
disclosed	in	Note	26.

  Corporate Loans to Individuals – Mortgage Total
  loans individuals – entrepreneurs loans
   consumer and
   other loans
	 Fair	value	of	collateral	–	loans	past	due	but	not	impaired	 	 	 	 	
	 –	residential	real	estate	 111	 –	 1,376	 –	 1,487
	 –	cash	deposits	 –	 –	 8	 –	 8
	 –	other	assets	 235	 –	 1,353	 20	 1,608
	 	 	 	 	
	 Fair	value	of	collateral	-	individually	impaired	loans	 	 	 	 	
	 –	residential	real	estate	 –	 –	 1,290	 –	 1,290
	 –	other	assets	 –	 –	 135	 –	 135
	
 Total  346 – 4,162 20 4,528
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	11 Premises, Equipment and Intangible Assets

Construction	 in	 progress	 consists	 mainly	 of	 construction	 and		
refurbishment	 of	 branch	 premises	 and	 equipment.	 Upon	 comple-
tion,	assets	are	transferred	to	premises	and	equipment.	

12 Other Financial and Non-financial Assets
 
  Note 2007 2006 
 Other financial assets    
	 Derivative	financial	assets	 29	 137	 7
	 Other	financial	assets	 	 –	 20
 Other non-financial assets   
	 Prepayments	for	tangible	and
	 intangible	assets	 	 276	 347
	 Other	prepaid	expenses	 	 1,196	 1,089
	 Other	non-financial	assets	 	 116	 294
	 Less:	Provision	for	impairment	
	 of	other	non-financial	assets	 	 (83)	 (90)
	 Total other financial and 
 non-financial assets  1,642 1,667
	 	
The	information	on	related	party	balances	is	disclosed	in	Note	32.

13 Due to Other Banks
 
  2007 2006
	 Short-term	placements	of	other	banks	 16,977	 4,995
 Total due to other banks 16,977 4,995
	 	
The	 carrying	 value	 of	 each	 class	 of	 due	 to	 other	 banks	 approxi-
mates	fair	value	at	31	December	2007	and	31	December	2006.	At	
31	December	2007	the	estimated	fair	value	of	due	to	other	banks	
was	USD	16,977	thousand	(2006:	USD	4,995	thousand).	Refer	 to	
Note	30.	
Interest	rate	analysis	of	due	to	other	banks	is	disclosed	in	Note	26.	
The	information	on	related	party	balances	is	disclosed	in	Note	32.

	   Premises and Computers Furniture Construction Total Computer Total
   leasehold and and in progress  software  
   improvements equipment fittings   licenses
 Cost	at	1	January	2006	 	 6,628	 3,296	 2,845	 22	 12,791	 856	 13,647
	 Accumulated	depreciation		 	 (599)	 (1,919)	 (823)	 –	 (3,341)	 (331)	 (3,672)
 Carrying amount at 1 January 2006  6,029 1,377 2,022 22 9,450 525 9,975

	 Additions	 	 15	 1,933	 1,760	 2,110	 5,818	 529	 6,347
	 Transfers	 	 1,213	 –	 –	 (1,213)	 –	 –	 –
	 Disposals	 	 –	 (1)	 (10)	 –	 (11)	 (28)	 (39)
	 Depreciation	and	amortisation	charge			(Note	22)	 (539)	 (946)	 (1,006)	 –	 (2,491)	 (176)	 (2,667)
 Carrying amount at 31 December 2006  6,718 2,363 2,766 919 12,766 850 13,616
	
	 Cost	at	31	December	2006	 	 7,856	 5,224	 4,554	 919	 18,553	 1,175	 19,728
	 Accumulated	depreciation		 	 (1,138)	 (2,861)	 (1,788)	 –	 (5,787)	 (325)	 (6,112)
 Carrying amount at 31 December 2006  6,718 2,363 2,766 919 12,766 850 13,616
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Additions	 	 1	 1,900	 2,209	 6,259	 10,369	 925	 11,294
	 Transfers	 	 1,819	 –	 –	 (1,819)	 –	 –	 –
	 Disposals	 	 (25)	 (1)	 (7)	 –	 (33)	 –	 (33)
	 Depreciation	and	amortisation	charge			(Note	22)	 (732)	 (1,326)	 (1,310)	 –	 (3,368)	 (239)	 (3,607)
 Carrying amount at 31 December 2007  7,781 2,936 3,658 5,359 19,734 1,536 21,270
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Cost	at	31	December	2007	 	 9,651	 7,123	 6,756	 5,359	 28,889	 2,100	 30,989
	 Accumulated	depreciation		 	 (1,870)	 (4,187)	 (3,098)	 –	 (9,155)	 (564)	 (9,719)
 Carrying amount at 31 December 2007  7,781 2,936 3,658 5,359 19,734 1,536 21,270
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14 Customer Accounts
 
  2007 2006
	 Legal	entities	 	
	 –	Current/settlement	accounts	 30,202	 14,309
	 –	Term	deposits	 6,389	 11,518
	 Individuals	 	
	 –	Current/demand	accounts	 15,433	 12,698
	 –	Term	deposits	 168,563	 117,146
 Total customer accounts 220,587 155,671
	
Economic	 sector	 concentrations	 within	 customer	 accounts	 are	 as	
follows:

   2007  2006
  Amount % Amount %
	 Individuals	 183,996	 83	 129,844	 83
	 Services	 15,622	 7	 13,832	 9
	 Trade	 12,278	 6	 6,419	 4
	 Agriculture	and	food	
	 processing	 2,395	 1	 234	 –
	 Transport	and	
	 communication	 1,402	 1	 878	 1
	 Industry	and	other	
	 production	 1,264	 1	 1,678	 1
	 Construction	 447	 –	 936	 1
	 Other	 3,183	 1	 1,850	 1
 Total customer accounts 220,587 100 155,671 100
	 	 	 	
At	31	December	2007	the	Bank	had	19	customers	(2006:	13	cus-
tomers)	 with	 balances	 above	 USD	 500	 thousand.	 The	 aggregate	
balance	 of	 these	 customers	 was	 USD	 17,479	 thousand	 (2006:		
USD	 16,075	 thousand)	 or	 8%	 (2006:	 10%)	 of	 total	 customer	 ac-
counts.	
At	31	December	2007	included	in	customer	accounts	are	deposits	
of	USD	371	thousand	(2006:	USD	164	thousand)	held	as	collateral	
for	 irrevocable	 commitments	 under	 guarantees	 issued.	 Refer	 to	
Note	27.
The	 carrying	 value	 of	 each	 class	 of	 customer	 accounts	 approxi-
mates	fair	value	at	31	December	2007	and	31	December	2006.	At	
31	December	2007	the	estimated	fair	value	of	customer	accounts	
was	USD	220,587	thousand	(2006:	USD	156,033	thousand).	Refer	
to	Note	30.
Interest	rate	analysis	of	customer	accounts	is	disclosed	in	Note	26.	
The	information	on	related	party	balances	is	disclosed	in	Note	32.

15 Debt Securities in Issue 

As	at	31	December	2007	the	Bank	has	debt	securities	in	issue	with	
the	total	nominal	value	of	USD	44,554	thousand	(2006:	USD	51,485	
thousand)	 and	 carrying	 value	 of	 USD	 45,866	 thousand	 (2006:		
USD	53,151	thousand)	denominated	in	Ukrainian	hryvnias.	These	
bonds	 mature	 from	 April	 2008	 to	 September	 2010,	 have	 coupon	
rate	from	13%	to	13.5%	(2006:	12.5%	-	13.5%)	and	weighted	aver-
age	yield	to	maturity	of	13.1%	(2006:	12.9%).	
There	were	no	bonds	issues	in	year	2007.	In	October	2006	the	Bank	
issued	domestic	bonds	with	the	total	nominal	value	of	USD	34,653	
thousand,	 coupon	 rate	 of	 13%	 per	 annum	 and	 final	 maturity	 in	
September	 2010.	 Holders	 of	 the	 bonds	 have	 the	 right	 to	 present	
the	bonds	for	early	redemption	at	nominal	value	in	October	2008.		
Under	the	terms	of	the	bonds	issue	the	Bank	has	the	right	to	change	
the	coupon	rate	on	the	bonds	starting	from	October	2008	but	the	
coupon	rate	should	not	be	lower	than	3%	per	annum.

At	31	December	2007	the	fair	values	of	debt	securities	in	issue	were	
as	follows:
	
   2007  2006
  Fair Carrying Fair Carrying
  value value value value
	 Bonds	issued	on	
	 domestic	market	 45,508	 45,866	 53,018	 53,151
	 Total debt securities 
 in issue 45,508 45,866 53,018 53,151
	 	 	 	
Interest	rate	analysis	of	debt	securities	in	issue	is	disclosed	in	Note	
26.	
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 Counterparty Currency Date of contract Maturity date Interest rate Balance outstanding
      2007 2006 
 ProCredit	Holding	AG	 USD	 28/09/2005	 15/06/2012	 8.42%	 5,020	 5,020
	 ProCredit	Holding	AG	 USD	 07/10/2005	 15/12/2010	 7.90%	 4,302	 5,019
	 ProCredit	Holding	AG	 USD	 25/05/2006	 30/05/2011	 9.47%	 9,076	 9,076
	 ProCredit	Holding	AG	 USD	 28/09/2006	 04/10/2010	 9.16%	 7,364	 7,363
	 ProCredit	Holding	AG	 USD	 20/12/2007	 15/12/2010	 7.90%	 5,012	 –
	 ProCredit	Holding	AG	 USD	 17/09/2007	 22/09/2010	 8.45%	 10,228	 –
	 ProCredit	Holding	AG	 USD	 15/10/2007	 18/10/2010	 8.55%	 10,169	 –
	 European	Bank	for	Reconstruction		 USD	 Tranche	DD	 09/12/2009	 Libor	6	m	+2.6%	 1,289	 –
	 and	Development	(“EBRD”)	 	 16/02/2007	 	 	 	
	 EBRD	 USD	 Tranche	DD	 09/12/2009	 Libor	6	m	+2.6%	 1,287	 –
	 	 	 19/04/2007	 	
	 EBRD	 USD	 Tranche	DD	 09/12/2009	 Libor	6	m	+2.6%	 1,287	 –
	 	 	 21/05/2007	 	
	 EBRD	 USD	 Tranche	DD	 	09/12/2011	 Libor	6	m	+3%	 1,288				 –
	 	 	 18/06/2007		
	 EBRD	 USD	 Tranche	DD	 09/12/2009	 Libor	6	m	+2.6%	 1,804	 –	
	 	 	 10/07/2007	 	
	 EBRD	 USD	 Tranche	DD	 09/12/2011	 Libor	6	m	+3%	 3,679	 –
	 	 	 16/02/2007	 	
	 EBRD	 USD	 Tranche	DD	 09/12/2011	 Libor	6	m	+3%	 3,678	 –
	 	 	 19/04/2007	 	
	 EBRD	 USD	 Tranche	DD	 09/12/2011	 Libor	6	m	+3%	 3,678	 –
	 	 	 21/05/2007	 	
	 EBRD	 USD	 Tranche	DD	 09/12/2011	 Libor	6	m	+3%	 3,677	 –
	 	 	 18/06/2007	 	
	 EBRD	 USD	 Tranche	DD	 09/12/2011	 Libor	6	m	+3%	 5,146			 –
	 	 	 10/07/2007	 	
	 EBRD	 USD	 20/06/2001	 10/01/2008	 Libor	6m+4%	 598	 1,795
	 EBRD	 USD	 20/06/2001	 10/01/2008	 Libor6m+3.25%	 744	 2,235
	 EBRD	 USD	 24/09/2004	 20/03/2011	 Libor6m+3.25%	 11,210	 11,202
	 Black	Sea	Trade	and	Development		 USD	 22/06/2004	 28/07/2007	 Libor	6m	+3.5%	 –	 2,593
	 Bank	(“BSTDB”)	 	 	 	 	
	 BSTDB	 USD	 04/05/2006	 01/08/2009	 Libor	6m+3%	 12,655	 12,614
	 Overseas	Private	Investment	 	USD	 10/12/2004	 15/12/2010	 6.78%	 3,331	 4,987
	 Corporation	(“OPIC”)	
	 OPIC	 USD	 10/12/2004	 15/12/2010	 7.02%	 3,331	 4,986
	 OPIC	 USD	 26/09/2005	 15/12/2010	 7.70%	 5,016	 5,016
	 International	Finance	Corporation	(“IFC”)	 USD	 25/06/2004	 15/03/2009	 Libor	6m+2.6%	 3,264	 5,435
	 IFC	 USD	 24/06/2002	 15/09/2007	 Libor	6m+4%	 –	 1,028
	 German-Ukrainian	Fund	(“GUF”)	 EUR	 23/06/2004	 02/07/2007	 EURIBOR+2.5%	 –	 800
	 GUF	 EUR	 20/04/2005	 21/04/2008	 EURIBOR+2.5%	 –	 4,001
	 Western	NIS	Enterprise	Fund	(“WNISEF”)	 USD	 04/02/2002	 21/12/2007	 Libor	6m+4%	 –	 1,463
	 Kreditanstalt	fuer	Wiederaufbau	(“KfW”)	 USD	 30/05/2003	 31/05/2007	 Libor	6m+4%	 –	 731
	 Credit	Suisse	Microfinance	Fund	 USD	 14/02/2005	 14/02/2008	 Libor	3m+3%	 500	 511
 Total other borrowed funds     118,633 85,875

16 Other Borrowed Funds

During	 the	 year	 2007	 the	 Bank	 received	 3	 loans	 from	 ProCredit	
Holding	AG	in	the	total	amount	of	USD	25,000	thousand	with	inter-
est	rates	from	7.9%	to	8.55%	per	annum	and	maturity	from	Septem-
ber	2010	till	December	2010.
On	 20	 December	 2006	 the	 Bank	 signed	 a	 new	 syndicated	 loan	
agreement	with	EBRD	for	USD	27,000	thousand.	The	loan	was	pro-
vided	 in	6	tranches	with	an	 interest	rate	6-month	LIBOR+2.6%	to		
6-month	LIBOR+3%	and	matures	from	December	2009	till	Decem-
ber	2011.
The	carrying	value	of	each	class	of	other	borrowed	funds	approxi-
mates	 fair	 value	 at	 31	 December	 2007	 and	 31	 December	 2006.	
At	31	December	2007	the	estimated	fair	value	of	other	borrowed	
funds	was	USD	118,037	thousand	(2006:	USD	86,695	thousand).	
Refer	to	Note	30.
Geographical,	 currency,	 maturity	 and	 interest	 rate	 analyses	 of	
other	borrowed	funds	are	disclosed	in	Note	26.	The	information	on	
related	party	balances	is	disclosed	in	Note	32.
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17 Other Financial and Non-financial Liabilities

Other	liabilities	comprise	the	following:
 
  Note 2007 2006 
 Other non-financial liabilities   
	 Provision	for	unused	vacation	 	 900	 573
	 Amounts	payable	 	 357	 172
	 Other	accruals	 	 137	 125
 Other financial liabilities	 	 	
	 Derivative	financial	instruments	 29	 33	 19
	 Other	 	 150	 124
	 Total other financial and 
 non-financial liabilities  1,577 1,013
	 	
Other	liabilities	arising	from	transactions	with	related	parties	are	
disclosed	in	Note	32.

18 Subordinated Debt 

Subordinated	 debt	 represents	 a	 long	 term	 borrowing	 agreement,	
which,	 in	 case	 of	 the	 Bank’s	 default,	 would	 be	 secondary	 to	 the	
Bank’s	other	obligations,	including	deposits	and	other	debt	instru-
ments.	In	accordance	with	the	Law	of	Ukraine	on	Banks	and	Bank-
ing	activities	and	the	NBU	regulations,	subordinated	debt	cannot	
be	 withdrawn	 from	 the	 Bank	 for	 at	 least	 five	 years	 from	 the	 date	
of	receipt.
Subordinated	debt	was	attracted	from	ProCredit	Holding	AG	in	May	
2005	in	the	amount	of	USD	8,000	thousand	with	an	interest	rate	of	
9.69%	per	annum	and	maturity	in	May	2015.	In	September	2006	a	
new	subordinated	loan	was	attracted	from	ProCredit	Holding	in	the	
amount	of	USD	2,800	 thousand	with	an	 interest	 rate	of	10%	and	
maturity	in	October	2016.
At	31	December	2007	the	estimated	fair	value	of	subordinated	debt	
was	USD	10,725	thousand	(2006:	USD	10,717	thousand).	Refer	to	
Note	30.
Interest	rate	analysis	of	subordinated	debt	is	disclosed	in	Note	26.	
The	information	on	related	party	balances	is	disclosed	in	Note	32.
	

19 Share Capital 
 
  Number of Ordinary Total
  outstanding shares shares
  in thousand
 At 1 January 2006 157,302 14,851 14,851
	 New	shares	issued	but	
	 not	registered	 157,302	 14,851	 14,851
	 At 31 December 2006 314,604 29,702 29,702
 At 31 December 2007 314,604 29,702 29,702
	
At	 31	 December	 2007,	 all	 of	 the	 Bank’s	 outstanding	 shares	 were	
authorised,	issued	and	fully	paid	in.	
All	ordinary	shares	have	a	nominal	value	of	UAH	476.79	per	share	
or	equivalent	of	USD	94.41	per	share	(2006:	UAH	476.79	per	share	
or	equivalent	of	USD	94.41	per	share)	and	rank	equally.	Each	share	
carries	one	vote.
On	16	June	2006	the	shareholders	of	the	Bank	took	a	decision	to	
issue	157,302	shares	totalling	UAH	UAH	75,000	thousand	(equiva-
lent	of	USD	14,851	thousand).		The	shareholders	meeting	of	12	July	
2006	approved	the	results	of	the	new	share	issue	and	decided	to	
make	the	respective	changes	to	the	Bank‘s	Charter.	All	shares	were	
fully	paid	by	17	July	2006.	In	total	USD	14,851	thousand	was	paid	
by	the	Bank’s	shareholders	in	respect	of	the	new	share	issue.	On	
26	 September	 2006	 the	 share	 issue	 was	 registered	 by	 the	 State	
Securities	and	Exchange	Commission.	On	30	December	2006	the	

National	Bank	of	Ukraine	registered	the	respective	changes	in	the	
Bank’s	Charter.	On	11	January	2007	changes	in	the	Bank’s	Charter	
were	 registered	by	 the	district	authority	and	on	17	 January	2007	
respective	changes	were	made	to	the	State	Register	of	Banks.

The	 shareholders	 structure	 of	 the	 Bank	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2007	
was	as	follows:

  Number of % in share Nominal
  shares owned capital value
	 EBRD	 62,916	 19.999%	 5,940
	 Western	N.I.S.	Enterprise	Fund	 62,922	 20.000%	 5,941
	 ProCredit	Holding	AG	 188,766	 60.001%	 17,821
 Total 314,604 100.000% 29,702
	 	
	 	
20 Interest Income and Expense
 
  2007 2006
 Interest income  
	 Loans	and	advances	to	customers	 67,639	 49,349
	 Due	from	other	banks	 641	 423
	 Debt	investment	securities	 120	 –
 Total interest income 68,400 49,772
	
 Interest expense 
	 Deposits	of	individuals	 12,901	 7,413
	 Other	borrowed	funds	 8,462	 6,363
	 Debt	securities	in	issue	 5,903	 2,709
	 Subordinated	debt	 1,061	 844
	 Deposits	of	legal	entities	 1,002	 1,316
	 Term	placements	of	other	banks		 743	 1,078
	 Total interest expense 30,072 19,723
 Net interest income 38,328 30,049
	 	
Interest	income	and	expense	arising	from	transactions	with	related	
parties	are	disclosed	in	Note	32.

21 Fee and Commission Income and Expense
 
  2007 2006
 Fee and commission income  
	 –	Settlement	and	cash	transactions	 4,751	 3,960
	 –	Plastic	cards	 1,339	 812
	 –	Foreign	exchange	operations	 903	 782
	 –	Other	 253	 128
 Total fee and commission income 7,246 5,682
	 	
 Fee and commission expense  
	 –	Settlement	and	cash	transactions	 547	 365
	 –	Plastic	cards	 432	 321
	 –	Other	 –	 4
	 Total fee and commission expense 979 690
 Net fee and commission income 6,267 4,992
	
Fee	and	commission	expense	arising	from	transactions	with	related	
parties	is	disclosed	in	Note	32.
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22 Administrative and Other Operating Expenses
 
  Note 2007 2006
	 Staff	costs	 	 18,306	 11,392
	 Operating	lease	expense	
	 for	premises	 	 4,352	 2,414
	 Depreciation	of	premises,	
	 leasehold	improvements	and	
	 equipment	 11	 3,368	 2,491
	 Office	expenses	 	 1,715	 1,157
	 Advertising	and	marketing	services	 	 1,699	 1,595
	 Business	travel,	trainings	and
	 	representative	expenses	 	 1,589	 678
	 Management	fee	 	 1,561	 1,398
	 Mail	and	telecommunications	 	 1,540	 1,181
	 Repair	and	maintenance	 	 1,022	 649
	 Taxes	other	than	on	income	 	 931	 569
	 Professional	services	 	 799	 553
	 Security	services	 	 532	 442
	 Amortisation	of	computer	
	 software	licences	 11	 239	 176
	 Other	 	 211	 573
	 Total administrative and 
 other operating expenses  37,864 25,268
	 	 	
Included	 in	 staff	 costs	 are	 statutory	 social	 security	 and	 pension	
contributions	of	USD	4,375	thousand	(2006:	USD	2,580	thousand).	
Information	 on	 administrative	 and	 other	 expenses	 from	 trans-	
actions	with	related	parties	is	disclosed	in	Note	32.

23 Income Taxes

Income	tax	expense	comprises	the	following:	
 
  2007 2006
	 Current	tax		 2,040	 2,878
	 Deferred	tax	 (323)	 (886)
 Income tax expense for the year 1,717 1,992
	
The	income	tax	rate	applicable	to	the	majority	of	the	Bank’s	income	
is	25%	(2006:	25%).	A	reconciliation	between	the	expected	and	the	
actual	taxation	charge	is	provided	below.
  
  2007 2006
 IFRS profit before tax 4,758 6,601
	 Theoretical	tax	charge	at	
	 statutory	rate	(2007:	25%;	2006:	25%)	 1,190	 1,650
	 Tax	effect	of	items	which	are	not	deductible
	 or	assessable	for	taxation	purposes:	 	
	 –	Non	deductible	expenses	 527	 342
 Income tax expense for the year 1,717 1,992
	

Differences	 between	 IFRS	 and	 Ukrainian	 statutory	 taxation	 regu-
lations	 give	 rise	 to	 temporary	 differences	 between	 the	 carrying	
amount	 of	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 for	 financial	 reporting	 purposes	
and	their	tax	bases.	The	tax	effect	of	the	movements	in	these	tem-
porary	differences	is	detailed	below	and	is	recorded	at	the	rate	of	
25%	(2006:	25%).
 
  31 Dec Charged/ 31 Dec
  2006 credited to 2007
   profit or loss
 Tax effect of deductible/(taxable) 
 temporary differences	 	 	
	 Loan	impairment	provision	 1,277	 279	 1,556
	 Origination	fees	on	loans	
	 to	customers	 803	 169	 972
	 Unamortised	premium	and	
	 origination	fees	on	
	 securities	issued	 58	 (58)	 –
	 Premises,	leasehold	
	 improvements
	 and	equipment	 142	 (6)	 136
	 Accrued	interest	expense	 358	 (6)	 352
	 Accrued	interest	income	 (607)	 (146)	 (753)
	 Origination	fees	on	other	
	 borrowed	funds	 (8)	 (19)	 (27)
	 Other	accruals	 186	 110	 296
 Net deferred tax asset 2,209 323 2,532
	 	 	
	 Recognised	deferred	tax	asset	 2,824	 488	 3,312
	 Recognised	deferred	tax	liability	 (615)	 (165)	 (780)
 Net deferred tax asset 2,209 323 2,532
	 	
 
  31 Dec Charged/ 31 Dec
  2005 credited to 2006
   profit or loss
 Tax effect of deductible/
 (taxable) temporary differences	 	 	
	 Loan	impairment	provision	 784	 493	 1,277
	 Origination	fees	on	loans
	 	to	customers	 449	 354	 803
	 Unamortised	premium	and	
	 origination	fees	on	securities
	 issued	 211	 (153)	 58
	 Premises,	leasehold	
	 improvements	
	 and	equipment	 145	 (3)	 142
	 Accrued	interest	expense	 84	 274	 358
	 Accrued	interest	income	 (375)	 (232)	 (607)
	 Origination	fees	on	other	
	 borrowed	funds	 (18)	 10	 (8)
	 Other	accruals	 43	 143	 186
 Net deferred tax asset 1,323 886 2,209
	
	 Recognised	deferred	tax	asset	 1,716	 1,108	 2,824
	 Recognised	deferred	tax	liability	(393)	 (222)	 (615)
 Net deferred tax asset 1,323 886 2,209
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24 Dividends
 
   Ordinary shares
  2007 2006
 Dividends payable at 1 January – – 
	 Dividends	declared	during	the	year	 3,987	 –	
	 Dividends	paid	during	the	year	 3,987	 –	
	 Dividends payable at 31 December  – – 
 Dividends per share declared 
 during the year 0.01267 –
	 	
All	dividends	are	declared	and	paid	in	Ukrainian	hryvnias.

25 Segment Analysis

The	 Bank	 is	 operating	 in	 one	 business	 segment,	 SME	 (small	 and	
medium	 enterprises)	 banking,	 representing	 current	 accounts,		
deposits,	savings,	overdrafts,	loan	and	other	credit	facilities,	cred-
it	and	debit	cards.	Revenue,	result	and	assets	of	the	Bank	relating	
to	other	products	provided	mainly	 to	 retail	customers,	constitute	
less	than	ten	percent	of	the	total	revenue,	result	and	assets	of	the	
Bank.
All	the	borrowers	of	the	Bank	are	domiciled	in	Ukraine	based	on	the	
ultimate	domicile	of	the	counterparty,	i.e.	based	on	economic	risk	
rather	than	legal	risk	of	the	counterparty.
Due	 to	 the	 reasons	 described	 above	 no	 segment	 analysis	 is	 pro-
vided	in	these	financial	statements.	For	disclosure	of	geographical	
concentration	of	the	Bank’s	assets	and	liabilities	refer	to	Note	26.

26 Financial Risk Management

The	 risk	 management	 function	 within	 the	 Bank	 is	 carried	 out	 in	
respect	of	 financial	 risks	 (credit,	market,	geographical,	currency,	
liquidity	and	 interest	 rate),	operational	 risks	and	 legal	 risks.	The	
primary	objectives	of	the	financial	risk	management	function	are	to	
establish	risk	limits,	and	then	ensure	that	exposure	to	risks	stays	
within	 these	 limits.	 The	 operational	 and	 legal	 risk	 management	
functions	are	intended	to	ensure	proper	functioning	of	internal	poli-
cies	and	procedures	to	minimise	operational	and	legal	risks.

Credit risk.	The	Bank	takes	on	exposure	to	credit	risk	which	is	the	
risk	that	one	party	to	a	financial	instrument	will	cause	a	financial	
loss	for	the	other	party	by	failing	to	discharge	an	obligation.	Expo-
sure	to	credit	risk	arises	as	a	result	of	the	Bank’s	lending	and	other	
transactions	with	counterparties	giving	rise	to	financial	assets.
The	Bank’s	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	is	reflected	in	the	car-
rying	amounts	of	financial	assets	on	the	balance	sheet.	The	impact	
of	possible	netting	of	assets	and	liabilities	to	reduce	potential	credit	

exposure	is	not	significant.	For	guarantees	and	letters	of	credit,	the	
maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	is	the	amount	of	the	commitment.	
Refer	to	Note	27.	
The	Bank	structures	the	levels	of	credit	risk	it	undertakes	by	placing	
limits	on	the	amount	of	risk	accepted	in	relation	to	one	borrower,	or	
groups	of	borrowers,	and	to	geographical	and	industry	segments.	
Limits	on	the	level	of	credit	risk	by	product	and	industry	sector	are	
approved	regularly	by	Management.		Such	risks	are	monitored	on	a	
revolving	basis	and	subject	to	an	annual	or	more	frequent	review.	

Different	 management	 bodies	 of	 the	 Bank	 are	 responsible	 for		
approving	credit	limits	for	individual	borrowers:	
•	 The	Supervisory	Board	reviews	and	approves	limits	above	USD		
	 1	mln;
•	 The	 senior	 credit	 committee	 reviews	 and	 approves	 credit	 lim	
	 its	below	USD	1	mln.	It	is	also	responsible	for	issuing	guidance		
	 to	lower	level	credit	committees.
Loan	 applications	 originated	 by	 the	 relevant	 client	 relationship	
managers	 are	 passed	 on	 to	 the	 relevant	 Credit	 Committee	 for		
approval	of	credit	limit.	Exposure	to	credit	risk	is	also	managed,	in	
part,	by	obtaining	collateral	and	corporate	and	personal	guarantees.	
In	 order	 to	 monitor	 credit	 risk	 exposures,	 regular	 monitoring	 re-
ports	 are	 produced	 by	 the	 credit	 department’s	 officers	 based	 on	
a	 structured	 analysis	 focusing	 on	 the	 customer’s	 business	 and		
financial	performance.	Any	significant	exposures	against	custom-
ers	 with	 deteriorating	 creditworthiness	 are	 reported	 to	 and	 re-
viewed	by	the	Members	of	Management	Board.	The	Bank	does	not	
use	formalised	internal	credit	ratings	to	monitor	exposures	to	credit	
risk.	Management	monitors	and	follows	up	past	due	balances.	
Credit	risk	for	off-balance	sheet	financial	instruments	is	defined	as	
the	possibility	of	sustaining	a	loss	as	a	result	of	another	party	to	a	
financial	instrument	failing	to	perform	in	accordance	with	the	terms	
of	the	contract.	The	Bank	uses	the	same	credit	policies	in	making	
conditional	obligations	as	it	does	for	on-balance	sheet	financial	in-
struments	through	established	credit	approvals,	risk	control	limits	
and	monitoring	procedures.

Market risk. The	Bank	takes	on	exposure	to	market	risks.	Market	
risks	arise	from	open	positions	in	interest	rate,	currency	and	equity	
products,	all	of	which	are	exposed	to	general	and	specific	market	
movements.	The	Management	Board	sets	limits	on	the	value	of	risk	
that	may	be	accepted,	which	 is	monitored	on	a	daily	basis.	How-
ever,	the	use	of	this	approach	does	not	prevent	losses	outside	of	
these	limits	in	the	event	of	more	significant	market	movements.

Currency risk.	 In	 respect	 of	 currency	 risk,	 the	 Management	 sets	
limits	 on	 the	 level	 of	 exposure	 by	 currency	 and	 in	 total	 for	 both	
overnight	and	intra-day	positions,	which	are	monitored	daily.	The	
table	below	summarises	 the	Bank’s	exposure	 to	 foreign	currency	
exchange	rate	risk	at	the	balance	sheet	date:

Derivatives	 in	 each	 column	 represents	 the	 fair	 value,	 at	 the	 bal-
ance	sheet	date,	of	 the	respective	currency	that	 the	Bank	agreed	
to	buy	 (positive	amount)	or	sell	 (negative	amount)	before	netting	
of	positions	and	payments	with	the	counterparty.	The	amounts	by	
currency	are	presented	gross	as	stated	in	Note	29.	The	net	total	rep-
resents	fair	value	of	the	currency	derivatives.	

	     At 31 Dec 2007    At 31 Dec 2006
	  Monetary Monetary Derivatives Net balance Monetary Monetary Derivatives Net balance
  financial financial  sheet financial financial  sheet
  assets liabilities  position assets liabilities  position 
 Ukrainian	hryvnias	 166,655	 162,007	 8,505	 13,153	 125,703	 123,751	 7,483	 9,435
	 US	Dollars	 253,401	 223,976	 (27,246)	 2,179	 192,017	 165,040	 (12,763)	 14,214
	 Euros	 8,357	 26,972	 18,845	 230	 16,711	 21,801	 5,268	 178
	 Other	 139	 59	 –	 80	 55	 26	 –	 29
 Total  428,552 413,014 104 15,642 334,486 310,618 (12) 23,856
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The	above	analysis	includes	only	monetary	assets	and	liabilities.	
Investments	in	equities	and	non-monetary	assets	are	not	consid-
ered	to	give	rise	to	any	material	currency	risk.	

The	 following	 table	 presents	 sensitivities	 of	 profit	 and	 loss	 and		
equity	to	reasonably	possible	changes	in	exchange	rates	applied	at	
the	balance	sheet	date,	with	all	other	variables	held	constant:

The	exposure	was	calculated	only	for	monetary	balances	denomi-
nated	in	currencies	other	than	the	functional	currency	of	the	Bank.

Interest rate risk.	 The	 Bank	 takes	 on	 exposure	 to	 the	 effects	 of	
fluctuations	in	the	prevailing	levels	of	market	interest	rates	on	its	
financial	 position	 and	 cash	 flows.	 Interest	 margins	 may	 increase	
as	a	result	of	such	changes	but	may	reduce	or	create	losses	in	the	

event	that	unexpected	movements	arise.	Management	monitors	on	
a	 daily	 basis	 and	 sets	 limits	 on	 the	 level	 of	 mismatch	 of	 interest	
rate	repricing	that	may	be	undertaken.	The	table	below	summarises	
the	Bank’s	exposure	to	interest	rate	risks.	The	table	presents	the		
aggregated	amounts	of	the	Bank’s	financial	assets	and	liabilities	at	
carrying	amounts,	categorised	by	the	earlier	of	contractual	interest	
repricing	or	maturity	dates.

	   At 31 Dec 2007  At 31 Dec 2006
	  Impact on Impact on Impact on Impact on	
	 	 profit or loss equity profit or loss equity
	 US	Dollars	strengthening	by	1%	 22	 22	 142	 142
	 US	Dollars	weakening	by	3%	 (65)	 (65)	 (426)	 (426)
	 Euro	strengthening	by	10%	 23	 23	 18	 18
	 Euro	weakening	by	3%	 (7)	 (7)	 (5)	 (5)
	 Other	strengthening	by	5%	 4	 4	 1	 1
	 Other	weakening	by	5%	 (4)	 (4)	 (1)	 (1)

  Demand and less 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 Over 5 Non- Total
  than 1 month months months years years monetary
  31 December 2007        
	 Total	financial	assets	 72,310	 32,424	 120,853	 172,646	 30,456	 50	 428,739
	 Total	financial	liabilities	 (116,793)	 (31,073)	 (107,507)	 (146,214)	 (11,460)	 –	 (413,047)
	 Net interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2007 (44,483) 1,351 13,346 26,432 18,996 50 15,692
       
 31 December 2006	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Total	financial	assets	 62,491	 28,328	 102,625	 130,921	 10,128	 50	 334,543
	 Total	financial	liabilities	 (67,871)	 (56,099)	 (84,634)	 (85,865)	 (16,168)	 –	 (310,637)
 Net interest sensitivity gap at 31 December 2006 (5,380) (27,771) 17,991 45,056 (6,040) 50 23,906

	     2007    2006
 in % p.a. UAH USD Euro  Other UAH USD Euro  Other
 Assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 1	 6	 2	 1	 1	 4	 3	 1
	 Due	from	other	banks	 8	 –	 –	 –	 9	 –	 6	 –
	 Loans	and	advances	to	customers	 24	 16	 13	 –	 26	 17	 14	 –
	 Debt	investment	securities	held	to	maturity	 5	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
 Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Due	to	other	banks	 –	 10	 –	 –	 –	 11	 –	 –
	 Customer	accounts	 8	 7	 6	 –	 10	 7	 6	 –
	 Debt	securities	in	issue		 13	 –	 –	 –	 13	 –	 –	 –
	 Other	borrowed	funds		 –	 9	 –	 –	 –	 9	 5	 –
	 Subordinated	debt	 –	 10	 –	 –	 –	 10	 –	 –

All	of	the	Bank’s	debt	instruments	reprice	within	5	years	except	for	
long-term	loans	and	advances	to	customers	totalling	USD	30,456	
thousand	 and	 subordinated	 debt	 totalling	 USD	 10,800	 thousand	
(2006:	all	reprice	within	5	years	except	for	long-term	loans	and	ad-
vances	to	customers	totalling	USD	10,128	thousand,	subordinated	
debt	and	other	borrowed	funds	totalling	USD	15,800	thousand).	
At	 31	 December	 2007,	 if	 interest	 rates	 at	 that	 date	 had	 been	 50		
basis	points	lower	with	all	other	variables	held	constant,	profit	for	
the	year	would	have	been	USD	91	thousand	(2006:	USD	135	thou-

sand)	higher,	mainly	as	a	result	of	lower	interest	expense	on	vari-
able	interest	liabilities.	
If	 interest	 rates	 had	 been	 50	 basis	 points	 higher,	 with	 all	 other	
variables	held	constant,	profit	would	have	been	USD	66	thousand	
(2006:	USD	153	thousand)	lower,	mainly	as	a	result	of	higher	inter-
est	expense	on	variable	interest	liabilities.

The	Bank	monitors	interest	rates	for	its	financial	instruments.	The	
table	below	summarises	interest	rates	based	on	reports	reviewed	
by	key	management	personnel:

The	sign	“–“	in	the	table	above	means	that	the	Bank	does	not	have	
the	respective	assets	or	liabilities	in	corresponding	currency.

F i n a n c i a l 	 S tat e m e n t s �1



	  Ukraine OECD Non-OECD Total
 Assets	 	 	 	
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 31,243	 3,946	 242	 35,431
	 Due	from	other	banks	 7,807	 –	 –	 7,807
	 Loans	and	advances	to	customers	 379,311	 –	 –	 379,311
	 Investment	securities	available-for-sale	 50	 –	 –	 50
	 Investment	securities	held	to	maturity	 6,003	 –	 –	 6,003
	 Other	financial	assets	 137	 –	 –	 137
	 Total financial assets 424,551 3,946 242 428,739
 Non-financial assets 25,307 – – 25,307
 Total assets 449,858 3,946 242 454,046
	 	 	 	
	 Liabilities 	 	 	
	 Due	to	other	banks	 12,948	 –	 4,029	 16,977
	 Customer	accounts	 206,938	 10,641	 3,008	 220,587
	 Debt	securities	in	issue	 45,866	 –	 –	 45,866
	 Other	borrowed	funds		 –	 118,633	 –	 118,633
	 Subordinated	debt	 –	 10,801	 –	 10,801
	 Other	financial	liabilities	 183	 –	 –	 183
	 Total financial liabilities 265,935 140,075 7,037 413,047
 Non-financial liabilities 1,626 – – 1,626
 Total liabilities 267,561 140,075 7,037 414,673
 
 Net balance sheet position 182,297 (136,129) (6,795) 39,373
 Credit related commitments 3,247 – – 3,247

	  Ukraine OECD Non-OECD Total
 Assets	 	 	 	
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 19,616	 10,292	 157	 30,065
	 Due	from	other	banks	 13,609	 –	 –	 13,609
	 Loans	and	advances	to	customers	 290,792	 –	 –	 290,792
	 Investment	securities	available-for-sale	 50	 –	 –	 50
	 Other	financial	assets	 27	 –	 –	 27
	 Total financial assets 324,094 10,292 157 334,543
 Non-financial assets 17,100 365 – 17,465
 Total assets 341,194 10,657 157 352,008
 
 Liabilities	 	 	 	
	 Due	to	other	banks	 –	 4,995	 –	 4,995
	 Customer	accounts	 146,336	 8,814	 521	 155,671
	 Debt	securities	in	issue	 53,151	 –	 –	 53,151
	 Other	borrowed	funds		 4,801	 81,074	 –	 85,875
	 Subordinated	debt	 –	 10,802	 –	 10,802
	 Other	financial	liabilities	 143	 –	 -	 143
	 Total financial liabilities 204,431 105,685 521 310,637
 Non-financial liabilities 1,053 – – 1,053
 Total liabilities 205,484 105,685 521 311,690

 Net balance sheet position 135,710 (95,028) (364) 40,318
 Credit related commitments 1,779 – – 1,779

Geographical risk concentrations. The	geographical	concentration	
of	the	Bank’s	financial	assets	and	liabilities	at	31	December	2007	
is	set	out	below:

Assets,	liabilities	and	credit	related	commitments	have	been	classi-	
fied	 based	 on	 the	 country	 in	 which	 the	 counterparty	 is	 located.	
Cash	 on	 hand	 and	 premises	 and	 equipment	 have	 been	 allocated	
based	on	the	country	in	which	they	are	physically	held.	

The	geographical	concentration	of	the	Bank’s	assets	and	liabilities	
at	31	December	2006	is	set	out	below:
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Liquidity risk. Liquidity	risk	is	defined	as	the	risk	that	an	entity	will	
encounter	difficulty	in	meeting	obligations	associated	with	finan-
cial	 liabilities.	The	Bank	 is	exposed	to	daily	calls	on	 its	available	
cash	resources	from	overnight	deposits,	current	accounts,	matur-
ing	deposits,	 loan	draw	downs,	guarantees	and	from	margin	and	
other	calls	on	cash	settled	derivative	instruments.	The	Bank	does	
not	maintain	cash	resources	to	meet	all	of	these	needs	as	experi-
ence	shows	that	a	minimum	level	of	reinvestment	of	maturing	funds	
can	be	predicted	with	a	high	level	of	certainty.	Liquidity	risk	is	man-
aged	by	the	Risk	Management	and	the	Treasury	of	the	Bank.
The	Bank	seeks	to	maintain	a	stable	funding	base	comprising	pri-
marily	amounts	due	to	other	banks,	corporate	and	retail	customer	
deposits	 and	 debt	 securities	 and	 invest	 the	 funds	 in	 diversified	
portfolios	of	 liquid	assets,	 in	order	to	be	able	to	respond	quickly	
and	smoothly	to	unforeseen	liquidity	requirements.	

The	 liquidity	 management	 of	 the	 Bank	 requires	 considering	 the	
level	 of	 liquid	 assets	 necessary	 to	 settle	 obligations	 as	 they	 fall	
due;	maintaining	access	to	a	range	of	funding	sources;	maintaining	
funding	contingency	plans	and	monitoring	balance	sheet	liquidity	
ratios	against	regulatory	requirements.	The	Bank	calculates	liquid-
ity	ratios	on	a	daily	basis	in	accordance	with	the	requirement	of	the	
National	Bank	of	Ukraine.	These	ratios	are:	
•	 Instant	liquidity	ratio	(N4),	which	is	calculated	as	the	ratio	of		
	 highly-liquid	assets	to	liabilities	payable	on	demand.	The	ratio		
	 was	77.67%	at	31	December	2007	(2006:	108.44%),	weighted		
	 average	ratio	for	December	2007	was	64.34%	(2006:	105.87%),		
	 with	the	required	ratio	being	not	less	than	20%;

•	 Current	liquidity	ratio	(N5),	which	is	calculated	as	the	ratio	of		
	 liquid	 assets	 to	 liabilities	 maturing	 within	 31	 calendar	 days.		
	 The	ratio	was	75.92%	at	31	December	2007	(2006:	128.43%),		
	 with	the	required	ratio	being	not	less	than	40%;
•	 Short-term	liquidity	ratio	(N6),	which	is	calculated	as	the	ratio		
	 of	liquid	assets	to	liabilities	with	original	maturity	of	up	to	one		
	 year.	 The	 ratio	 was	 51.59%	 at	 31	 December	 2007	 (2006:		
	 55.37%),	with	the	required	ratio	being	not	less	than	20%.

The	 Treasury	 Department	 receives	 information	 about	 the	 liquid-
ity	profile	of	the	financial	assets	and	liabilities.	The	Treasury	then	
provides	 for	 an	 adequate	 portfolio	 of	 short-term	 liquid	 assets,	
largely	 made	 up	 of	 short-term	 liquid	 trading	 securities,	 deposits	
with	banks	and	other	inter-bank	facilities,	to	ensure	that	sufficient	
liquidity	is	maintained	within	the	Bank	as	a	whole.	
The	daily	liquidity	position	is	monitored	and	regular	liquidity	stress	
testing	under	a	variety	of	scenarios	covering	both	normal	and	more	
severe	market	conditions	is	performed	by	the	Treasury	Department	
and	Risk	Management	Department.	
The	table	below	shows	liabilities	at	31	December	2007	by	their	re-
maining	contractual	maturity.	The	amounts	disclosed	in	the	matu-
rity	 table	 are	 the	 contractual	 undiscounted	 cash	 flows,	 including	
contractual	amounts	to	be	exchanged	under	gross	settled	currency	
swaps.	 Such	 undiscounted	 cash	 flows	 differ	 from	 the	 amount	 in-
cluded	in	the	balance	sheet	because	the	balance	sheet	amount	is	
based	on	discounted	cash	flows.
When	the	amount	payable	is	not	fixed,	the	amount	disclosed	is	de-
termined	 by	 reference	 to	 the	 conditions	 existing	 at	 the	 reporting	
date.	Foreign	currency	payments	are	translated	using	the	spot	ex-
change	rate	at	the	balance	sheet	date.	

The	 undiscounted	 maturity	 analysis	 of	 financial	 liabilities	 at		
31	December	2007	is	as	follows:

The	 undiscounted	 maturity	 analysis	 of	 financial	 liabilities	 at		
31	December	2006	is	as	follows:

Payments	in	respect	of	gross	settled	forwards	will	be	accompanied	
by	related	cash	inflows	which	are	disclosed	at	their	present	values	
in	 Note	 29.	 Customer	 accounts	 are	 classified	 in	 the	 above	 analy-
sis	based	on	contractual	maturities.	However,	 in	accordance	with	
Ukrainian	Civil	Code,	individuals	have	a	right	to	withdraw	their	de-
posits	prior	to	maturity	if	they	forfeit	their	right	to	accrued	interest.	

  Demand and less 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 Over 5 Total
  than 1 month months months years years 
  Liabilities      
	 Due	to	other	banks	 17,177	 –	 –	 –	 –	 17,177
	 Customer	accounts	 97,481	 29,944	 91,495	 6,371	 812	 226,103
	 Debt	securities	in	issue	 1,906	 960	 13,425	 42,309	 -	 58,600
	 Other	borrowed	funds		 17,302	 2,304	 15,885	 108,495	 -	 143,986
	 Subordinated	debt	 –	 –	 1,068	 4,282	 13,744	 19,094
	 Gross	settled	derivatives	(outflow	only)	 27,246	 –	 –	 –	 –	 27,246
	 Other	financial	liabilities	 150	 –	 –	 –	 –	 150
 Total potential future payments for financial obligations 161,262 33,208 121,873 161,457 14,556 492,356
	 	 	 	 	 	

  Demand and less 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 Over 5 Total
  than 1 month months months years years 	
	 Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Due	to	other	banks	 –	 5,052	 –	 –	 –	 5,052
	 Customer	accounts	 55,348	 29,154	 68,151	 9,275	 561	 162,489
	 Debt	securities	in	issue	 1,956	 1,132	 11,501	 57,521	 –	 72,110
	 Other	borrowed	funds	 1,720	 2,605	 16,986	 78,935	 5,214	 105,460
	 Subordinated	debt	 –	 –	 1,066	 4,282	 14,600	 19,948
	 Gross	settled	derivatives	(outflow	only)	 12,763	 –	 –	 –	 –	 12,763
	 Other	financial	liabilities	 124	 –	 –	 –	 –	 124
	 Total potential future payments for financial obligations 71,911 37,943 97,704 150,013 20,375 377,946
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The	Bank	does	not	use	the	above	undiscounted	maturity	analysis	to	
manage	liquidity.	Instead,	the	Bank	monitors	expected	maturities,	
which	may	be	summarised	as	follows	at	31	December	2007:

The	analysis	by	expected	maturities	may	be	summarised	as	follows	
at	31	December	2006:

The	matching	and/or	controlled	mismatching	of	the	maturities	and	
interest	rates	of	assets	and	liabilities	is	fundamental	to	the	man-
agement	of	the	Bank.	It	is	unusual	for	banks	ever	to	be	completely	
matched	 since	 business	 transacted	 is	 often	 of	 an	 uncertain	 term	
and	of	different	types.	An	unmatched	position	potentially	enhances	
profitability,	but	can	also	increase	the	risk	of	 losses.	The	maturi-
ties	of	assets	and	liabilities	and	the	ability	to	replace,	at	an	accept-
able	cost,	interest-bearing	liabilities	as	they	mature,	are	important	
factors	 in	assessing	the	 liquidity	of	 the	Bank	and	its	exposure	to	
changes	in	interest	and	exchange	rates.
The	 Bank	 has	 a	 significant	 cumulative	 maturity	 mismatch	 of	 the	
assets	 and	 liabilities	 maturing	 within	 12	 months.	 This	 liquidity	
mismatch	arises	due	to	the	fact	that	a	significant	source	of	finance	
for	 the	 Bank	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2007	 were	 customer	 accounts	
and	 interbank	 deposits	 being	 on	 demand	 and	 maturing	 in	 up	 to		

12	months.	Management	believes	that	in	spite	of	a	substantial	por-
tion	 of	 customers	 accounts	 being	 on	 demand,	 diversification	 of	
these	deposits	by	number	and	type	of	depositors,	and	the	past	ex-
perience	of	the	Bank	would	indicate	that	these	customer	accounts	
provide	a	long-term	and	stable	source	of	funding	for	the	Bank.
Liquidity	 requirements	 to	 support	 calls	 under	 guarantees	 and	
standby	letters	of	credit	are	considerably	less	than	the	amount	of	
the	commitment	because	the	Bank	does	not	generally	expect	the	
third	party	to	draw	funds	under	the	agreement.

	

  Demand and less 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 Over 5 No stated Total
  than 1 month months months years years maturity
	 Assets	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 35,431	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 35,431
	 Due	from	other	banks	 7,807	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 7,807
	 Loans	and	advances	to	customers	 22,932	 32,424	 120,853	 172,646	 30,456	 –	 379,311
	 Investment	securities	available-for-sale	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 50	 50
	 Investment	securities	held	to	maturity	 6,003	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 6,003	
	 Other	financial	assets	 137	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 137
	 Total financial assets 72,310 32,424 120,853 172,646 30,456 50 428,739
       
 Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Due	to	other	banks	 16,977	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 16,977
	 Customer	accounts	 96,081	 28,954	 89,942	 4,950	 660	 –	 220,587
	 Debt	securities	in	issue	 1,390	 –	 10,009	 34,447	 _	 _	 45,866
	 Other	borrowed	funds		 1,342	 2,119	 8,355	 106,817	 _	 _	 118,633
	 Subordinated	debt	 _	 _	 1	 –	 10,800	 –	 10,801
	 Other	financial	liabilities	 183	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 183
	 Total financial liabilities 115,973 31,073 108,307 146,214 11,460 – 413,047
       
 Net liquidity gap at 31 December 2007 (43,703) 1,351 12,546 26,432 18,996 50 15,672
 Cumulative liquidity gap at 31 December 2007 (43,703) (42,352) (29,806) (3,374) 15,622 15,672 –

  Demand and less 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 Over 5 No stated Total
  than 1 month months months years years maturity
	 Assets	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 30,065	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 30,065
	 Due	from	other	banks	 13,609	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 13,609
	 Loans	and	advances	to	customers	 18,790	 28,328	 102,625	 130,921	 10,128	 –	 290,792
	 Investment	securities	available-for-sale	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 50	 50
	 Other	financial	assets	 27	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 27
	 Total financial assets 62,491 28,328 102,625 130,921 10,128 50 334,543
       
 Liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Due	to	other	banks	 –	 4,995	 _	 _	 _	 _	 4,995
	 Customer	accounts	 54,407	 27,657	 65,027	 8,212	 368	 –	 155,671
	 Debt	securities	in	issue	 1,386	 48	 6,931	 44,786	 –	 –	 53,151
	 Other	borrowed	funds		 1,620	 2,201	 11,945	 65,109	 5,000	 –	 85,875
	 Subordinated	debt	 _	 _	 2	 –	 10,800	 –	 10,802
	 Other	financial	liabilities	 143	 _	 _	 _	 _	 _	 143
	 Total financial liabilities 57,556 34,901 83,905 118,107 16,168 – 310,637
 
 Net liquidity gap at 31 December 2006 4,935 (6,573) 18,720 12,814 (6,040) 50 23,906
 Cumulative liquidity gap at 31 December 2006 4,935 (1,638) 17,082 29,896 23,856 23,906 –
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it	 is	 possible	 that	 transactions	 and	 activities	 that	 have	 not	 been	
challenged	in	the	past	may	be	challenged.
As	a	result,	significant	additional	taxes,	penalties	and	interest	may	
be	assessed.	Fiscal	periods	remain	open	to	review	by	the	authori-
ties	in	respect	of	taxes	for	three	calendar	years	preceding	the	year	
of	 review.	 Under	 certain	 circumstances	 reviews	 may	 cover	 longer	
periods.

Capital expenditure commitments.	At	31	December	2007	the	Bank	
has	 contractual	 capital	 expenditure	 commitments	 in	 respect	 of	
premises	 and	 equipment	 totalling	 USD	 363	 thousand	 (2006:		
USD	153	thousand)	and	in	respect	of	computer	software	of	USD	162	
thousand	(2006:	USD	711	thousand).	
The	most	significant	amount	is	the	commitment	on	the	agreement	
with	the	foreign	company	Quipu	GmbH.	The	subject	of	agreement	is	
creating	and	installation	of	the	software	„CustomWare.Net“,	which	
is	planned	to	replace	Scrooge	software	in	future.
The	Bank	has	already	allocated	the	necessary	resources	in	respect	
of	 these	commitments.	The	Bank	believes	 that	 future	net	 income	
and	 funding	 will	 be	 sufficient	 to	 cover	 this	 and	 any	 similar	 such	
commitments.

Operating lease commitments.	Where	the	Bank	is	 the	 lessee,	 the	
future	minimum	lease	payments	under	non-cancellable	operating	
leases	are	as	follows:

  2007 2006
	 Not	later	than	1	year	 4,769	 3,167
	 Later	than	1	year	and	not	later	than	5	years	 12,204	 8,712
	 Later	than	5	years	 1,724	 1,678
 Total operating lease commitments 18,697 13,557
	 	
Compliance with covenants.	 The	 Bank	 is	 subject	 to	 certain	 cov-
enants	related	primarily	to	its	other	borrowed	funds.	Non-compli-
ance	with	such	covenants	may	result	in	negative	consequences	for	
the	Bank	including	growth	in	the	cost	of	borrowings	and	declara-
tion	of	default.
There	are	financial	covenants	per	agreements	with	Black	Sea	Trade	
and	 Development	 Bank,	 European	 Bank	 for	 Reconstruction	 and		
Development,	Overseas	Private	Investment	Corporation	and	Inter-
national	Finance	Corporation.
In	particular,	the	Bank	is	required	to	maintain	a	certain	level	of	capi-
tal	adequacy	ratio,	liquid	assets	to	short-term	liabilities	ratio,	open	
credit	exposure	ratio,	maximum	exposure	to	a	single	party	to	capi-
tal	 ratio,	 foreign	currency	gap,	aggregate	 related	party	exposure	
ratio	and	share	of	loans	more	than	90	days	in	arrears.
In	 respect	 of	 financial	 covenants	 under	 the	 loan	 agreement	 with	
Black	Sea	Trade	and	Development	Bank	as	at	31	December	2007,	
the	Bank	was	not	in	compliance	with	the	ratio	of	the	operating	ex-
penses	to	the	revenues	before	provision	for	loan	losses.	
As	at	31	December	2007	the	Bank’s	maximum	group	exposure	ex-
ceeded	EUR	2,000	thousand,	which	exceeded	a	maximum	amount	
under	covenants	as	per	agreement	with	International	Finance	Cor-
poration.	
This	non-compliance	with	loan	covenants	gives	the	above	creditors	
legal	 right	 to	 demand	 early	 repayment	 of	 these	 loans.	 The	 Bank	
sent	 letters	to	 its	counterparties	to	 inform	about	non-compliance	
with	covenants	as	at	31	December	2007	and	requested	respective	
waivers.	On	1	April	2008	the	Bank	received	a	waiver	from	Black	Sea	
Trade	and	Development	Bank.	On	23	April	2008	the	Bank	received	
a	waiver	from	International	Finance	Corporation.

Credit related commitments.	The	primary	purpose	of	these	instru-
ments	 is	 to	 ensure	 that	 funds	 are	 available	 to	 a	 customer	 as	 re-
quired.	Guarantees	and	standby	letters	of	credit,	which	represent	
irrevocable	 assurances	 that	 the	 Bank	 will	 make	 payments	 in	 the	
event	that	a	customer	cannot	meet	its	obligations	to	third	parties,	

27 Management of Capital

The	Bank’s	objectives	when	managing	capital	are	(i)	to	comply	with	
the	capital	requirements	set	by	the	National	Bank	of	Ukraine,	(ii)	to	
safeguard	the	Bank’s	ability	to	continue	as	a	going	concern	and	(iii)	
to	maintain	a	sufficient	capital	base	to	achieve	a	capital	adequacy	
ratio	based	on	Basel	Accord	of	at	least	8%.	Compliance	with	capital	
adequacy	ratios	set	by	the	National	Bank	of	Ukraine	is	monitored	
monthly	 with	 reports	 outlining	 their	 calculation	 reviewed	 and	
signed	by	the	Bank’s	General	Manager	and	Chief	Accountant.	Other	
objectives	of	capital	management	are	evaluated	annually.

Under	 the	 current	 capital	 requirements	 set	 by	 the	 National	 Bank	
of	Ukraine	banks	have	to	maintain	a	ratio	of	regulatory	capital	to	
risk	weighted	assets	(“statutory	capital	ratio”)	above	a	prescribed	
minimum	level.	Regulatory	capital	is	based	on	the	Bank’s	reports	
prepared	under	Ukrainian	accounting	standards	and	comprises:	
 
  2007 2006
	 Primary	capital	 51,272	 26,675
	 Additional	capital	 10,801	 10,802
	 Deduction	 (712)	 (648)
 Total regulatory capital 61,361 36,829
	
The	Bank	is	also	subject	to	minimum	capital	requirements	estab-
lished	 by	 covenants	 stated	 in	 loan	 agreements,	 including	 capital	
adequacy	levels	calculated	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	
the	 Basle	 Accord,	 as	 defined	 in	 the	 International	 Convergence	 of	
Capital	Measurement	and	Capital	Standards	(dated	June	2004)	and	
amended	from	time	to	time,	commonly	known	as	Basel	II.	The	com-
position	of	the	Bank’s	capital	calculated	in	accordance	with	Basel	
Accord	is	as	follows:
 
  2007 2006
 Tier 1 capital	 	
	 Paid	up	share	capital	 29,856	 29,856
	 Disclosed	reserves	 9,517	 10,462
 Total tier 1 capital 39,373 40,318
  
 Tier 2 capital	 	
	 Subordinated	debt	 10,801	 10,802
	 Total tier 2 capital 10,801 10,802
 Total capital 50,174 51,120
	 	
The	 Bank’s	 capital	 adequacy	 ratio	 calculated	 in	 accordance	 with	
Basel	Accord,	Basel	 II,	standardised	approach,	 is	16.9%	as	at	31	
December	2007	(31	December	2006:	16.2%).
The	Bank	has	complied	with	all	externally	imposed	capital	require-
ments	throughout	2007	and	2006.
	

28 Contingencies and Commitments 

Legal proceedings. From	time	to	time	and	in	the	normal	course	of	
business,	claims	against	the	Bank	may	be	received.	On	the	basis	of	
its	own	estimates	and	internal	professional	advice	Management	is	
of	the	opinion	that	no	material	losses	will	be	incurred	in	respect	of	
claims	and	accordingly	no	provision	has	been	made	in	these	finan-
cial	statements.	

Tax legislation.	Ukrainian	tax	and	customs	legislation	is	subject	to	
varying	interpretations,	and	changes,	which	can	occur	frequently.	
Management’s	interpretation	of	such	legislation	as	applied	to	the	
transactions	and	activity	of	the	Bank	may	be	challenged	by	the	rel-
evant	authorities.
The	Ukrainian	tax	authorities	may	be	taking	a	more	assertive	posi-
tion	in	their	interpretation	of	the	legislation	and	assessments,	and	
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carry	the	same	credit	risk	as	loans.	Documentary	and	commercial	
letters	 of	 credit,	 which	 are	 written	 undertakings	 by	 the	 Bank	 on	
behalf	 of	 a	 customer	 authorising	 a	 third	 party	 to	 draw	 drafts	 on	
the	Bank	up	to	a	stipulated	amount	under	specific	terms	and	con-
ditions,	 are	 collateralised	 by	 the	 underlying	 shipments	 of	 goods	
to	which	they	relate	or	cash	deposits	and	therefore	carry	less	risk	
than	a	direct	borrowing.	
Commitments	 to	 extend	 credit	 represent	 unused	 portions	 of		
authorisations	to	extend	credit	in	the	form	of	loans,	guarantees	or	
letters	of	credit.	With	respect	to	credit	risk	on	commitments	to	ex-
tend	credit,	 the	Bank	is	potentially	exposed	to	 loss	 in	an	amount	
equal	to	the	total	unused	commitments.	However,	the	likely	amount	
of	loss	is	less	than	the	total	unused	commitments	since	most	com-
mitments	 to	 extend	 credit	 are	 contingent	 upon	 customers	 main-
taining	 specific	 credit	 standards.	 The	 Bank	 monitors	 the	 term	 to	
maturity	of	credit	related	commitments	because	longer-term	com-
mitments	generally	have	a	greater	degree	of	credit	risk	than	short-
er-term	commitments.	Outstanding	credit	related	commitments	are	
as	follows:

  2007 2006
	 Import	letters	of	credit	 –	 153
	 Guarantees	issued	 3,247	 1,698
	 Less:	Provision	for	credit	related	
	 commitments	 –	 (72)
 Total credit related commitments 3,247 1,779

In	addition,	mandatory	cash	balances	with	the	NBU	in	the	amount	
of	USD	7,599	thousand	(31	December	2006:	USD	4,650	thousand)	
represent	 mandatory	 reserve	 deposits	 which	 are	 not	 available	 to	
finance	the	Bank‘s	day	to	day	operations	as	disclosed	in	Note	7.

29 Derivative Financial Instruments

Foreign	exchange	derivative	financial	instruments	entered	into	by	
the	Bank	are	represented	by	currency	swaps	entered	into	with	other	
banks	 in	 an	 over-the-counter	 market	 on	 customised	 contractual	

	   2007  2006
  Asset pledged Related liability Asset pledged Related liability
 Gross	receivables	under	foreign	exchange	swap	contracts	 27,350	 27,247	 10,769	 10,762
 Total 27,350 27,247 10,769 10,762

The	total	outstanding	contractual	amount	of	guarantees	does	not	
necessarily	 represent	 future	 cash	 requirements,	 as	 these	 finan-
cial	instruments	may	expire	or	terminate	without	being	funded.	In		
addition	as	at	31	December	2007	cash	deposits	of	USD	371	thou-
sand	 (2006:	 USD	 164	 thousand)	 are	 held	 as	 collateral	 for	 irrevo-
cable	commitments	under	guarantees	issued.	Refer	to	Note	14.
As	at	31	December	2007	all	commitments	to	extend	credit	are	revo-
cable	and	amounted	to	USD	4,779	thousand	(31	December	2006:	
all	revocable	and	amounted	to	USD	4,248	thousand).

Credit	related	commitments	are	denominated	in	currencies	as	fol-
lows:

  2007 2006	
	 Ukrainian	hryvnias	 2,551	 1,152
	 US	Dollars		 6	 131
	 Euros	 649	 396
	 Others	 41	 100
 Total 3,247 1,779
	 	 	
Assets pledged and restricted. At	 31	 December	 2007	 and	 31	 De-
cember	2006	the	Bank	has	no	assets	pledged	as	collateral	other	
than	currencies	receivable	under	foreign	exchange	swap	contracts	
which	 are	 placed	 against	 amounts	 payable.	 Only	 net	 position	 is	
recognized	in	the	balance	sheet.	The	gross	assets/liabilities	under	
such	agreements	placed	against	each	other	are	as	follows:

terms	 and	 conditions.	 Derivatives	 have	 potentially	 favourable		
(assets)	or	unfavourable	(liabilities)	conditions	as	a	result	of	fluc-
tuations	in	market	interest	rates	and	foreign	exchange	rates	rela-
tive	to	their	terms.	The	aggregate	fair	values	of	derivative	financial	
assets	and	liabilities	can	fluctuate	significantly	from	time	to	time.
The	table	below	sets	out	fair	values,	at	the	balance	sheet	date,	of	
currencies	receivable	or	payable	under	foreign	exchange	swap	con-
tracts	entered	into	by	the	Bank.	The	table	reflects	gross	positions	
before	 the	 netting	 of	 any	 counterparty	 positions	 (and	 payments)	
and	covers	the	contracts	with	settlement	dates	after	the	respective	
balance	sheet	date.	The	contracts	are	short	term	in	nature.

Credit	risk	is	limited	to	USD	104	thousand	as	SWAP	agreements	are	
pledged	against	each	other.

30 Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair	value	 is	 the	amount	at	which	a	 financial	 instrument	could	be	
exchanged	in	a	current	transaction	between	willing	parties,	other	
than	 in	 a	 forced	 sale	 or	 liquidation,	 and	 is	 best	 evidenced	 by	 an		
active	quoted	market	price.
The	 estimated	 fair	 values	 of	 financial	 instruments	 have	 been	 de-
termined	by	the	Bank	using	available	market	information,	where	it	
exists,	and	appropriate	valuation	methodologies.	However,	judge-

  Notes  2007  2006
   Contracts with Contracts with Contracts with Contracts with
   positive fair value negative fair value positive fair value negative fair value
 Foreign exchange swaps: fair values, 
 at the balance sheet date, of	 26
	 –	USD	payable	on	settlement	(-)	 	 (14,402)	 (12,844)	 (10,762)	 (2,001)
	 –	EUR	receivable	on	settlement	(+)	 	 11,039	 7,806	 5,268	 –
	 –	UAH	receivable	on	settlement	(+)	 	 3,500	 5,005	 5,501	 1,982
 Net fair value of foreign exchange swaps  137 (33) 7 (19)
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ment	is	necessarily	required	to	interpret	market	data	to	determine	
the	estimated	fair	value.	Ukraine	continues	to	display	some	charac-
teristics	of	an	emerging	market	and	economic	conditions	continue	
to	limit	the	volume	of	activity	in	the	financial	markets.	Market	quo-
tations	may	be	outdated	or	reflect	distress	sale	transactions	and	
therefore	not	represent	fair	values	of	financial	 instruments.	Man-
agement	 has	 used	 all	 available	 market	 information	 in	 estimating	
the	fair	value	of	financial	instruments.

Financial instruments carried at fair value.	 Financial	 derivatives	
are	carried	on	the	balance	sheet	at	their	fair	value.	Cash	and	cash	
equivalents	are	carried	at	amortised	cost	which	approximates	cur-
rent	fair	value.

Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost.	The	fair	value	of	
floating	 rate	 instruments	 is	 normally	 their	 carrying	 amount.	 The	
estimated	fair	value	of	fixed	interest	rate	instruments	is	based	on	
estimated	future	cash	flows	expected	to	be	received	discounted	at	
current	 interest	rates	for	new	instruments	with	similar	credit	 risk	
and	remaining	maturity.	Discount	rates	used	depend	on	currency,	
maturity	of	the	instrument	and	credit	risk	of	the	counterparty	and	
ranged	from	8%	to	29%	per	annum	(2006:	6%	to	29%	per	annum).	
Refer	to	Notes	8	and	9	for	the	estimated	fair	values	of	due	from	oth-
er	banks	and	loans	and	advances	to	customers,	respectively.	

 in % p.a. 2007 2006
	 Due from other banks – Note 8
	 Short-term	placements	with	
	 other	banks	 8		 3	to	10	
	
	 Loans and advances to customers
  – Note 9
	 Corporate	loans	 13	to	15		 11.5	to	15
	 Loans	to	individuals	–
	 consumer	loans	 21	to	34	 21	to	47
	 Loans	to	individuals	–	
	 entrepreneurs	 12	to	29.5	 10	to	30

	 	

Liabilities carried at amortised cost.	The	fair	value	of	debt	securi-
ties	in	issue	is	based	on	quoted	market	prices.	The	estimated	fair	
value	 of	 fixed	 interest	 rate	 instruments	 with	 stated	 maturity,	 for	
which	a	quoted	market	price	is	not	available,	was	estimated	based	
on	expected	cash	flows	discounted	at	current	interest	rates	for	new	
instruments	 with	 similar	 credit	 risk	 and	 remaining	 maturity.	 The	
fair	value	of	liabilities	repayable	on	demand	or	after	a	notice	period	
(“demandable	liabilities”)	is	estimated	as	the	amount	payable	on	
demand,	discounted	from	the	first	date	that	the	amount	could	be	
required	to	be	paid.	Refer	to	Notes	13,	14,	15,	16	and	0	for	the	esti-	
mated	fair	values	of	due	to	other	banks,	customer	accounts,	debt	
securities	in	issue,	other	borrowed	funds	and	subordinated	debt,	
respectively.	Discount	rates	used	were	consistent	with	the	Bank’s	
credit	risk	and	also	depend	on	currency	and	maturity	of	the	instru-
ment	and	ranged	from	1	%	p.a.	to	16.5	%	p.a.	(2006:	from	1	%	p.a.	
to	24%	p.a.)

Derivative financial instruments. All	 derivative	 financial	 instru-
ments	are	carried	at	fair	value	as	assets	when	the	fair	value	is	posi-
tive	and	as	liabilities	when	the	fair	value	is	negative.	Their	fair	value	
of	 derivatives	 was	 estimated	 using	 valuation	 techniques.	 Total	
net	fair	value	gain	estimated	using	valuation	techniques	that	was	
recognised	 in	profit	or	 loss	amounts	 is	USD	104	 thousand.	Refer	
to	Note	29.	
	

31 Reconciliation of Classes of Financial Instruments with 
 Measurement Categories

For	the	purposes	of	measurement,	IAS	39,	Financial	Instruments:	
Recognition	 of	 Measurement,	 classifies	 financial	 assets	 into	 the	
following	 categories:	 (a)	 loans	 and	 receivables;	 (b)	 available	 for	
sale	financial	assets;	(c)	financial	assets	held	to	maturity	and	(d)	
financial	 assets	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 profit	 or	 loss	 (“FVTPL”).	 Fi-
nancial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	have	two	subcat-
egories:	(i)	assets	designated	as	such	upon	initial	recognition,	and	
(ii)	those	classified	as	held	for	trading.	The	following	table	provides	
a	reconciliation	of	classes	of	financial	assets	with	these	measure-
ment	categories.

All	of	the	Bank’s	financial	liabilities	except	for	derivatives	are	car-
ried	at	amortised	cost.	Derivatives	(Note	29)	belong	to	the	fair	value	
through	profit	or	loss	measurement	category.

	

  Loans and Available-for- Trading Assets at Held to Total
  receivables sale assets assets FVTPL maturity
	 Assets	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 35,431	 –	 –	 –	 –	 35,431
	 Due	from	other	banks	 7,807	 –	 –	 –	 –	 7,807
	 –	Short-term	placements	with	other	banks	 7,807	 –	 –	 –	 –	 7,807
	 Loans	and	advances	to	customers	 379,311	 –	 –	 –	 –	 379,311
	 –	Loans	to	individuals	–	entrepreneurs	 287,929	 –	 –	 –	 –	 287,929
	 –	Corporate	loans	 66,557	 –	 –	 –	 –	 66,557
	 –	Mortgage	loans	 16,990	 –	 –	 –	 –	 16,990
	 –	Loans	to	individuals	–	consumer	loans	
	 and	other	loans	 7,835	 –	 –	 –	 –	 7,835
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Investment	securities	available-for-sale	 –	 50	 –	 –	 –	 50
	 Investment	securities	held	to	maturity	 –	 –	 –	 –	 6,003	 6,003
	 Derivative	financial	assets	 –	 –	 –	 137	 –	 137
	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Total financial assets 422,549 50 – 137 6,003 428,739
 Non-financial assets      25,307
 Total assets – – – – – 454,046
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32 Related Party Transactions

Parties	 are	 generally	 considered	 to	 be	 related	 if	 the	 parties	 are		
under	common	control	or	one	party	has	 the	ability	 to	control	 the	
other	party	or	can	exercise	significant	influence	over	the	other	party	
in	 making	 financial	 or	 operational	 decisions.	 In	 considering	 each	

possible	related	party	relationship,	attention	is	directed	to	the	sub-
stance	of	the	relationship,	not	merely	the	legal	form.	

At	31	December	2007,	the	outstanding	balances	with	related	par-
ties	were	as	follows:

	  Parent Other Entities Key  Other
	  company significant under common management related	
	   shareholders control personnel parties	
	 Correspondent	accounts	with	other	banks	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	0.25%	-	0.5%)	 –	 –	 66	 –	 –
	 Gross	amount	of	loans	and	advances	to	customers	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	10%)	 –	 –	 –	 168	 –
	 Other	assets	 –	 –	 10	 –	 –
	 Due	to	other	banks	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	8.9%)	 –	 –	 4,029	 –	 –
	 Customer	accounts	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	3%-14%)	 –	 –	 –	 36	 204
	 Other	borrowed	funds	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	7.50%-	9.47%)	 51,172	 39,366	 –	 –	 3,253
	 Other	liabilities	 106	 –	 –	 –	 –
	 Subordinated	debt	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	9.69	%	-10%)	 10,801	 –	 –	 –	 –

	  Parent Other Entities Key  Other
	  company significant under common management related	
	   shareholders control personnel parties	
	 Interest	income	 –	 –	 1	 13	 –
	 Interest	expense	 3,828	 2,735	 29	 5	 13
	 Fee	and	commission	expense	 –	 54	 –	 –	 –
	 Administrative	and	other	operating	expenses		 155	 –	 222	 –	 –
	 –	including	management	services	 –	 –	 –	 –	 1,561

	  Parent Other Entities Key  Other
	  company significant under common management related	
	   shareholders control personnel parties	
	 Amounts	lent	to	related	parties	during	the	period	 –	 –	 –	 183	 –
	 Amounts	repaid	by	related	parties	during	the	period	 –	 –	 –	 173	 –

	  Parent Other Entities Key  Other
	  company significant under common management related	
	   shareholders control personnel parties	
	 Correspondent	accounts	with	other	banks	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	0.25%	-	0.5%)	 –	 –	 109	 –	 –
	 Gross	amount	of	loans	and	advances	to	customers	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	10%)	 –	 –	 –	 129	 -
	 Other	assets	 –	 365	 –	 –	 –
	 Prepayments	for	software	development	 –	 –	 –	 –	 202
	 Customer	accounts	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	0%	–	14.25%)	 –	 –	 	 126	 108
	 Other	borrowed	funds	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	7.9%	-	9.63%)	 26,477	 16,696	 –	 –	 7,195
	 Subordinated	debt	
	 (contractual	interest	rate:	9.69%	-	10	%)	 10,802	 –	 –	 –	 –

The	 income	 and	 expense	 items	 with	 related	 parties	 for	 the	 year	
2007	were	as	follows:

Aggregate	 amounts	 lent	 to	 and	 repaid	 by	 related	 parties	 during	
2007	were:

At	31	December	2006,	the	outstanding	balances	with	related	par-
ties	were	as	follows:
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	  Parent Other Entities Key  Other
	  company significant under common management related	
	   shareholders control personnel parties	
	 Interest	income	 –	 –	 –	 7	 –
	 Interest	expense	 2,344	 1,994	 17	 4	 482
	 Fee	and	commission	expense	 –	 13	 2	 –	 –
	 Administrative	and	other	operating	expenses	 35	 –	 75	 –	 1,424
		 –	including	management	services	 –	 –	 –	 –	 1,398

	  Parent Other Entities Key  Other
	  company significant under common management related	
	   shareholders control personnel parties	
	 Amounts	lent	to	related	parties	during	the	period	 –	 –	 –	 149	 –
	 Amounts	repaid	by	related	parties	during	the	period	 –	 –	 –	 30	 –

Exchange	rate	as	of	December	31,	2007:	1	USD	=	5.0500	UAH

The	 income	 and	 expense	 items	 with	 related	 parties	 for	 the	 year	
2006	were	as	follows:

Aggregate	 amounts	 lent	 to	 and	 repaid	 by	 related	 parties	 during	
2006	were:

In	2007,	the	remuneration	of	members	of	key	management	person-
nel	comprised	salaries,	discretionary	bonuses	and	other	short-term	
bonuses	 totalling	USD	678	thousand	 (2006:	USD	546	thousand),	
including	social	insurance	and	pension	contributions	in	the	amount	
of	USD	101	thousand	(2006:	USD	58	thousand).	

33 Subsequent Events

On	23	January,	2008	the	Bank	has	signed	a	new		loan	agreement	
with	Black	Sea	Trade	and	Development	Bank		for	USD	10,000	thou-
sand	at	LIBOR6m	+2.6%.	The	funds	have	been	received	on	13	Feb-
ruary	2008.
On	12	December,	2007	the	Bank	has	signed	a	new	loan	agreement	
with	Kreditanstalt	fuer	Wiederaufbau	for	USD	20,000	thousand	at	
LIBOR1m	+	2.75%.	The	first	tranche	in	the	amount	of	USD	10,000	
thousand	has	been	received	on	14	March	2008.
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Kyiv	03115
Tel.:	(044)	590	10	00
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Fax:	(044)	585	85	37	
cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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120	Saksahanskoho	St.,	
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Tel.:	(044)	585	86	53	
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Dnipropetrovsk	49081
Tel.:	(0562)	349	222
Fax:	(0562)	349	222
cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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121	K.	Marksa	St.,	
Dnipropetrovsk	49038
Tel.:	(056)	377	92	62	
Fax:	(056)	377	92	63	
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Donetsk 1
34	Chervonoarmiyska	St.,
Donetsk	83086
Tel.:	(062)	345	32	00
Fax:	(062)	345	32	06
cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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23	Pushkina	St.,
Donetsk	83055
Tel.:	(062)	348	36	00
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cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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138	Petrovskogo	St.,
Donetsk	83117
Tel.:	(062)	334	56	33
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cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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Tel.:	(062)	349	33	41
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cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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Donetsk	83018
Tel.:	(062)	348	85	56
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cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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Fax:	(0624)	52	19	28
cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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11	Sichovyh	Striltsiv	St.,
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Tel.:	(0342)	55	70	00
Fax:	(0342)	55	70	13
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kharkiv 1
37	Petrovskogo	St.,
Kharkiv	61024
Tel.:	(057)	719	27	91
Fax:	(057)	719	27	93
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kharkiv 2
2/15	K.	Marksa	St.,
Kharkiv	61052
Tel.:	(057)	703	94	28
Fax:	(057)	703	94	39
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kharkiv 3
35	Moskovsky	Ave.,
Kharkiv	61003
Tel.:	(057)	717	67	77
Fax:	(057)	717	61	44
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kharkiv 4
32/20,	23	Serpnya	St.,
Kharkiv	61072
Tel.:	(057)	703	49	50
Fax:	(057)	703	49	53
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kharkiv 5
24	Geroyiv	Pratsi	St.,
Kharkiv	61146
Tel.:	(057)	703	61	05
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cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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Donetsk 4
67	Shevchenko	Ave.,
Donetsk	83017
Tel.:	(062)	349	33	41
Fax:	(062)	349	33	38
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Donetsk 5
282	Artema	St.,
Donetsk	83018
Tel.:	(062)	348	85	56
Fax:	(062)	348	84	96
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Gorlivka
70	Peremogy	Ave.,
Gorlivka	84626
Tel.:	(0624)	52	18	18,	52	19	19
Fax:	(0624)	52	19	28
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Ivano-Frankivsk
11	Sichovyh	Striltsiv	St.,
Ivano-Frankivsk	76000
Tel.:	(0342)	55	70	00
Fax:	(0342)	55	70	13
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kharkiv 1
37	Petrovskogo	St.,
Kharkiv	61024
Tel.:	(057)	719	27	91
Fax:	(057)	719	27	93
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kharkiv 2
2/15	K.	Marksa	St.,
Kharkiv	61052
Tel.:	(057)	703	94	28
Fax:	(057)	703	94	39
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kharkiv 3
35	Moskovsky	Ave.,
Kharkiv	61003
Tel.:	(057)	717	67	77
Fax:	(057)	717	61	44
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kharkiv 4
32/20,	23	Serpnya	St.,
Kharkiv	61072
Tel.:	(057)	703	49	50
Fax:	(057)	703	49	53
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kharkiv 5
24	Geroyiv	Pratsi	St.,
Kharkiv	61146
Tel.:	(057)	703	61	05
Fax:	(057)703	60	88
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Contact Addresses

Kharkiv 6
26	Zahorodny	Vyizd,
Kharkiv	61054	
Tel.:	(057)	766	19	20	
Fax:	(057)	312	06	96
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kolomiya
2	Stusa	St.,
Kolomiya	78200
Tel.:	(03433)	4	78	15
Fax:	(03433)	4	78	27
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kramatorsk 1
38	Sotsialistychna	St.,
Kramatorsk	84313
Tel.:	(0626)	41	47	64,	41	47	87
Fax:	(0626)	41	47	64,	41	47	87
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kramatorsk 2
54	Sotsialistychna	St.,
Kramatorsk	84300
Tel./Fax:	N/A
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kremenchuk
31	Lenina	St.,
Kremenchuk	39600
Tel.:	(0536)	760	750
Fax:	(0536)	760	752
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Kryvyi Rih
22A	Metalurgiv	Ave.,
Kryvyi	Rih	50006
Tel.:	(056)	440	44	10
Fax:	(056)	440	44	13
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Lviv 1
33	Gorodotska	St.,
Lviv	79007
Tel.:	(032)	298	73	45
Fax:	(032)	298	73	45
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Lviv 2
3	O.	Basarab	St.,
Lviv	79017
Tel.:	(032)	297	72	55
Fax:	(032)	298	78	20
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Lviv 3
5	Mitskevycha	Sq.,
Lviv	79000
Tel.:	(032)	244	44	57
Fax:	(032)	244	44	60
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Lviv 4
51	Volodymyra	Velykogo	St.,
Lviv	79053
Tel.:	(032)	245	82	00
Fax:	(032)	245	82	01
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Lviv 5
39	Ivana	Franka	St.,	
Lviv	79005	
Tel.:	(032)	244	56	27	
Fax:	(032)	244	56	58	
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Makiyivka
49/17	Lenina	St.,
Makiyivka	86157
Tel.:	(0623)	22	07	64
Fax:	(0623)	22	07	67
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Melitopol 
24/1	B.	Khmelnitskoho	Ave.,	
Melitopol	72312
Tel.:	(0619)	44	08	58	
Fax:	(0619)	44	08	56	
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Mariupol 1
77	Metalurgiv	Ave.,
Mariupol	87539
Tel.:	(0629)	41	28	04
Fax:	(0629)	41	28	05
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Mariupol 2 
98	Peremohy	Ave.,	
Mariupol	87526
Tel.:	(0629)	54	19	87
Fax:	(0629)	54	19	96
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Odesa 1
121	V.	Arnautska	St.,
Odesa	65007
Tel.:	(048)	786	0721
Fax:	(048)	786	0	728
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Odesa 2
33	Bunina	St.,
Odesa	65045
Tel.:	(048)	786	07	74
Fax:	(0482)	32	92	44
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Odesa 3
33	Koroleva	St.,
Odesa	65113
Tel.:	(048)	784	16	95
Fax:	(048)	719	50	73
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Odesa 4
98	Dnipropetrovska	Doroha	
Odesa	65117	
Tel.:	(048)	779	55	70
Fax:	(048)	779	55	62
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Poltava 1
19/10	Kotlyarevskogo	St.,
Poltava	36000
Tel.:	(0532)	503	696
Fax:	(0532)	506	203
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Poltava 2
13	23	Sentyabrya	St.,
Poltava	36023
Tel.:	(0532)	579	700
Fax:	(0532)	579	711
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Sevastopol
27	Velyka	Morska	St.,
Sevastopol	99011
Tel.:	(0692)	53	90	00
Fax:	(0692)	53	90	01
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Severodonetsk
39	Lenina	St.,
Severodonetsk	93404
Tel.:	(06452)	5	55	97
Fax:	(	06452)	5	55	97
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Simferopol
1	Lenina	St.,
Simferopol	95000
Tel.:	(0652)	54	71	77
Fax:	(0652)	54	71	77
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Slovyansk
80	Yunyh	Komunariv,
Slovyansk	84122
Tel.:	(06262)	3	41	74
Fax:	(06262)	2	62	11
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Sumy
6	Kirova	St.,
Sumy	40030
Tel.:	(0542)	21	44	50
Fax:	(0542)	21	44	59
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Uzhgorod
67a	Shvabska	St.,	
Uzhgorod	88000
Tel.:	(0312)	67	22	76
Fax:	(0312)	67	15	59
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Zaporizhzhya 1
62	Lenina	Ave.,	
Zaporizhzhya	69063
Tel.:	(061)	220	41	81
Fax:	(061)	220	41	91
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Zaporizhzhya 2
190	Lenina	Ave.,	
Zaporizhzhya	69035
Tel.:	(061)	220	60	71
Fax:	(061)	220	95	57
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Vinnytza
7	Pyrogova	St.,		
Vinnytza	21018
Tel.:	(0432)	55	19	85
Fax:	(0432)	55	19	86
cs@procreditbank.com.ua

Yalta
1/6	Moskovska	St.,	
Yalta	98600
Tel.:	(0654)	23	16	42
Fax:	(0654)	23	15	73
cs@procreditbank.com.ua
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